

## University of Tennessee, Knoxville TRACE: Tennessee Research and Creative Exchange

**Doctoral Dissertations** 

**Graduate School** 

12-2016

# Design, Control and Protection of Modular Multilevel Converter (MMC)-Based Multi-Terminal HVDC System

Yalong Li University of Tennessee, Knoxville, yli81@vols.utk.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://trace.tennessee.edu/utk\_graddiss

Part of the Power and Energy Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Li, Yalong, "Design, Control and Protection of Modular Multilevel Converter (MMC)-Based Multi-Terminal HVDC System. " PhD diss., University of Tennessee, 2016. https://trace.tennessee.edu/utk\_graddiss/4145

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at TRACE: Tennessee Research and Creative Exchange. It has been accepted for inclusion in Doctoral Dissertations by an authorized administrator of TRACE: Tennessee Research and Creative Exchange. For more information, please contact trace@utk.edu.

To the Graduate Council:

I am submitting herewith a dissertation written by Yalong Li entitled "Design, Control and Protection of Modular Multilevel Converter (MMC)-Based Multi-Terminal HVDC System." I have examined the final electronic copy of this dissertation for form and content and recommend that it be accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy, with a major in Electrical Engineering.

Fred Wang, Major Professor

We have read this dissertation and recommend its acceptance:

Leon M. Tolbert, Daniel Costinett, James Ostrowski

Accepted for the Council:

Carolyn R. Hodges

Vice Provost and Dean of the Graduate School

(Original signatures are on file with official student records.)

# Design, Control and Protection of Modular Multilevel Converter (MMC)-Based Multi-Terminal HVDC System

A Dissertation Presented for the

**Doctor of Philosophy** 

Degree

The University of Tennessee, Knoxville

Yalong Li

December 2016

## Acknowledgements

I would like to thank first and foremost to my supervisor Dr. Fred Wang, for his kind guidance, support and encouragement throughout my Ph.D. studies. During the past five years, his profound knowledge, rigorous attitude and brilliant ideas help me a lot on my research work. He taught me how to think independently and do a solid research. He is also willing to share with me his career stories, which is beneficial to my personal life and future career development.

I would also like to thank Dr. Leon M. Tolbert for his suggestions and guidance on my research. I have attended several of his courses, which helps me to build a broad view in power electronics area. He also gives me a lot help on reviewing my publications and presentations.

Special thanks to Dr. Daniel Costinett and Dr. James Ostrowski for serving as my Ph.D. committee members and giving me valuable suggestions on my dissertation.

I would like to thank Dr. Xiaojie Shi, Mr. Bo Liu, Mr. Edward Jones, Mr. Shuoting Zhang, Dr. Wanjun Lei, and Dr. Jin Liu for their help on the research projects. I would also like to thank all my colleagues in the power electronics lab in the University of Tennessee, Knoxville, including but not limited to, Dr. Dong Jiang, Dr. Shengnan Li, Dr. Jingxin Wang, Dr. Lijun Hang, Dr. Jing Xue, Dr. Zhuxian Xu, Dr. Fan Xu, Dr. Bailu Xiao, Dr. Lakshmi Reddy, Dr. Jing Wang, Dr. Yutian Cui, Dr. Ben Guo, Dr. Weimin Zhang, Dr. Zheyu Zhang, Dr. Liu Yang, Dr. Zhiqiang Wang, Mr. Wenchao Cao, Mr. Yiwei Ma, Mr. Bo Liu, Ms. Yang Xue, Mr. Brad Trento, Dr. Wanjun Lei, Mr. Siyao Jiang, Dr. Jie Guo, Dr. Ke Shen, Dr. Jun Mei, Dr. Sheng Zheng, Dr. Xiaonan Lu, Dr. Haifeng Lu, Mr. Chongwen Zhao, Ms. Ling Jiang, Mr Fei Yang, Ms. Lu Wang, Mr. Ren Ren, Dr. Zhibin Lin, Ms. Shuyao Wang, Mr. Geoff Laughon, Ms. Jessica Boles, Mr. Mark Nakmali, Mr. Wen Zhang, Mr. Ruirui Chen, Dr. Shiqi Ji, Ms. Jingyi Tang, Mr. Jiahao Niu,

Mr. Jacob Dyer, Mr. Craig Timms, and Mr. Zhe Yang.

I would like to thank the power electronics lab manager Mr. Robert B. Martin, who helps me a lot on ordering and mechanical design. I would also like to thank other staff members in the department. They are Mr. Chris Anderson, Mr. Erin Wills, Mr. Adam Hardebeck, Ms. Judy Evans and Ms. Dana Bryson.

Finally, but most importantly, I would like to thank my parents. Their endless love and encourage are the strongest support during my study and life. Special thanks to my wife Feifei Guo and my lovely child Charles. You are my greatest motivation to overcome difficulties in my research and finish the degree.

This dissertation was supported primarily by the Engineering Research Center Program of the National Science Foundation and Department of Energy under NSF Award Number EEC-1041877 and the CURENT Industry Partnership Program.

## Abstract

Even though today's transmission grids are predominantly based on the high voltage alternating current (HVAC) scheme, interests on high voltage direct current (HVDC) are growing rapidly during the past decade, due to the increased penetration of remote renewable energy. Voltage source converter (VSC) type is preferred over the traditional line-commutated converter (LCC) for this application, due to the advantages like smaller station footprint and no need for strong interfacing ac grid. As the state-of-the-art VSC topology, modular multilevel converter (MMC) is mostly considered. Most renewable energy sources, such as wind and solar, is usually sparsely located. Multi-terminal HVDC (MTDC) provides better use of transmission infrastructure, higher transmission flexibility and reliability, than building multiple point-to-point HVDCs. This dissertation studies the MMC-based MTDC system, including design, control and protection.

Passive components design methodology in MMC is developed, with practical consideration. The developed arm inductance selection criterion considers the implementation of circulating current suppression control. And the unbalanced voltage among submodule capacitor is taken into account for submodule capacitance design.

Circulating current suppression control is found to impact the MMC operating range. The maximum modulation index reduction is calculated utilizing a decoupled MMC model.

A four-terminal HVDC testbed is developed, with similar control and communication architectures of the practical projects implemented. Several most typical operation scenarios and controls are demonstrated or proposed.

In order to allow HVDC disconnects to online trip a line, dc line current control is proposed

through station control. Utilizing the dc line current control, an automatic dc line current limiting control is proposed. Both controls have been verified in the developed testbed.

A systematic dc fault protection strategy of MTDC utilizing hybrid dc circuit breaker is developed, including a new fast and selective fault detection method taking advantage of the hybrid dc circuit breaker special operation mechanism. Detailed criteria and control methods to assist system recovery are presented.

A novel fault tolerant MMC topology is proposed with a hybrid submodule by adding an ultra-fast mechanical switch. The converter power loss can be almost the same as the half-bridge MMC, and 1/3 reduction compared to the similar clamp-double topology.

# **Table of Contents**

1	Introduction1
	1.1 Background and Motivation1
	1.2 Dissertation Organization
2	Literature Review and Challenges7
	2.1 MMC Passives Design
	2.1.1 Arm Inductor
	2.1.2 Submodule Capacitor
	2.2 MTDC Projects and Testbeds 10
	2.3 MTDC DC Fault Protection
	2.4 Fault Tolerant Converter Topology14
	2.5 Research Objectives
3	MMC Arm Inductance Design 17
	3.1 MMC Operating Principle
	3.2 Circulating Current Suppression Control
	3.3 Switching Frequency Circulating Current
	3.4 Experimental Verification
	3.5 Conclusion
4	MMC Submodule Capacitance Design 33
	4.1 Voltage-Balancing Control
	4.2 Unbalanced Voltage Derivation
	4.2.1 Arm Voltage Error
	4.2.2 Effect of Voltage-Balancing Control on Arm Voltage Error Compensation 37
	4.3 Submodule Capacitance Design Consideration

	4.3.1 Boundary Criteria	39
	4.3.2 Unbalanced Voltage Choose	
	4.4 Simulation Verification	
	4.5 Experimental Verification	50
	4.6 Conclusion	55
5	MMC Maximum Modulation Index Reduction Due to Circulatin	g Current
	Suppression Control	57
	5.1 MMC Model	58
	5.2 Steady State Calculation	60
	5.3 Maximum Modulation Index Derivation	63
	5.3.1 Without 3 <sup>rd</sup> Harmonic Injection	64
	5.3.2 With 3 <sup>rd</sup> Harmonic Injection	65
	5.4 Simulation Verification	66
	5.5 Experimental Verification	
	5.5.1 Without 3 <sup>rd</sup> Harmonic Injection	70
	5.5.2 With 3 <sup>rd</sup> Harmonic Injection	72
	5.6 Conclusion	74
6	Four-Terminal HVDC Testbed	75
	6.1 System Structure and Testbed Parameters	75
	6.2 Control and Communication	79
	6.3 Operation Scenario Emulation	
	6.4 Conclusion	
7	DC Line Current Control in MTDC	
	7.1 DC Line Disconnection and Reconnection	
	7.2 Proposed DC Line Current Control	

	7.3	Proposed DC Line Current Limiting Function	97
	7.4	Conclusion	98
8	МЛ	TDC DC Fault Protection	99
	8.1	Hybrid DC Circuit Breaker	99
	8.2	Fault Detection	100
	8.3	Recovery Strategy	107
		8.3.1 Temporarily Blocking HVDC Converters	107
		8.3.2 Restart HVDC Converters	112
	8.4	Experimental Verification	115
		8.4.1 Solid State Circuit Breaker Development	115
		8.4.2 DC Circuit Modification in MTDC Testbed for DC Fault Test	120
		8.4.3 Fault Detection Test	123
		8.4.4 Fault Test without Blocking HVDC Converters	126
		8.4.5 Recovery Strategy Test	140
	8.5	Conclusions	144
9	AN	New DC Fault Tolerant MMC Topology	146
	9.1	Proposed Topology	146
	9.2	Ultra-Fast Mechanical Switch	148
	9.3	Interrupting Circuit Operation	152
	9.4	Worst-Case Fault Current	155
	9.5	Simulation Verification	161
	9.6	Topology Comparison with Clamp-Double Submodule	163
		9.6.1 Fault Clearance Performance Comparison	163
		9.6.2 Loss Comparison	164
		9.6.3 Cost Comparison	167

	9.7 Conclusions	
10	Conclusion and Future Work	169
	10.1 Conclusion	169
	10.2 Recommended Future Work	171
Ref	ferences	174
Vit	ta	

# List of Tables

Table 1. MTDC projects list 11
Table 2. DC fault protection methods comparison
Table 3. Experimental parameters of the MMC prototype 26
Table 4. System parameters 47
Table 5. Parameters of the hypothetical system
Table 6. Parameters of the MTDC testbed
Table 7. DC cable parameters 103
Table 8. Detection time of different dc fault scenarios on cable 1 107
Table 9. Components of the solid state circuit breaker
Table 10. DC fault test capability of the updated MTDC testbed
Table 11. Stages of fault current interruption for TD switch circuit
Table 12. System parameters of the simulation platform and INELFE project
Table 13. Converter Loss Comparison 166
Table 14. Converter Main Component Comparison 168

# List of Figures

Figure 1-1. Basic structure of MMC with half-bridge submodule
Figure 3-1. Single-phase equivalent circuit of the MMC
Figure 3-2. Voltage generation of PWM sub-modules
Figure 3-3. Phase-leg voltage and circulating current in a switching period
Figure 3-4. System configuration of the experimental setup of the MMC prototype
Figure 3-5. Experimental results at $Larm = 1$ mH with circulating current suppressing control
disabled
Figure 3-6. Experimental results at $Larm = 1$ mH with circulating current suppressing control
enabled
Figure 3-7. Experimental results at $Larm = 0.1$ mH with circulating current suppressing control
enabled
Figure 3-8. Experimental results at $Larm = 0.1$ mH with circulating current suppressing control
enabled
Figure 3-9. Maximum switching frequency circulating current versus arm inductance
Figure 3-10. Experimental results at $Larm = 0.015$ mH with circulating current suppressing
control enabled
Figure 3-11. Experimental results at $Larm = 0.015$ mH with circulating current suppressing
control enabled and a 1 mH dc inductor
Figure 4-1. Modified sorting algorithm [34]

Figure 4-2. Simulation waveforms of submodule capacitor voltages at different switching
frequency
Figure 4-3. Harmonic comparison in simulation with 32 submodules per arm
Figure 4-4. Harmonic comparison in simulation with 64 submodules per arm
Figure 4-5. Harmonic comparison in simulation with 32 submodules per arm for higher Vth 44
Figure 4-6. Simulated relationship between the switching frequency and unbalanced capacitor
voltage
Figure 4-7. Waveform of compensated arm voltage
Figure 4-8. Simulated relationship between the threshold voltage and switching frequency at
different operating conditions: (a) $P = 40 \text{ MW}$ , $Q = 40 \text{ Mvar}$ ; (b) $P = 40 \text{ MW}$ , $Q = -40 \text{ Mvar}$ ; (c)
P = -40  MW, Q = 40  Mvar; (d) P = -40  MW, Q = -40  Mvar
Figure 4-9. Experimental waveforms with threshold voltage of 1 V
Figure 4-10. Experimental waveforms with threshold voltage of 9 V
Figure 4-11. Circulating current waveform comparison
Figure 4-12. Experimental waveforms with threshold voltage of 9 V
Figure 4-13. Experimental waveforms with threshold voltage of 9 V
Figure 4-14. Time delay explanation
Figure 4-15. Experimental result of the relationship between the switching frequency and
unbalanced capacitor voltage
Figure 5-1. Steady state simulation results of the defined MMC system

Figure 5-2. Lower arm modulation signal components
Figure 5-3. Lower arm modulation signal components with 3 <sup>rd</sup> harmonic injection
Figure 5-4. Lower arm modulation signal under different modulation indices
Figure 5-5. Lower arm modulation signal under different modulation indices with 3 <sup>rd</sup> harmonic
injection
Figure 5-6. Experimental results without $3^{rd}$ harmonic component injection when $Iac = 7.8 \text{ A} 71$
Figure 5-7. Experimental results without $3^{rd}$ harmonic component injection when $Iac = 8 A71$
Figure 5-8. Lower arm modulation signal component comparison for cases when $Iac = 7.8 \text{ A}$
and $Iac = 8 \text{ A}$
Figure 5-9. Experimental results with $3^{rd}$ harmonic component injection when $Iac = 8.8 \text{ A} \dots 73$
Figure 5-10. Experimental results with $3^{rd}$ harmonic component injection when $Iac = 9$ A 73
Figure 5-11. Lower arm modulation signal component comparison for cases when $Iac = 8.8 \text{ A}$
and $Iac = 9 \text{ A}$
Figure 6-1. Circuit diagram of the proposed 4-terminal HVDC system
Figure 6-2. Proposed hypothetic system corresponding to Cape Wind Project in NPCC system.76
Figure 6-3. Photograph of the testbed77
Figure 6-4. Circuit diagram and control schemes of the downscaled power station
Figure 6-5. $V_{dc}$ - $P$ characteristic curve for voltage margin control
Figure 6-6. $V_{dc}$ - $P$ characteristic curve for voltage droop control
Figure 6-7. Communication architecture of the MTDC testbed

Figure 6-8. Waveform of system start-up.	83
Figure 6-9. Waveform of station re-commission with method I.	85
Figure 6-10. Waveform of station re-commission with method II.	86
Figure 6-11. Waveform of station power variation with margin control	87
Figure 6-12. Waveform of station power variation with droop control	87
Figure 6-13. Control block diagrams of $V_{dc}/Q$ and $P/Q$ modes	88
Figure 6-14. Waveform of station online mode transition	89
Figure 6-15. Waveform of VSC 3 failure with voltage margin control	91
Figure 6-16. Waveform of VSC 3 failure with voltage droop control	91
Figure 7-1. Waveform of dc line disconnection and reconnection	94
Figure 7-2. DC line current control principle.	96
Figure 7-3. Waveform of dc line current control	96
Figure 7-4. Implementation of dc line current limiting scheme.	97
Figure 7-5. Waveform of dc line current limiting function test	98
Figure 8-1. Configuration of the ABB hybrid dc circuit breaker.	100
Figure 8-2. Required measurement for the proposed detection method	103
Figure 8-3. Structure of the 4-terminal HVDC system in simulation	103
Figure 8-4. DC cable 2-section $\pi$ model	104
Figure 8-5. Limiting inductor voltage for pole-to-pole fault at the middle point of cable 1	105

Figure 8-6. Differential current for pole-to-pole fault at the middle point of cable 1 105
Figure 8-7. Limiting inductor voltage for pole-to-pole fault at cable 1 end close to VSC 3 106
Figure 8-8. Differential current for pole-to-pole fault at cable 1 end close to VSC 3 106
Figure 8-9. DC voltages of pole-to-pole fault at the middle point of cable 1 109
Figure 8-10. AC currents of pole-to-pole fault at the middle point of cable 1 109
Figure 8-11. DC voltages during fault for system with larger dc-link capacitor
Figure 8-12. AC currents during fault for system with larger dc-link capacitor
Figure 8-13. DC voltages during fault if the converters are blocked
Figure 8-14. AC currents during fault if the converters are blocked
Figure 8-15. DC voltages during the restart process
Figure 8-16. AC currents during the restart process
Figure 8-17. DC voltages during the restart process with voltage margin control
Figure 8-18. AC currents during the restart process with voltage margin control
Figure 8-19. Circuit diagram of the solid state circuit breaker
Figure 8-20. Photo of the developed solid state circuit breaker
Figure 8-21. Experimental setup for solid state circuit breaker test
Figure 8-22. Test result with zero time delay of mechanical switch emulation
Figure 8-23. 100 A current breaking capability test
Figure 8-24. System structure with circuit breakers installed

Figure 8-25. DC circuit in the original testbed
Figure 8-26. Required dc circuit for dc fault test in the testbed
Figure 8-27. Pole-to-ground fault test at cable 1 middle point with 3 $\Omega$ fault resistance 123
Figure 8-28. Zoomed-in waveform of Figure 8-27 124
Figure 8-29. Pole-to-ground fault test at cable 1 port near VSC 3 with 3 $\Omega$ fault resistance 125
Figure 8-30. Pole-to-ground fault test at cable 1 middle point with 6 $\Omega$ fault resistance 125
Figure 8-31. Pole-to-ground fault test at cable 1 port near VSC 3 with 6 $\Omega$ fault resistance 126
Figure 8-32. Pole-to-pole fault at cable 1 port near VSC 3 (1 $\Omega$ fault resistance, 4 ms circuit
breaker delay time, zero converter normal current)
Figure 8-33. Pole-to-pole fault at cable 1 port near VSC 3 (1 $\Omega$ fault resistance, 0.5 ms delay
time, zero converter normal current)
Figure 8-34. Pole-to-ground fault at cable 1 port near VSC 3 (0.5 $\Omega$ fault resistance, 4 ms delay
time, zero converter normal current)
Figure 8-35. Pole-to-ground fault at cable 1 port near VSC 3 (0.5 $\Omega$ fault resistance, 0.5 ms delay
time, zero converter normal current)
Figure 8-36. Test Results of different delay times for pole-to-pole fault at cable 1 port near VSC
3 (1 $\Omega$ fault resistance, zero converter normal current)
Figure 8-37. Test Results of different delay times for pole-to-pole fault at cable 1 middle point (1
$\Omega$ fault resistance, zero converter normal current)
Figure 8-38. Test Results of different delay times for pole-to-ground fault at cable 1 port near

VSC 3 (0.5 $\Omega$ fault resistance, zero converter normal current)
Figure 8-39. Test Results of different delay times for pole-to-ground fault at cable 1 middle point
$(0.5 \Omega \text{ fault resistance, zero converter normal current}).$ 132
Figure 8-40. Simulation results of pole-to-pole fault at cable 1 port near VSC 3 (1 $\Omega$ fault
resistance, 4 ms circuit breaker delay time, zero converter normal current)
Figure 8-41. Simulation results of different delay times for pole-to-pole fault at cable 1 port near
VSC 3 (1 $\Omega$ fault resistance, zero converter normal current)
Figure 8-42. Simulation results of different delay times for pole-to-pole fault at cable 1 port near
VSC 3 (0 $\Omega$ fault resistance, zero converter normal current)
Figure 8-43. Simulation results of different delay times for pole-to-pole fault at cable 1 port near
VSC 3 (0 $\Omega$ fault resistance, zero converter normal current, half the dc capacitance)
Figure 8-44. Simulation results of different delay times for pole-to-pole fault at cable 1 port near
VSC 3 (0 $\Omega$ fault resistance, zero converter normal current, 0 $\Omega$ ac resistance)
Figure 8-45. Pole-to-pole fault at cable 1 port near VSC 3 with 0.4 p.u. current limitation (1 $\Omega$
fault resistance, 2 ms delay time, zero converter normal current)
Figure 8-46. Pole-to-pole fault at cable 1 port near VSC 3 with 0.8 p.u. current limitation (1 $\Omega$
fault resistance, 2 ms delay time, zero converter normal current)
Figure 8-47. Pole-to-pole fault at cable 1 port near VSC 3 with 1.2 p.u. current limitation (1 $\Omega$
fault resistance, 2 ms delay time, zero converter normal current)
Figure 8-48. Pole-to-pole fault at cable 1 port near VSC 3 (1 $\Omega$ fault resistance, 4.5 ms delay

time, VSC 3 power flow from dc to ac)
Figure 8-49. Pole-to-pole fault at cable 1 port near VSC 3 (1 $\Omega$ fault resistance, 4.5 ms delay
time, VSC 3 power flow from ac to dc)
Figure 8-50. Pole-to-pole fault at cable 1 port near VSC 3 (1 $\Omega$ fault resistance, 4.5 ms delay
time, VSC 3 power flow from ac to dc)
Figure 8-51. Pole-to-pole fault at cable 1 middle point (1 $\Omega$ fault resistance, 4.5 ms delay time,
VSC 3 power flow from dc to ac)
Figure 8-52. Pole-to-pole fault at cable 1 middle point (1 $\Omega$ fault resistance, 1 ms delay time,
VSC 3 power flow from ac to dc)
Figure 8-53. Pole-to-pole fault at cable 1 middle point (1 $\Omega$ fault resistance, 1.5 ms delay time,
VSC 3 power flow from ac to dc)
Figure 8-54. Pole-to-pole fault at cable 1 middle point (1 $\Omega$ fault resistance, 2 ms delay time,
VSC 3 power flow from ac to dc)
Figure 9-1. Proposed converter topology of MMC with hybrid submodule
Figure 9-2. Theoretical switching behavior of TD current commutation
Figure 9-3. Experimental results showing arc voltage and current during TD switch fault current
commutation [6]
Figure 9-4. Simulink model developed for TD mechanical switch
Figure 9-5. TD switch Simulink model current simulation results
Figure 9-6. TD switch Simulink model voltage simulation results

Figure 9-7. Proposed submodule circuit	53
Figure 9-8. Proposed submodule during normal operation 1	53
Figure 9-9. Proposed submodule current path during fault: (a) Case 1, (b) Case 2 1	53
Figure 9-10. Proposed submodule during normal operation 1	54
Figure 9-11. Equivalent circuit after fault occurs	56
Figure 9-12. Theoretical fault current waveforms 1	56
Figure 9-13. Current waveforms of the proposed converter during a dc pole-to-pole fault 1	61
Figure 9-14. Zoomed in Current waveforms of Figure 9-13 1	62
Figure 9-15. Current waveforms of the proposed converter during a dc pole-to-pole fault for	r a
longer mechanical switch delay time1	62
Figure 9-16. Circuit diagram of the clamp-double submodule1	63
Figure 9-17. Fault interruption waveform for MMC with clamp-double submodule	64
Figure 9-18. AC current waveforms comparison during pole-to-pole fault	65
Figure 9-19. Interrupting IGBT current waveforms comparison during pole-to-pole fault 1	65
Figure 9-20. Power Loss Comparison 1	67

## **1** Introduction

#### **1.1 Background and Motivation**

Modern transmission grids are predominantly based on high voltage alternating current (HVAC) scheme due to the superior performance and low cost of ac generators and transformers. However, high voltage direct current (HVDC) transmission scheme also has some distinct advantages [1], including:

- Lower cost for long distance bulk power transmission;
- Lower cost for cable transmission (subsea, offshore);
- Capability to exchange power between two asynchronous power systems, even two systems with different frequencies;
- AC system support capabilities, including power flow control, frequency and voltage support, oscillation damping, and fault current limiting;
- Better use of right-of-way;
- Environmental benefits, such as less corona and audible noise, etc.

On the other hand, HVDC lines are embedded in HVAC grids and require power electronics converters and other associated station equipment, including filters, communications and special transformers. The high cost of converter stations makes the HVDC a niche, albeit important technology in today's transmission grid. But recently driven by the increased penetration of remote renewable energy, such as offshore wind and solar in the deserts, interests on HVDC are growing rapidly during the past decade [2].

Power electronic converter is the key component of HVDC. There are mainly two types of HVDC converters, the traditional thyristor-based line-commutated converter (LCC) and more recent IGBT-based voltage source converter (VSC). The LCC is a relatively mature technology, and majority of the existing HVDC projects use this converter type. The advantages of LCC are high efficiency, high power handling capability, simple and low-cost. On the other hand, it needs a large station footprint due to the large filter need and requires a strong interfacing ac grid to avoid commutation failure. What's more, the dc voltage polarity has to be changed in order to reverse the power flow direction. VSC HVDC was developed when high voltage and high current IGBT and IGCT became commercially available in 1990s. IGBT and IGCT are full switching devices which can be both turned on and turned off by gate control signals. It has the advantages of smaller station footprint, easy and fast active power reversal, inherent dynamic reactive power support, and since there is no need to reverse the dc voltage polarity, low-cost cross-linked polyethylene (XLPE) cable system can be used instead of the mass impregnated (MI) cable [3]-[5]. Considering the remote renewable integration usually has one or more of the following features: 1) long transmission length, 2) weak or even no interfacing ac grid, and 3) high cost on the station footprint, VSC HVDC is a more suitable transmission system in this application. Despite the limited power handling capability compared to LCC HVDC, the maximum dc voltage and power rating of VSC HVDC system have reached ±320 kV and 1000 MW, and are still increasing.

The use of VSC for HVDC was first pioneered over 15 years ago. Traditional two-level converter and three-level neutral-point diode-clamped converter topologies were used originally. Recently, the modular multilevel converter (MMC) is proposed, as shown in Figure 1-1, and emerges as a better candidate due to the following advantages [6]-[8]:



Figure 1-1. Basic structure of MMC with half-bridge submodule.

- 1) No direct series of power switches;
- 2) Much reduced slope (di/dt) of the arm currents and thus reduced high frequency noise;
- 3) Lower switching frequency and as a result of lower power loss;
- 4) Less requirement on ac filters;
- 5) Distributed locations of capacitive energy storages;
- 6) Inherent redundancy for sub-module failure management.

Many of the benefits are brought up because of the multilevel structure. And the modular structure feature distinguishes MMC from other traditional multilevel converter, such as diodeclamped multilevel converter and flying capacitor multilevel converter, with the advantages of easy assembly and flexibility in converter design. Therefore, MMC has become the state-of-theart topology for HVDC, and is adopted for commercial products like Siemens "HVDC plus" and ABB "HVDC light".

Most existing HVDC are point-to-point and only limited multi-terminal HVDC (MTDC) projects were installed. But interests on MTDC system are growing, and even more complicated dc grids are proposed, such as the European supergrid [9] and pan Asia-Pacific supergrid [10]. The benefits of MTDC include better use of transmission infrastructure, higher transmission flexibility and reliability. An economic assessment between the point-to-point HVDC and VSC MTDC was conducted in [11]. It was concluded that there is no clear preference between these two options before 2020, due to the need of expensive dc circuit breaker for the multi-terminal system. However, the dc circuit breaker cost is expected to decrease in the future, as many manufacturers are involved in developing the new hybrid dc circuit breaker, like ABB and Alstom [12]-[13], which brings more opportunities for VSC MTDC.

MMC-based MTDC system is a promising solution for remote renewable integration. However, there are still some challenging hurdles for the development of MMC-based MTDC.

- MMC has bulky passive components arm inductor and submodule capacitor. The capacitor need is even 10 times larger than the 2-level converter. In order to minimize the converter size, it is critical to understand how to design these passive components.
- 2) Due to the complexity, most of the MTDC related research relies on simulation and only very limited testbeds and project installations exist. Many of the necessary operation and controls have not yet been demonstrated in experiments.
- DC fault protection remains an open question in MTDC, due to the extreme demands on the protecting device, detection method and system recovery strategy.

The objectives of this research are to investigate the design methodology of the main passives in MMC, develop a MTDC testbed with the capability to demonstrate various operation and controls, and develop better control and protection methods of the MMC-MTDC system.

#### **1.2 Dissertation Organization**

The chapters of this dissertation are organized as follows.

Chapter 2 reviews the research activities in the design methodology of arm inductance and submodule capacitance of MMC, existing MTDC testbed and the development status of dc fault protection strategy as well as the fault tolerant converter topology. Based on the review, the research challenges in these areas and the objectives of this dissertation are pointed out.

Chapter 3 develops the arm inductance selection criterion with the consideration of circulating current suppression control, by deriving the analytical relationship between arm inductance and switching frequency circulating current.

Chapter 4 investigates the relationship between submodule capacitance and capacitor unbalanced voltage. The derived relationship is important for the submodule capacitance selection.

Chapter 5 studies the impact of circulating current suppression control on maximum modulation index of MMC.

Chapter 6 presents the design and development of a four-terminal HVDC testbed. The test results of different operation scenarios are also presented.

Chapter 7 proposes a dc line current control in MTDC for partial power flow control. A dc line current limiting control is also proposed based on the dc line current control.

Chapter 8 develops a systematic dc fault protection strategy of MTDC utilizing hybrid dc circuit breaker. A new fast and selective fault detection method is proposed and detailed criteria and methods for system recovery are presented.

Chapter 9 proposes a novel fault tolerant MMC topology. The proposed topology uses a hybrid submodule including an ultra-fast mechanical switch. The operation principle, benefits and cost are evaluated.

Chapter 10 summarizes the work has been done so far and plans the work which will be done next.

### 2 Literature Review and Challenges

This chapter reviews the research activities in the corresponding areas of modular multilevel converter (MMC) and MMC based multi-terminal HVDC (MTDC) system. The research challenges and objectives are explained to identify the originality of the work.

#### 2.1 MMC Passives Design

#### 2.1.1 Arm Inductor

As shown in Figure 1-1, each submodule of MMC has a dc capacitor. The dc capacitor is expected to perform as a constant dc voltage source for normal operation, but low-frequency ripple exists due to ac current flowing through the capacitor. For modulation methods which assume a constant dc capacitor voltage, like the direct modulation in [1], the generated total submodule voltages in different phase-legs could be different, causing circulating current among the three phases.

Circulating current increases converter power loss and thus should be limited. Rohner *et al.* [15] showed that the dominant component of the circulating current is second-order harmonic. A relatively large arm inductor is required to suppress this low-frequency circulating current. In addition to circulating current suppression, the other main function of the arm inductor is to limit the fault current during a dc side short circuit fault. Therefore, the arm inductance selection principle is mainly determined by the requirement on circulating current suppression and dc short circuit fault current limitation. Tu *et al.* [16] developed the analytical relationship between the arm inductance and second-order circulating current with certain approximations. Ilves *et al.* [17] further improved the accuracy of the relationship with fewer approximations. Also much

effort has been made to understand the impact of the arm inductor on dc short circuit fault current through fault analysis in literature [18]-[19]. The fault current calculation is complex due to the diode rectification stage after detecting the fault and turning off the IGBTs. Zhang *et al.* [18] considered all the possible fault current paths and developed an engineering method to calculate the fault current for each path. Gao *et al.* [19] even observed that among all the possible fault current paths there is one occurs most of the time. So the arm inductance requirement for limiting fault current can be provided by the engineering method in [18], only considering the most potential fault current path. Typically, the arm inductances required by the two criteria are close. Practically, the arm inductance can be selected based on the circulating current suppression requirement, and if it is not enough to limit the fault current, ac side inductance can be increased to meet the requirement.

Several active methods (circulating current suppressing control) have been proposed to suppress the circulating current in MMC [20]-[22]. By implementing the control, the second-order circulating current is largely reduced. The arm inductance requirement based on circulating current suppression is reduced as well, and the design criterion in [16]-[17] is no longer valid. Therefore, the arm inductance should instead be selected based on the fault current requirement. However, the arm inductor is not the only inductor that can limit the dc fault current. The dc and ac side inductors can play the same role. Zhang *et al.* [18] pointed out that minimum fault current does not happen when there is only an arm inductor or ac inductor. Therefore, the arrangement of dc inductor, arm inductor and ac inductor should be reconsidered for a minimized cost target. Furthermore, if fault tolerant submodule like full-bridge is used, much smaller arm inductance is needed to limit the fault current. So it is worthwhile to understand the arm inductance

though it is much reduced.

#### 2.1.2 Submodule Capacitor

Submodule capacitor is a key component in MMC, and a driving factor on the converter size, weight and cost. The capacitor need of MMC is much higher than that of the 2-level converter, could be even 10 times higher. So it is important to select the minimized capacitor while satisfying all the criteria. Maximum voltage, voltage ripple and current ripple are three main design criteria for submodule capacitor in MMC [25]. Typically, the maximum voltage and voltage ripple are linked together, as the maximum voltage is the normal capacitor voltage plus voltage ripple. Tang *et al.* [25] demonstrated that the capacitance need by voltage ripple is usually larger than that by ripple current, which makes the voltage ripple the main design criteria for submodule capacitor.

Submodule capacitor voltage ripple is constituted by average ripple and local ripple. The average capacitor voltage ripple is caused by the flowing of arm current. It mainly includes the fundamental frequency component and second-order harmonic. The local ripple is the voltage difference among submodules in each arm. In this thesis, it is also named as "unbalanced voltage", which is defined as twice the maximum difference between a submodule capacitor voltage and the average capacitor voltage. Many references [26]-[29] have established the relationship between submodule capacitance and average capacitor voltage ripple, neglecting the unbalanced voltage. However, the unbalanced voltage is usually not small enough to be neglected [30].

The unbalanced voltage of MMC depends on the voltage-balancing control, which essentially manipulates the currents flowing into the different submodule capacitors to achieve

balanced voltages, by adjusting the inserting instant and duration for each submodule. An effective voltage-balancing control can result in a small unbalanced voltage, but at a cost of higher switching frequency, which directly influences the converter efficiency. So the design of submodule capacitance and converter switching frequency is interconnected. Hassanpoor *et al.* [31] developed the relationship between switching frequency and maximum unbalanced voltage through simulation. However, the simulation based relationship is only valid for one operating condition, and numerous simulations are needed to consider different operating conditions. Also, it lacks a theoretical insight on how these two impact each other.

#### 2.2 MTDC Projects and Testbeds

Even though VSC MTDC system has been proposed and researched for a long while, there are only limited commercial projects. Table 1 lists all the commercial MTDC projects including LCC based until early 2016. Only two more recent projects, Nan'ao and Zhoushan, are VSC based using the MMC topology. Little operation experience has been published, and many practical system control and protection issues still remain. Therefore, a number of scaled VSC MTDC testbeds were developed and reported in [40]-[43], with 4 or 5 terminals. Egea-Alvarez *et al.* [40] developed a 4-terminal testbed with radial connection. The TWENTIES project [41] built a 5-terminal mock-up with a ring connection among 3 terminals. Stoylen *et al.* from Norwegian University of Science and Technology [42] and Wang *et al.* from Cardiff University in UK [43] both built a 4-terminal testbed with star connection. The testbed is a valuable platform for control and protection development, and usually the technology pioneer for developing commercial projects.

Among the commercial projects and all the developed testbeds, the 5-terminal mock-up in

Project	Commissioning year	Location	Terminal No.	Topology
Italy–Corsica–Sardinia (SACOI) [36]	Phase I:1967 Phase II: 1988	Italy	3	LCC
Hydro-Quebec-New England [37]	Phase I:1986 Phase II: 1992	Canada, USA	5	LCC
Nan'ao [38]	2013	China	3	MMC
Zhoushan [39]	2014	China	5	MMC

Table 1. MTDC projects list

[41] is the only one with dc ring topology. All others are either with the simplest radial or star topology. However, ring topology could be most common for the future meshed dc grid. It is important to understand how the MTDC system with ring topology works.

#### 2.3 MTDC DC Fault Protection

DC fault protection is a main challenge for MTDC system. The state-of-the-art method is relying on ac side circuit breaker [44]-[45]. After detecting the fault, ac circuit breakers at all terminals are opened to cut off the fault current from interconnecting ac system, and then fast dc disconnects on the faulted line are used to isolate the fault. The shortcomings with this method are 1) large current stress on diodes because of the long ac circuit breaker opening time, and 2) long system recovery time due to the need to shut down and de-energize the whole dc system. The dc circuit breakers are considered in [46]-[48]. The dc mechanical circuit breaker is similar to the ac counterpart, but needs an extra resonant circuit branch to create current zero crossing.

The opening time is usually around  $15 \sim 30$  ms, which is a little bit faster than the ac circuit breaker. But the fault interruption current capability is limited, and maximum ratings have been realized are 250 kV, 8 kA or 500 kV, 4 kA [46]. Considering the fast rising rate of VSC HVDC system (e.g. 3.5 kA/ms in [12]) and still long opening time, the dc mechanical circuit breaker may not be suitable. Solid state dc circuit breaker has much better performance, which can be opened in  $\mu$ s, and capable to take large fault current [47]. But the drawbacks are large conduction loss and high cost. ABB proposed the hybrid dc circuit breaker, which normally conducts the current through a mechanical switch and is capable to quickly commutate the current to a solid state circuit breaker branch during a fault [12]. It barely has any operation loss like the mechanical switch, and still maintains a fast opening time (~2 ms) by utilizing ultra-fast mechanical switch. However, similar to a pure solid state breaker, the drawback is the high cost. Other alternative methods include using fault tolerant converters which will be discussed in subsection 2.4, and fast dc disconnects. The overall protection strategy is similar to that of utilizing ac circuit breaker. The difference is that fault tolerant converter can cut off the fault current injection from ac system much faster, which can reduce the system recovery time. However, the dc system still needs to be shut down and de-energized, and the cost is higher than ac circuit breaker. Table 2 summarizes the performance of these protection methods, as well as the availability of the protection devices.

The fault protection process has two stages: fault clearance and system recovery. The fault clearance period starts from the time a fault occurs to when the faulted line is cleared, including fault detection and protection device actuation. System recovery period is the rest time until the system is fully recovered. As shown in Table 2, the methods using ac circuit breaker and fault tolerant converter take longer time to clear the fault, due to the need to shut down and deenergize

Protection Method	Fault Clear Time	Recovery Time	DC System Shutdown	Availability
Mechanical DC Circuit Breaker (P-RCB)	~ 28 ms [47]	*	Yes	Yes (Limited current)
Mechanical DC Circuit Breaker (A-RCB)	~ 14 ms [47]	*	Yes	No
Hybrid DC Circuit Breaker	~ 9 ms [47]	~ 150 ms [48]	Not sure	Near Future
Solid State DC Circuit Breaker	~ 4 ms [47]	*	Not sure	No **
AC Circuit Breaker + High- Speed DC Mechanical Switch	~ 200 ms [44]	~ 150 ms [44]	Yes	Yes
Fault Tolerant Converter + High- Speed DC Mechanical Switch	~ 150 ms [49]	~ 100 ms [49]	Yes	Near Future

Table 2. DC fault protection methods comparison

\* No literature has provided the recovery time for this protection method

\*\* Solid state dc circuit breaker is usually not preferred due to the high operation loss

the dc system. The recovery process of these two methods is more like a full system restart. With hybrid dc circuit breaker, the system may not need to shut down since the fast fault clearance. The recovery process could also be different as the dc voltage will not drop to zero. These three options are the most practical methods nowadays. Other methods listed in Table 1 are less promising either because of protection devices commercial unavailability in near future or high cost.

Among the three viable protection methods, the one using hybrid dc circuit breaker is the fastest, which is investigated in this thesis. As shown in Table 2, the system recovery process takes most of the time. However, most related research work in literature focuses on fault clearance, and few of them study the system recovery. Chang *et al.* [48] observed the dc system overvoltage issue during the recovery process, and proposed a bump-less control to reduce the overvoltage. But no detailed criteria for converter restart are provided, and they do not address the converter restart sequence issue either.

#### 2.4 Fault Tolerant Converter Topology

As mentioned in subsection 2.3, fault tolerant converter is an alternative option for MTDC dc fault protection. The traditional MMC with half bridge submodule does not have any intrinsic fault current limiting or blocking capability. In case of a dc short circuit fault, the fault current can still flow from the ac side to the faulted dc side through the anti-paralleled diodes of the controllable power switches, even these switches are turned off.

Several converter topologies or solutions have been proposed to provide fault current blocking capability. They are mainly divided into two categories: MMC with different submodule topologies and hybrid converters. Full-bridge submodule is well known and can be used to block the fault current [66]. The drawback is double the number of semiconductor devices and increased conduction loss. Marquart [66] further proposed a "clamp-double" submodule which uses less semiconductor devices and has less loss compared to the full-bridge submodule. The shortcoming is the provided reverse voltage is half of that by the full-bridge submodule. Some other proposed topologies include cross-connected submodule in [67], unipolar-voltage full-bridge submodule and three-level cross-connected submodule in [68], and two new topologies in [69]. Qin *et al.* [68] compared most of the possible topologies, in which the "clamp-double" submodule has the lowest loss and minimum semiconductor devices. Full-bridge submodule on the other hand may cost most, but it has the best performance as shown in [70].

Alstom proposed a hybrid multilevel converter called alternate-arm multilevel converter [71]. It uses the full-bridge submodule as the basic cell to construct the multilevel voltages, but also adopts the two-level converter concept with a director switch made of series power switches for each arm. The efficiency of the proposed topology could be close to that of the traditional MMC based on half-bridge submodule. But a major challenge is to balance the submodule capacitor voltages, which may limit the converter operating range. Also it requires the direct series of semiconductor devices.

Adam *et al.* [72] proposed a hybrid cascaded MMC topology, which basically is a two-level converter with an active filter, constructed by a series of full-bridge submodules. The use of full-bridge submodule enables the fault current blocking capability. In addition, due to the implementation of an active filter, the main two-level converter can operate at a low switching frequency, reducing the power loss as a result. However, the two-level converter still under high voltage pressure, which requires the series of semiconductor devices. Furthermore, the capacitor need is also larger than the traditional MMC.
# 2.5 Research Objectives

According to the survey above, there are many unsolved issues on the development of MMC-based MTDC system. The main challenges include:

- (1) Arm inductance design considering circulating current suppression control.
- (2) Submodule capacitance design considering the unbalanced voltage.
- (3) Limited MTDC testbed and limited demonstrated control and operation scenarios.
- (4) DC fault protection strategy with detailed criteria and considering the recovery process.
- (5) Fault tolerant converter with comparable efficiency to the half-bridge MMC.

Corresponding to the challenges listed above, the main tasks of this dissertation are:

- (1) Reveal the limiting factor of arm inductance selection after implementing the circulating current suppression control, and develop the theoretical arm inductance selection criterion.
- (2) Develop the analytical relationship between submodule capacitance and capacitor unbalanced voltage.
- (3) Build a four-terminal HVDC testbed with a dc ring topology, and demonstrate the most typical operation scenarios.
- (4) Propose a systematic dc fault protection strategy of MTDC utilizing hybrid dc circuit breaker, including detailed criteria and methods for system recovery process.
- (5) Propose a new topology with dc fault blocking capability, together with the same high efficiency as half-bridge MMC.

# **3** MMC Arm Inductance Design

In this chapter, the arm inductance requirement for circulating current suppression in MMC is investigated after implementing the active circulating current suppression control. With circulating current suppressing control, the dominant second-order circulating current in MMC can be effectively decreased, and the arm inductance requirement based on the circulating current is thus reduced. The circulating current at switching frequency is found to be the new limitation for arm inductance design. The theoretical relationship between switching frequency circulating current and arm inductance is further developed. Finally, the theoretical analysis and calculation are verified by the experiment.

# 3.1 MMC Operating Principle

Figure 3-1 shows a single-phase equivalent circuit of the MMC. The series connection of submodules in each arm is represented by a controllable voltage source ( $v_{up}$  and  $v_{low}$  for upper and lower arms, respectively). The relationships between ac and dc terminal voltages ( $v_g$  and  $v_{dc}$ ) are expressed as

$$v_g = \frac{v_{low} - v_{up}}{2} - \frac{L_{arm}}{2} \frac{di_{ac}}{dt}$$
(3-1)

$$v_{dc} = v_{up} + v_{low} + 2L_{arm}\frac{di_{cm}}{dt}$$
(3-2)

where  $i_{cm}$  is the common mode component of the upper and lower arm currents, which is



Figure 3-1. Single-phase equivalent circuit of the MMC.

$$i_{cm} = \frac{i_{up} + i_{low}}{2}.$$
(3-3)

The ac voltage  $v_{ac}$  and current  $i_{ac}$  are defined as

$$v_{ac} = \frac{v_{low} - v_{up}}{2} = V_{ac} \cos(\omega t) \tag{3-4}$$

$$i_{ac} = i_{up} - i_{low} = I_{ac} \cos(\omega t + \phi)$$
(3-5)

where  $\phi$  represents the phase difference between  $v_{ac}$  and  $i_{ac}$ .

Based on (3-2) and (3-4), the upper and lower arm voltages are similarly given as

$$v_{up} = \frac{V_{dc}}{2} - V_{ac} \cos(\omega t) \tag{3-6}$$

$$v_{low} = \frac{V_{dc}}{2} + V_{ac} \cos(\omega t) \tag{3-7}$$

The key of MMC operation is to generate the desired arm voltages by inserting or bypassing

submodules. The number of submodules to be inserted is determined by modulation, and different modulation schemes have been proposed in the literature [23]. The direct modulation is a most popular scheme and considered here. The insertion indices, which is the ratio of the inserted submodule number to total submodule number in each arm, can be obtained as

$$n_{up} = \frac{V_{dc}}{2NV_c} (1 - M\cos(\omega t)) = \frac{1}{2} (1 - M\cos(\omega t))$$
(3-8)

$$n_{low} = \frac{V_{dc}}{2NV_c} (1 + M\cos(\omega t)) = \frac{1}{2} (1 + M\cos(\omega t))$$
(3-9)

where N is the total number of submodules per arm, M is the modulation index defined as  $2V_{ac}/V_{dc}$  and  $V_c$  is the average submodule capacitor voltage, which usually is

$$V_c = \frac{V_{dc}}{N} \tag{3-10}$$

Eqs. (3-8), (3-9) and (3-10) give the number of how many submodules to be inserted, but do not tell which specific submodules should be inserted. Different arrangements of inserted submodules have little impact on the overall arm voltages, but could cause capacitor voltage unbalance issue among submodules. Therefore, the submodule selection algorithm is usually included in the voltage balancing control in MMC. In this chapter, the submodule capacitor voltages are assumed ideally balanced.

## 3.2 Circulating Current Suppression Control

The direct modulation obtains insertion indices by assuming a constant submodule capacitor voltage, however, the actual capacitor voltage varies due to the current flow. So by using the insertion indices in (3-8) and (3-9), the generated arm voltages can be expressed as

$$v_{up\_real} = N\left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{M}{2}cos(\omega t)\right) \cdot v_{up\_c\_real}$$
(3-11)

$$v_{low\_real} = N\left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{M}{2}cos(\omega t)\right) \cdot v_{low\_c\_real}$$
(3-12)

where  $v_{up\_c\_real}$ ,  $v_{low\_c\_real}$  are the actual submodule capacitor voltages. Ilves *et al.* [17] analyzed the harmonic components of the capacitor voltage, and gave the expression of arm voltages as

$$v_{up\_real} = \frac{v_{dc}}{2} \left(1 - M\cos(\omega t)\right) + v_{cir}$$
(3-13)

$$v_{low\_real} = \frac{v_{dc}}{2} (1 + M\cos(\omega t)) + v_{cir}.$$
(3-14)

where  $v_{cir}$  is the voltage difference compared to the desired arm voltage. The phase-leg voltage is given as

$$v_{ph\_real} = v_{dc} + 2v_{cir}.$$
(3-15)

The phase-leg voltage is not equal to the dc side voltage, and the voltage difference  $(2v_{cir})$  is applied on the two arm inductors, causing the circulating current. The harmonics of the circulating current have been analyzed in [17], showing that the second-order harmonic is the dominant component.

Different circulating current suppression control methods have been proposed, but the essential principles are generally the same, and the method introduced by Tu *et al.* [21] is considered in this dissertation. A common mode component ( $v_{cm}$ ) is added to the arm voltage reference in (3-8) and (3-9) in order to compensate for the submodule capacitor voltage variation.

The insertion indices are thus changed to

$$n_{up\_real} = \frac{1}{2} - \frac{M}{2} \cos(\omega t) - n_{cm}$$
(3-16)

$$n_{low\_real} = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{M}{2}\cos(\omega t) - n_{cm}$$
(3-17)

where  $n_{cm}$  is the common mode component added to the insertion indices, and defined as  $2v_{cm}/V_{dc}$ . Using these insertion indices, the generated arm voltages are

$$v_{up\_real} = N\left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{M}{2}\cos(\omega t) - n_{cm}\right) \cdot v_{up\_c\_real}$$
(3-18)

$$v_{low\_real} = N\left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{M}{2}\cos(\omega t) - n_{cm}\right) \cdot v_{low\_c\_real}.$$
(3-19)

Compared to (3-13) and (3-14), the arm voltages can be rewritten as

$$v_{up\_real} = \frac{v_{dc}}{2} (1 - M\cos(\omega t)) + v_{cir} - n_{cm} \cdot v_{up\_c\_real}$$
(3-20)

$$v_{low\_real} = \frac{v_{dc}}{2} (1 + M\cos(\omega t)) + v_{cir} - n_{cm} \cdot v_{low\_c\_real}.$$
 (3-21)

The phase-leg voltage is thus derived as

$$v_{ph\_real} = v_{dc} + 2v_{cir} - n_{cm} \cdot (v_{c\_up} + v_{c\_low}).$$
 (3-22)

According to (3-22), the phase-leg voltage may equal to the dc voltage by controlling  $n_{cm}$ . Theoretically, the circulating current harmonics lower than the bandwidth of the MMC inner controller can be eliminated. As stated previously, second-order harmonic component dominates the circulating current, whose frequency is much lower than the controller bandwidth.

# 3.3 Switching Frequency Circulating Current

The circulating current suppressing controller can effectively eliminate the second-order harmonic, however not the higher frequency harmonic like the switching frequency, which is out of the bandwidth of the controller. The switching frequency circulating current can only be limited by the arm inductors. This section will explain the mechanism of the switching frequency circulating current, and provides the selection criterion for arm inductance.

The modulation scheme analyzed in this section has a PWM submodule. Figure 3-2 shows the pulse-width voltages generated for the PWM submodules. The reference voltages are compared with the triangular carriers to decide whether the submodules should be inserted or bypassed. The triangular carriers for the upper and lower arms are complementary. The reference voltages are actually the representation of the insertion indices. When circulating current suppressing control is not implemented, the sum of insertion indices for the upper and lower equals to 1 based on (3-8) and (3-9), which means there are *N* submodules always inserted in a phase-leg. Thus the voltages of PWM sub-modules in the upper and lower arms are complementary. Based on (3-13) and (3-14), the resulting phase-leg voltage is not equal to the dc voltage and the voltage difference is  $2v_{cir}$ . The difference between the phase-leg voltages of stages I, III and stage II is because of the submodule capacitor voltage difference in the upper and lower arms.

Because the circulating current suppressing controller introduces a common mode component into the insertion indices, the voltages of PWM submodules in the upper and lower arms are no longer complementary, but have an overlap as shown in Figure 3-2. Additional submodules would be inserted or bypassed in the circuit based on the sign of  $n_{cir}$  during the overlap period, which means it is not always *N* submodules inserted in a phase-leg. The phase-



Figure 3-2. Voltage generation of PWM sub-modules



Figure 3-3. Phase-leg voltage and circulating current in a switching period

leg voltage could have two pulses with magnitude of  $v_c$  in each switching period due to the circulating current suppressing control. Figure 3-3 shows the resulting phase-leg voltage with the circulating current suppressing controller and the corresponding circulating current in one switching period. In Figure 3-3, a switching cycle is divided into 5 stages. Stages II and IV represent the overlap periods, and the phase-leg voltages in these two periods are  $v_c$  higher than the voltages in the other periods. The phase-leg voltages in stages I, III and V are nearly the same. The voltage difference between them to the dc voltage is  $2v_{cir}$ , as shown in (3-15). If without the circulating current suppressing controller, the phase-leg voltages in stages II and IV should be similar to other periods, and the circulating current either keeps increasing or decreasing in the whole switching cycle, causing the second-order line frequency circulating current.

But with the circulating current suppressing controller, the voltages in stages II and IV can compensate for the voltage differences in the other three periods and make the average value of the phase-leg voltage in each switching cycle equal to the dc voltage. The second-order circulating current is thus eliminated, but the switching frequency circulating current appears as a side effect. As shown in Figure 3-3, in order to calculate the switching frequency circulating current, the voltage difference between the phase-leg voltage and dc voltage should be obtained. Based on [17],  $v_{cir}$  can be derived as

$$v_{cir} = \frac{N}{8C_{sub}} \left\{ -\frac{3}{4\omega} M \cdot I_{ac} \cdot \sin(2\omega t - \theta) + \frac{1}{3\omega} M^2 I_{dc} \cdot \sin(2\omega t) \right\}$$
(3-23)

As shown in Figure 3-3, the peak current would occur either at points A and D, or at B and C, determined by the length of periods I, V, and III. Considering the overlap periods are relatively small, and the longest time period among I, V, and III can thus be derived as

$$\Delta T = max(D_{ap\_real}, D_{an\_real}) \cdot T_s$$
(3-24)

where  $T_s$  is the switching period. Thus the peak to peak value of the switching frequency circulating current can be derived as

$$I_{pp} = \frac{v_{cir}}{L_{arm}} \cdot \Delta T.$$
(3-25)

In order to design the arm inductance, the worst case with maximum switching frequency circulating current should be identified. Assuming the maximum modulation index is 1, the maximum  $v_{cir}$  can be derived as

$$v_{cir\_max} = \frac{N}{8\omega C_{sub}} \sqrt{\frac{9}{16}I_{ac}^2 + \frac{1}{9}I_{dc}^2 - \frac{1}{2}I_{ac}I_{dc}}.$$
 (3-26)

As shown in Figure 3-3, the largest  $\Delta T$  would be  $T_s$ . Thus the maximum switching frequency circulating current is obtained as

$$I_{pp\_max} = \frac{N \cdot T_s}{8\omega L_{arm} C_{sub}} \sqrt{\frac{9}{16} I_{ac}^2 + \frac{1}{9} I_{dc}^2 - \frac{1}{2} I_{ac} I_{dc}}.$$
 (3-27)

It shows that the switching frequency circulating current is related to both the arm inductance and submodule capacitance. The sub-module capacitance is mainly designed by its voltage ripple requirement, which will be presented in next chapter. Then, the arm inductance requirement based on the switching frequency circulating current can be derived.

#### **3.4** Experimental Verification

A three-phase MMC with 2 submodules per arm is developed to verify the analysis on the switching frequency circulating current. As shown in Figure 3-4, it is connected to a constant dc voltage source, and operates in inverter mode. The ac side is connected to a passive load bank that consists of resistors and inductors. The detailed hardware parameters are listed in Table 3.

The prototype has two control units, including a TI TMS320F28335 DSP and an Altera Cyclone III FPGA. The DSP is the main controller, responsible for ac current/voltage control and circulating current control. The arm voltage reference is generated in the DSP, and then sent to FPGA. Used as an auxiliary controller, the FPGA executes the voltage-balancing control and generates PWM signals.

Figure 3-5 shows the experimental results when arm inductance is 1 mH at rated conditions. The circulating current suppression control is disabled, and the result shows a large second-order circulating current. Figure 3-6 shows the test result with enabled circulating current suppression controller. It can be seen clearly that the second-order circulating current is almost eliminated. Figure 3-5 and Figure 3-6 also show the two capacitor voltages in one arm. They are nearly the same, which validates the effectiveness of the voltage-balancing control.

Rated power	1 kW	Rated ac frequency	60 Hz
Rated dc voltage	100 V	submodule capacitor voltage	50 V
Rated ac current	10 A	Submodule capacitance	2.7 mF

Table 3. Experimental parameters of the MMC prototype



Figure 3-4. System configuration of the experimental setup of the MMC prototype



Figure 3-5. Experimental results at  $L_{arm} = 1$  mH with circulating current suppressing control disabled



Figure 3-6. Experimental results at  $L_{arm} = 1$  mH with circulating current suppressing control

enabled



Figure 3-7. Experimental results at  $L_{arm} = 0.1$  mH with circulating current suppressing control

enabled

Figure 3-7 shows the experimental result with 0.1 mH arm inductor, which is 1/10 of that in Figure 3-6. The circulating current contains high frequency harmonics. Figure 3-8 shows the waveform with a small time scale of circulating current and the corresponding phase-leg voltage. The waveform matches the theoretical analysis in Figure 3-3, validating the existence of the switching frequency circulating current.

Tests have been conducted for different arm inductors. Figure 3-9 shows a comparison of the theoretical and experimental values of the maximum peak to peak switching frequency circulating currents with different arm inductors. The experimental results have a close agreement with the calculation.



Figure 3-8. Experimental results at  $L_{arm} = 0.1$  mH with circulating current suppressing control enabled



Figure 3-9. Maximum switching frequency circulating current versus arm inductance



Figure 3-10. Experimental results at  $L_{arm} = 0.015$  mH with circulating current suppressing

control enabled



Figure 3-11. Experimental results at  $L_{arm} = 0.015$  mH with circulating current suppressing control enabled and a 1 mH dc inductor

Figure 3-10 shows the experimental result with an extremely small arm inductance of 15 uH. The switching frequency circulating current is further increased, and more importantly the circulating current may not just flow among three phases, it also goes to the dc side as shown in the waveform. And if the dc side has inductors, the MMC dc terminal voltage will also have the switching frequency harmonics, as shown in Figure 3-11 with a 1 mH dc inductor. The ripple voltage could be as high as 2/3 of the submodule capacitor voltage [24]. Therefore additional dc filter may be required, if extra small arm inductor is used.

#### 3.5 Conclusion

The dominant second-order circulating current in MMC can be theoretically eliminated after the implementation of the circulating current suppressing control, but a switching frequency circulating current is produced in turn. The theoretical analysis presented in this chapter shows that the switching frequency circulating current has a dependence on the arm inductance and the submodule capacitance, and the arm inductance requirement based on the switching frequency circulating current limit can thus be derived. Finally, the experimental results of a down-scaled prototype verify both the existence of the switching frequency circulating current and its relationship with the arm inductance.

# 4 MMC Submodule Capacitance Design

As has been discussed in subsection 2.1.2, the unbalanced voltage should be considered for MMC submodule capacitance design. It is related to the voltage-balancing control, or fundamentally depends on the converter switching frequency. This chapter develops the analytical relationship between the unbalanced voltage and submodule capacitance, considering the voltage-balancing control impact. Two boundary criteria for submodule capacitance design are derived.

# 4.1 Voltage-Balancing Control

According to the operating principle description in subsection 3.1, the total number of submodules to be inserted in each arm is given by the insertion index multiplied by the submodule number in each arm. If the number is not an integer, the closest integer is used based on the nearest-level modulation as considered in this paper, which is a commonly adopted method in MMC [1]. The insertion index does not indicate which individual submodule should be inserted. The phase-shifted method may be used to predefine a sequence for submodule selection as in [32]-[33], or else an active selection method is required to dynamically assign submodule switching states. The active selection method is usually integrated in voltage-balancing control. In this dissertation, the modified sorting method in [34] is considered. The algorithm is shown in the flowchart in Figure 4-1. Similar to the traditional sorting method in [1], this method has improved to avoid unnecessary switching actions. The submodule switching states only vary under the following two cases:

Case 1): The unbalanced voltage is larger than the predefined threshold value  $(V_{th})$ ;

Case 2): The number of submodules to be inserted has changed.

The submodules selected to change switching states for case 1 depend on the arm current direction. If the current charges the capacitors in that arm, the submodule with the highest capacitor voltage is bypassed and the submodule with the lowest capacitor voltage is inserted. If the current discharges the capacitors in that arm, the submodule with the lowest capacitor voltage is bypassed and the submodule with the highest capacitor voltage is inserted. This is the same as in the traditional sorting algorithm. For case 2, an additional submodule will be inserted or bypassed. The selection of this submodule is similar to case 1. This modified sorting method with an unbalanced capacitor voltage threshold is commonly used in MMC, due to its easy implementation and reduced switching loss.



Figure 4-1. Modified sorting algorithm [34]

# 4.2 Unbalanced Voltage Derivation

The MMC operation relies on generating desired arm voltages. As described in subsection 3.1, the insertion indices are obtained based on the assumption that all submodule capacitor voltages are equal. Otherwise, the resulting arm voltages using these insertion indices will not equal to the reference value. Voltage-balancing control is used to balance the capacitor voltages, but in most cases it cannot achieve instantaneous balance. It is expected that there will be an instantaneous arm voltage error, but voltage-balancing control should keep this error close to zero. In other words, voltage-balancing control can compensate for the arm voltage error and achieve an approximately zero accumulated arm voltage error for a longer time period (i.e. one fundamental cycle).

The arm voltage reference in the following section is approximated by the arm voltage value with the assumption that MMC operates with instantaneously balanced submodule capacitor voltages. And since the effect of circulating current control on insertion indices is relatively small, Equations (3-8) and (3-9) are used in this section. Only the upper arm is considered due to the symmetry between the upper and lower arms.

#### 4.2.1 Arm Voltage Error

The actual arm voltage  $v_{up\_act}$  is the sum of capacitor voltages for all inserted submodules, that is

$$v_{up\_act} = N n_{up} \bar{v}_{sub\_act} \tag{4-1}$$

where  $\bar{v}_{sub\_act}$  denotes the average capacitor voltage of the inserted submodules. For the instantaneously balanced case, all capacitor voltages are the same. The arm voltage reference

 $v_{up ref}$  can be rewritten as

$$v_{up\_ref} = Nn_{up}v_{sub\_ref} \tag{4-2}$$

where  $v_{sub\_ref}$  represents the submodule capacitor voltage reference. The instantaneous error between the arm voltage reference and the actual voltage is obtained as

$$v_{up\_err} = Nn_{up} (\bar{v}_{sub\_act} - v_{sub\_ref}).$$
(4-3)

With nearest-level modulation, the whole fundamental cycle is divided into many small time intervals, in which the inserted submodule number remains constant. The increment of arm voltage error for each time interval is derived as

$$dv_{up\_err}(t) = Nn_{up} \left( d\bar{v}_{sub\_act}(t) - dv_{sub\_ref}(t) \right).$$
(4-4)

Practically, only the capacitor voltages of those inserted submodules will change and the bypassed submodules' capacitor voltages remain the same. For the instantaneously balanced case, all the submodule capacitors in the arm experience the same voltage change. As the total capacitor charge variation is the same for both cases, that is

$$Nn_{up}(t)d\bar{v}_{sub\ act}(t) = Ndv_{sub\ ref}(t).$$
(4-5)

The capacitor voltage reference is obtained based on the average model in [17], and its increment for a small time interval is given as

$$dv_{sub\_ref}(t) = \frac{1}{C_{sub}} n_{up}(t) i_{up}(t) dt.$$
(4-6)

Inserting (4-5) and (4-6) into (4-3) gives the expression of the arm voltage error

$$dv_{up\_err}(t) = \frac{N}{C_{sub}} n_{up}(t) [1 - n_{up}(t)] i_{up}(t) dt.$$
(4-7)

Integrating (4-7) over a fundamental cycle T yields

$$\int_{0}^{T} dv_{up\_err}(t) = \frac{N}{C_{sub}} \frac{I_{dc}}{12} \left(1 - \frac{M^2}{2}\right) T$$
(4-8)

which indicates that there will be a constant arm voltage error during each fundamental cycle. Therefore, voltage-balancing control should be employed to compensate this error.

#### 4.2.2 Effect of Voltage-Balancing Control on Arm Voltage Error Compensation

Based on the voltage-balancing control algorithm described above, the submodule switching states will change under the two cases as described in subsection 4.1.

Case 1, when the unbalanced voltage is larger than the threshold value, leads to an exchange of switching states between the two submodules with highest and lowest capacitor voltages. The voltage difference between these two submodules is added to the arm voltage. Due to the voltage-balancing control, the maximum voltage difference among capacitors should be around  $V_{th}$  and the arm voltage variation caused by an exchange of switching states is  $V_{th}$ . The arm voltage error shown in (4-7) has the same polarity as the arm current; but the arm voltage variation introduced for this case has the opposite polarity, which is given as

$$\Delta v_{com1} = -V_{th}.\tag{4-9}$$

Therefore, this switching event actually compensates for the arm voltage error.

When an additional submodule is inserted or bypassed in case 2, the arm voltage is either

increased or decreased by the selected submodule's capacitor voltage. For the instantaneously balanced case, the arm voltage variation is the average capacitor voltage. It is clear that this switching event also compensates for the arm voltage error, and the compensated voltage is half of the unbalanced voltage of the selected submodule. For example, if arm current is charging the capacitor and an additional submodule is required to be inserted. The voltage-balancing control algorithm selects the submodule in "bypassed" mode with the lowest capacitor voltage. If there are many submodules in "bypassed" mode, the compensated arm voltage should be around half of  $V_{th}$ , that is

$$\Delta v_{com2} = -\frac{V_{th}}{2}.\tag{4-10}$$

However, if only a few submodules are in "bypassed" mode, the compensated arm voltage is smaller than that. During a fundamental cycle, both scenarios will occur, and the average compensated arm voltage should have the boundaries

$$0 < \left| \Delta v_{com2\_avg} \right| < \frac{V_{th}}{2}. \tag{4-11}$$

The compensated arm voltage during a fundamental cycle is obtained as

$$v_{com_T} = \Delta v_{com1} N_{sw1} + \Delta v_{com2\_avg} N_{sw2}$$
(4-12)

where  $N_{sw1}$  and  $N_{sw2}$  represent the total switching transitions in a fundamental cycle for cases 1 and 2, respectively. The average switching frequency can then be expressed as

$$f_{sw} = \frac{(N_{sw1} + N_{sw2})}{2N} \frac{1}{T}.$$
(4-13)

As explained above, the compensated arm voltage should approximately equal to the arm

voltage error over a fundamental cycle, that is

$$v_{com_{T}} + \int_{0}^{T} \left| dv_{up_{err}}(t) \right| = 0.$$
 (4-14)

Due to the defined polarity of the compensated arm voltage, the absolute value of the arm voltage error in (4-7) is used. Substituting (4-9)-(4-13) into (4-14) yields two boundary equations

$$f_{sw}V_{th} > \frac{1}{T} \int_0^T \left| \frac{1}{C_{sub}} n_{up} (1 - n_{up}) i_{up} \right| dt$$
(4-15)

$$f_{sw}V_{th} < f_m V_{th} + \frac{1}{T} \int_0^T \left| \frac{1}{C_{sub}} n_{up} (1 - n_{up}) i_{up} \right| dt$$
(4-16)

which describe the relationship between the average switching frequency and unbalanced capacitor voltage threshold. The difference between the upper and lower boundaries is  $f_m V_{th}$ , where  $f_m$  is the switching frequency required by modulation. It can be calculated as

$$f_m = M f_0. \tag{4-17}$$

where  $f_0$  is the fundamental line frequency.

# 4.3 Submodule Capacitance Design Consideration

# 4.3.1 Boundary Criteria

As mentioned previously, it includes the average ripple and unbalanced voltage. The relationship between the average ripple and submodule capacitance was derived in [27], that is

$$V_{ripple\_avg} = \frac{1}{C_{sub}} \frac{1}{4\omega} I_{ac} \left( 1 - \left(\frac{M}{2}\cos\phi\right)^2 \right)^{\frac{3}{2}}.$$
 (4-18)

Some references determine the submodule capacitance requirement by ignoring the unbalanced voltage, which is valid if the unbalanced voltage is much smaller than the average ripple. However, this may not be the practical case. The derived relationships in (4-15) and (4-16) show that the unbalanced voltage increases when the switching frequency is low. Jacobson *et* al. [35] suggests that the practical switching frequency for MMC in a HVDC application is around 150 Hz. Figure 4-2 shows the waveforms of the submodule capacitor voltages when the switching frequencies are 100 Hz, 200 Hz and 3.3 kHz, respectively. For the well balanced case at 3.3 kHz switching frequency, all the capacitor voltages have approximately the same voltage variation  $\Delta V_1$ , which equals to the average ripple  $V_{\text{ripple avg}}$ . For the poorly-balanced case like at 100 Hz switching frequency, the capacitor voltage variation is increased to  $\Delta V_1 + \Delta V_2$ , where  $\Delta V_2$ is the unbalanced voltage and should be equal to  $V_{th}$ . As shown in Fig. 9,  $\Delta V_2$  is around 30% of  $\Delta V_1$  when the switching frequency is 200 Hz and increased to 60% when the switching frequency decreases to 100 Hz. This indicates that the unbalanced voltage should not be ignored in the low switching frequency case. Combining (4-15), (4-16) and (4-18) gives two boundary equations for the total submodule capacitor voltage ripple, which are

$$V_{ripple\_total} > \frac{1}{C_{sub}} \Biggl\{ \frac{1}{f_{sw}} \frac{1}{T} \int_{0}^{T} |n_{up}(1 - n_{up})i_{up}| dt + \frac{1}{4\omega} I_{ac} \left( 1 - \left(\frac{M}{2}\cos\phi\right)^{2} \right)^{\frac{3}{2}} \Biggr\}$$
(4-19)



Figure 4-2. Simulation waveforms of submodule capacitor voltages at different switching

frequency.

$$V_{ripple\_total} < \frac{1}{C_{sub}} \Biggl\{ \frac{1}{f_{sw} - f_m} \frac{1}{T} \int_0^T |n_{up}(1 - n_{up})i_{up}| dt + \frac{1}{4\omega} I_{ac} \left( 1 - \left(\frac{M}{2}\cos\phi\right)^2 \right)^{\frac{3}{2}} \Biggr\}.$$
(4-20)

These two boundary equations can be used for submodule capacitance design.

# 4.3.2 Unbalanced Voltage Selection

In order to choose a reasonable unbalanced voltage, its impact on converter design and operation needs to be understood. It has been shown that the unbalanced voltage impacts 1) converter switching frequency, and 2) submodule capacitor voltage ripple. The converter switching frequency will impact the power loss, while the capacitor voltage ripple is related to the submodule voltage rating. Both of them are important design specifications. However, there are several other important aspects, which have not been considered, including 3) voltage and current harmonics, and 4) converter normal operation.

## • Impact on voltage and current harmonics

Higher unbalanced voltage means larger deviation of submodule capacitor voltage. It will cause higher distortion of the arm voltage, which is the sum of the capacitor voltages of inserted submodules. The distorted arm voltage, on the other hand, impacts the alternating voltage and current. Figure 4-3 shows the total harmonic distortion (THD) comparison of the ac voltage/current, as well as the arm voltage/current, with different threshold voltages in simulation. The results show that, in general, higher threshold voltage leads to slightly higher distortions for both alternating voltage/current and arm voltage/current.



Figure 4-3. Harmonic comparison in simulation with 32 submodules per arm.

IEEE standard 519 defines several harmonic requirements for alternating voltage and current. The THD limits of a > 161 kV system are defined as 1.5% and 1% for the voltage and current, respectively. Based on the results in Figure 4-3, the THD of ac voltage is close to or even above the limit while the current stays within the predefined limits. So the slight difference on ac voltage distortion, caused by the unbalanced voltage, is important. However, the harmonics are also related to the submodule number. Figure 4-4 shows the same THD comparison, but for a scaled system with double submodule number (64 submodules per arm) in simulation. It also shows that higher unbalanced voltage leads to higher distortion. Compared to Figure 4-3, the overall THDs are much smaller due to the larger submodule number, and both the ac voltage and current harmonics are well below the limits. So the impact of unbalanced voltage on harmonics is not that important for larger submodule number cases.

In HVDC applications, different manufacturers may adopt different submodule numbers for their products. For example, Siemens HVDC plus has 200 submodules per arm for a  $\pm 160$  kV



Figure 4-4. Harmonic comparison in simulation with 64 submodules per arm.



Figure 4-5. Harmonic comparison in simulation with 32 submodules per arm for higher Vth.

system while ABB HVDC light uses 38 submodules. The ac voltage and current harmonics should be well below the limit for Siemens HVDC plus; on the contrary, the harmonics may be designed to be just lower than the limit for ABB HVDC light, in which case the impact of unbalanced voltage cannot be neglected. Therefore, the importance of the threshold voltage's impact on ac voltage and current harmonics highly depends on the submodule number.

In terms of arm voltage and current, no harmonic requirements exist as they are considered as internal variables. However, it should be noticed that arm current harmonic will impact the converter power loss. Higher unbalanced voltage, as a result, may cause slight increase of the converter power loss. Similarly, the importance of this impact is related to the submodule number.

## • Impact on converter operation

For threshold voltage selection, it is important to understand that whether it will impact the converter normal operation, especially when the threshold voltage is relatively high. Three different cases are simulated in the scaled system with 32 submodules per arm, in which the threshold voltage is 40%, 60% and 80% of the nominal submodule capacitor voltage, respectively. Figure 4-5 shows the THDs of the alternating voltage/current and arm voltage/current for all three different cases. Compared to the results in Figure 4-3, in which the same simulation system is utilized but with much smaller threshold voltage, the THDs are only slightly higher, and no abnormal phenomenon is observed. So the threshold voltage does not impact the converter normal operation much.

Realizing that the threshold voltage only slightly impacts the voltage and current harmonics, and only matters when the submodule number is small, its selection is mainly a design tradeoff between the converter switching frequency (or power loss) and submodule capacitor voltage ripple (or submodule voltage rating). Therefore, the derived relationship between the threshold voltage and converter switching frequency is a necessary tool for the threshold voltage selection. With (4-15)-(4-18), the ratio between the threshold voltage and average ripple  $V_{th}/V_{ripple\_avg}$  is obtained as a function of the converter switching frequency and other operating condition parameters, that is

$$V_{th}/V_{ripple\_avg} = F(f_{sw}).$$
(4-21)

As the total submodule capacitor voltage ripple is the sum of threshold voltage and average ripple, (4-21) can be rewritten as

$$V_{th} = \frac{F(f_{sw})}{1 + F(f_{sw})} V_{ripple\_total}.$$
(4-22)

Normally the converter switching frequency and submodule capacitor voltage ripple requirements are generated from the overall system design. Provided these design results, the threshold voltage can then be easily selected using (4-22).

# 4.4 Simulation Verification

Simulation results are presented in this subsection to verify the above analysis. The parameters of the simulated system are listed in Table 4. The full system parameters are based on the INEFLE project [20]. The submodule capacitance is designed for 12.5 % average ripple (half peak-to-peak value) and the arm inductance is selected as 0.15 p.u. considering fault current limiting. For simulation, a downscaled platform with 32 submodules per arm is used.

Description	Full System	Downscaled System	Downscaled Hardware
Direct voltage	640 kV	51.2 kV	300 V
Rated power	1000 MVA	80 MVA	1 kVA
Alternating voltage	333 kV	26.64 kV	
Submodule number per arm	400	32	6
Rated submodule voltage	1.6 kV	1.6 kV	50 V
Submodule capacitance	10 mF	10 mF	2.7 mF
Arm inductance	50 mH	4 mH	0.26 mH

Table 4. System parameters



Figure 4-6. Simulated relationship between the switching frequency and unbalanced capacitor

voltage.



Figure 4-7. Waveform of compensated arm voltage.

Figure 4-6 compares the simulation and calculation results for the relationship between the switching frequency and the unbalanced capacitor voltage threshold at rated power. The simulation results fall within the boundaries given in (4-15) and (4-16). Figure 4-7 shows the compensated arm voltages for case 2 as described previously.  $V_{th}$  is set to 10% of the nominal capacitor voltage.

According to the previous analysis, the maximum compensated arm voltage should be  $V_{th}/2$ , shown in Figure 4-7 as a blue dashed line. It can be seen that the compensated arm voltages are smaller in magnitude than the theoretical maximum value, which matches the analysis. Figure 4-8 shows the comparison under different operating conditions. The simulation results still mostly fall within the boundaries, except for when threshold voltage is small. When the threshold voltage is small, the switching frequency in the simulation is lower than expected. This is because the unbalanced voltage cannot be well maintained within the threshold value.



Figure 4-8. Simulated relationship between the threshold voltage and switching frequency at different operating conditions: (a) P = 40 MW, Q = 40 Mvar; (b) P = 40 MW, Q = -40 Mvar; (c)

$$P = -40 \text{ MW}, Q = 40 \text{ Mvar}; (d) P = -40 \text{ MW}, Q = -40 \text{ Mvar}.$$

# 4.5 Experimental Verification

The three-phase, 2 submodules per arm MMC prototype introduced in subsection 3.4 is reconfigured as a single-phase MMC with 6 submodules per arm. The detailed parameters are listed in Table 4.

Figure 4-9 and Figure 4-10 show the experimental results when threshold voltages are 1 V and 9 V (2% and 18% of the nominal capacitor voltage), respectively. According to the analysis, a higher threshold voltage should cause higher voltage and current distortion. This is verified by the arm current waveforms. It is shown that arm currents are more distorted for the case with a 9 V threshold, because the circulating current control is not well executed due to the large arm voltage error.



Figure 4-9. Experimental waveforms with threshold voltage of 1 V.



Figure 4-10. Experimental waveforms with threshold voltage of 9 V.



Figure 4-11. Circulating current waveform comparison.
Figure 4-11 shows the circulating current waveforms for both cases. The circulating current for the 9 V threshold case is not well controlled compared to the 1 V threshold case. However, the impact on the alternating current is not obvious in the waveforms. This is mainly because of the relatively large ac inductance, much larger than the arm inductance in this hardware setup.

Figure 4-12 and Figure 4-13 illustrate the proper implementation of the modified sorting method with an unbalanced voltage threshold. Figure 4-12 shows the maximum capacitor voltage difference for two cycles when the threshold voltage is 4 V. Its maximum value, i.e. the maximum unbalanced capacitor voltage, is around 4.5 V. So the maximum unbalanced capacitor voltage is not strictly equal to the threshold voltage. This is also true for cases with different threshold voltages. Figure 4-13 shows the relationship between the threshold voltage and maximum unbalanced capacitor voltage.



Figure 4-12. Experimental waveforms with threshold voltage of 9 V.



Figure 4-13. Experimental waveforms with threshold voltage of 9 V.



Figure 4-14. Time delay explanation.

The unbalanced capacitor voltage in these results is always larger than the threshold value by a nearly constant value ( $\approx 0.5$  V). This is mainly because of the time delay, which is explained in Figure 4-14. At time  $t_1$ , the unbalanced voltage is approaching but still smaller than the threshold voltage. After a control cycle at time  $t_2$ , the unbalanced voltage becomes larger than the threshold voltage. This will trigger the voltage-balancing control to send out the command to exchange the switching states of submodules. Considering the one cycle delay of the digital control, the maximum time delay for executing the voltage-balancing control can be two control cycles. During this delay time, the unbalanced voltage will keep increasing and grow larger than the threshold voltage. The worst case may occur when the arm current is at its maximum value, and the difference between the maximum unbalanced capacitor voltage and threshold voltage can be obtained as

$$\Delta V_{max} = \frac{1}{C_{sub}} i_{arm\_max} T_{delay\_max} = 0.56 \text{ V}.$$
(31)

For other cases, the difference should be smaller than this maximum value.

Figure 4-15 shows the experimental results of the relationship between switching frequency and threshold voltage under two different load conditions: 1)  $R = 7 \Omega$ , L = 0.5 mH; and 2) R =10  $\Omega$ , L = 0.5 mH. For both cases, the rated alternating current is 10 A. It should be noted that because of the small submodule number, PWM is used and its frequency is 12 kHz, much higher than the expected switching frequency. So the PWM is implemented in a way that does not participate in the voltage-balancing control. The theoretical curves are obtained using (4-16), and only the switching actions caused by the voltage-balancing control are considered in these results for switching frequency. The experimental results match the theoretical calculation well.



Figure 4-15. Experimental result of the relationship between the switching frequency and unbalanced capacitor voltage.

#### 4.6 Design Tradeoff Between Submodule Capacitance and Switching Frequency

The relationship among the submodule capacitance, switching frequency and capacitor voltage ripple has been derived. If the switching frequency is defined and with the capacitor voltage ripple requirement, the submodule capacitance can be selected. We can notice that the submodule capacitance need is negative correlation with the switching frequency, and switching frequency is directly related to the converter loss. For today's HVDC application, the switching frequency is usually selected at 100 - 150 Hz and the switching loss is smaller than the conduction loss, around 1/3 of the conduction loss based on our simulation. In the literature, there are some works to further push the switching frequency lower. But the derived relationship tells us that lower switching frequency can definitely reduce the loss, but since the switching loss is already a small portion of the total converter loss, which may only gain a little bit benefit. But

lower switching frequency, on the other hand, will require larger submodule capacitance. Since submodule capacitor is also a main contribution to the overall cost, we need to have a tradeoff between the switching frequency and submodule capacitance.

#### 4.7 Conclusion

This chapter evaluates the impact of voltage-balancing control on the submodule capacitance design of MMC. It found that the switching frequency, which determines the effectiveness of the voltage-balancing control, is related to the submodule capacitor unbalanced voltage, and their relationship is derived for the modified sorting method. A key of the derivation is considering voltage-balancing control as a compensation for the arm voltage error. The derived analytical relationship gives the expression of submodule capacitor voltage ripple, as a function of submodule capacitance and switching frequency. So the submodule capacitance can be selected, if providing the voltage ripple and switching frequency requirements. The relationship can also be used for unbalanced capacitor voltage threshold selection, given the design specifications of the switching frequency and submodule voltage rating.

# 5 MMC Maximum Modulation Index Reduction Due to Circulating Current Suppression Control

As mentioned in subsection 2.1.1, circulating current suppression control can help to reduce the converter power loss. Harnefors *et al.* [50] suggested it can also improve the converter control stability, which made the circulating current suppression control favored for use. The mechanisms of circulating current and corresponding suppression control have been explained in subsection 3.2. The cause of circulating current is arm voltage cannot achieve the desired value due to the submodule capacitor voltage variation. And the circulating current suppression control introduces a common mode component to the arm voltage reference, to compensate the submodule capacitor voltage variation.

The arm voltage references are given in (3-6) and (3-7). It consists of dc voltage bias and fundamental frequency ac voltage. The reference voltage should not go beyond the submodules can supply, i.e. the insertion indices in (3-8) and (3-9) should be limited within [0, 1]. Therefore, the maximum modulation index, if  $3^{rd}$  harmonic injection is not considered, is unity which is the same as typical 2-level VSC. Circulating current suppression control adds additional common mode component into the arm voltage reference, which will decrease the maximum modulation index of MMC. This may lead to the reduction of dc voltage utilization, as well as the converter operating range. This chapter is to determine the maximum modulation index of MMC considering the circulating current control. A MMC model with fundamental frequency component and  $2^{nd}$  order harmonic decoupled is first presented using the concept from [50]-[51]. The common mode component introduced by the circulating current suppression control is then theoretically derived based on the maximum obtainable modulation index that is provided. Since

third harmonic injection is usually adopted for three phase converters, the maximum modulation index for this case is also investigated. Finally, the simulation and experimental results are provided.

#### 5.1 MMC Model

In this chapter, the submodule capacitor voltages are assumed ideally balanced. The arm voltages given in (3-11) and (3-12) can be rewritten as

$$v_{up} = N \cdot n_{up} \cdot v_{up_c} \tag{5-1}$$

$$v_{low} = N \cdot n_{low} \cdot v_{low\_c} \tag{5-2}$$

where  $v_{up}$  and  $v_{low}$  are arm voltages,  $n_{up}$  and  $n_{low}$  are insertion indices, and  $v_{up_c}$  and  $v_{low_c}$  are submodule capacitor voltages, with subscript "*up*" means upper arm quantities and "*low*" means lower arm quantities. The derivatives of the submodule capacitor voltages can be given as

$$\frac{dv_{up\_c}}{dt} = \frac{1}{C_{sub}} \cdot n_{up} \cdot i_{up}$$
(5-3)

$$\frac{dv_{low\_c}}{dt} = \frac{1}{C_{sub}} \cdot n_{low} \cdot i_{low}$$
(5-4)

where  $i_{up}$  and  $i_{low}$  are arm voltages, and  $C_{sub}$  is the submodule capacitance.

For the purpose of better explanation, (3-1) and (3-2) are rewritten as

$$v_g = \frac{v_{low} - v_{up}}{2} - \frac{L_{arm}}{2} \frac{di_{ac}}{dt}$$
(5-5)

$$v_{dc} = v_{up} + v_{low} + 2L_{arm}\frac{di_{cm}}{dt}.$$
(5-6)

The common mode and differential mode submodule capacitor voltages can be defined as

$$v_{cm_{c}c} = \frac{v_{low_{c}c} + v_{up_{c}c}}{2}$$
(5-7)

$$v_{dm_c} = \frac{v_{low_c} - v_{up_c}}{2}.$$
 (5-8)

Similarly, the common mode and differential mode insertion indices are defined as

$$n_{cm} = \frac{n_{low} + n_{up}}{2} \tag{5-9}$$

$$n_{dm} = \frac{n_{low} - n_{up}}{2}.$$
 (5-10)

Combining (5-7)-(5-10) into (5-1) and (5-2) gives

$$v_{low} + v_{up} = 2N \cdot \left( n_{cm} \cdot v_{cm\_c} + n_{dm} \cdot v_{dm\_c} \right)$$
(5-11)

$$v_{low} - v_{up} = 2N \cdot (n_{dm} \cdot v_{cm_c} + n_{cm} \cdot v_{dm_c}).$$
(5-12)

Inserting (5-11) and (5-12) into (5-5) and (5-6) gives

$$\frac{L_{arm}}{2}\frac{di_{ac}}{dt} = -v_g + N \cdot n_{dm} \cdot v_{cm\_c} + N \cdot n_{cm} \cdot v_{dm\_c}$$
(5-13)

$$L_{arm}\frac{di_{cm}}{dt} = \frac{v_{dc}}{2} - N \cdot n_{cm} \cdot v_{cm\_c} - N \cdot n_{dm} \cdot v_{dm\_c}.$$
(5-14)

Adding (5-4) to (5-3) and subtracting (5-4) to (5-3) give

$$C_{sub} \frac{d(v_{low\_c} + v_{up\_c})}{dt} = n_{low} i_{low} + n_{up} i_{up}$$
(5-15)

$$C_{sub} \frac{d(v_{low_c} - v_{up_c})}{dt} = n_{low} i_{low} - n_{up} i_{up}.$$
 (5-16)

Similarly, with the substitutions in (5-9) and (5-10), (5-15) and (5-16) can be rewritten as

$$C_{sub} \frac{dv_{cm_{c}}}{dt} = n_{cm} i_{cm} - n_{dm} \frac{i_{ac}}{2}$$
(5-17)

$$C_{sub} \frac{dv_{dm_{c}}}{dt} = n_{dm} i_{cm} - n_{cm} \frac{i_{ac}}{2}.$$
 (5-18)

Equations (5-13)-(5-14) and (5-17)-(5-18) give the model of MMC with state variables of  $i_{ac}$ ,  $i_{cm}$ ,  $v_{cm_c}$  and  $v_{dm_c}$ . The good thing with this model is that all the four state variables are usually with single frequency, unlike the arm voltage and submodule capacitor voltage.

### 5.2 Steady State Calculation

The above derived model shows that there are two controllable variables, which are usually used to control the ac current and circulating current. Assuming  $i_{cm}$  only includes dc component and the  $i_{ac}$  is defined as

$$i_{ac} = I_{ac} \cos(\omega t - \varphi) \tag{5-19}$$

where  $\varphi$  represents the power angle between ac phase current and phase voltage, which is defined as

$$v_{ac} = v_g + \frac{L_{arm}}{2} \frac{di_{ac}}{dt} = V_{ac} \cos(\omega t)$$
(5-20)

If the converter loss is neglected,  $i_{cm}$  can be expressed as

$$i_{cm} = \frac{M}{4} I_{ac} \cos(\varphi) \tag{5-21}$$

At first, the submodule capacitor voltage ripple is neglected. So  $v_{cm_c}$  and  $v_{dm_c}$  can be approximated by

$$v_{cm\_c} \approx \frac{v_{dc}}{N} \tag{5-22}$$

$$v_{dm_c} \approx 0. \tag{5-23}$$

Inserting (5-19)-(5-23) to (5-13) and (5-14) gives

$$V_{ac}\cos(\omega t) = v_{dc} \cdot n_{dm} \tag{5-24}$$

$$\frac{v_{dc}}{2} = v_{dc} \cdot n_{cm}.$$
(5-25)

 $n_{cm}$  and  $n_{dm}$  can be solved as

$$n_{cm} = \frac{1}{2} \tag{5-26}$$

$$n_{dm} = \frac{M}{2}\cos(\omega t). \tag{5-27}$$

where *M* is the modulation index, defined as  $2 V_{ac}/v_{dc}$ .

Inserting (5-19), (5-21), (5-26) and (5-27) into (5-17) and (5-18), and then integrating it gives

$$v_{cm_c} = \frac{v_{dc}}{N} - \frac{1}{C_{sub}} \frac{M}{16\omega} I_{ac} \sin(2\omega t - \varphi)$$
(5-28)

$$v_{dm_c} = -\frac{1}{C_{sub}} \frac{1}{4\omega} I_{ac} \left[ -\sin(\varphi)\cos(\omega t) + \left(1 - \frac{M^2}{2}\right)\cos(\varphi)\sin(\omega t) \right].$$
(5-29)

Compared with the approximations in (5-22) and (5-23), the initial approximations are only valid when the submodule capacitor is large enough. As discussed in Chapter 4, the capacitance is preferred to be small for reduced converter cost. A reasonable design example would be to limit the average capacitor ripple (half peak to peak value) within 10%.

To facilitate the following derivation, the variation of  $v_{cm_c}$  is defined as

$$\Delta v_{cm\_c} = -\frac{1}{C_{sub}} \frac{M}{16\omega} I_{ac} \sin(2\omega t - \varphi).$$
(5-30)

Since the approximations in (5-22) and (5-23) are not valid, the insertion indices obtained in (5-26) and (5-27) are not accurate. Inserting (5-20) and (5-21) into (5-13) and (5-14), the  $n_{cm}$  and  $n_{dm}$  can be solved as

$$n_{cm} = \frac{1}{N} \frac{1}{v_{cm_c}^2 - v_{dm_c}^2} \left( \frac{v_{dc}}{2} v_{cm_c} - v_{ac} v_{dm_c} \right)$$
(5-31)

$$n_{dm} = \frac{1}{N} \frac{1}{v_{cm_c}^2 - v_{dm_c}^2} \left( v_{ac} v_{cm_c} - \frac{v_{dc}}{2} v_{dm_c} \right).$$
(5-32)

Neglecting the second-order derivative, the following equations are derived as

$$n_{cm} = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{v_{ac}}{v_{dc}} \frac{N v_{dm\_c}}{v_{dc}} + \frac{N \Delta v_{cm\_c}}{2 v_{dc}}$$
(5-33)

The variation on  $n_{dm}$  is not considered as the circulating current only adds a common mode component. Inserting (5-28) and (5-29) to (5-33) gives

$$n_{cm} = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2\nu_{dc}} \frac{N}{C_{sub}} \frac{M}{8\omega} I_{ac} \left\{ -\frac{3}{2} \sin(\varphi) \cos(2\omega t) + \left(\frac{3}{2} - \frac{M^2}{2}\right) \cos(\varphi) \sin(2\omega t) \right\}.$$
(5-34)

#### 5.3 Maximum Modulation Index Derivation

Equations (5-34) shows that the needed common mode compensating component is a second-order harmonic, and is related to the system parameters ( $C_{sub}$  and N) and operating conditions (M,  $I_{ac}$  and  $\varphi$ ). It is not convenient to evaluate its impact on the modulation signal.

The capacitor voltage ripple can be derived by inserting (5-28) and (5-29) into (5-7) or (5-8) [27], that is

$$V_{Ripple} = \frac{1}{C_{sub}} \frac{1}{4\omega} I_{ac} \left( 1 - \left(\frac{M}{2}\cos(\varphi)\right)^2 \right)^{\frac{3}{2}}.$$
 (5-35)

The maximum capacitor voltage ripple depends on the converter operating range. According to [14], the maximum reactive power is usually defined as half of the maximum active power, which means the minimum power factor for MMC operating at full apparent power is  $\sqrt{3}/2$ . Therefore, the maximum capacitor voltage ripple is obtained as

$$V_{Ripple} = 0.73 \frac{1}{C_{sub}} \frac{1}{4\omega} I_{ac}$$
(5-36)

where maximum M=1 is considered. The coefficient 0.73 is related to the maximum reactive

power limitation. The ratio of the ripple voltage to the average capacitor voltage is given as

$$\varepsilon = 0.73 \cdot \frac{N}{v_{dc}} \frac{1}{C_{sub}} \frac{1}{4\omega} I_{ac}.$$
(5-37)

 $\varepsilon$  usually can be considered as a constant value from design point of view. Equations (5-34) can then be simplified as

$$n_{cm} = \frac{1}{2} + \varepsilon \frac{M}{2.92} \left\{ -\frac{3}{2} \sin(\varphi) \cos(2\omega t) + \left(\frac{3}{2} - \frac{M^2}{2}\right) \cos(\varphi) \sin(2\omega t) \right\}.$$
 (5-38)

## 5.3.1 Without 3<sup>rd</sup> Harmonic Injection

The insertion index for the lower arm (upper arm is similar) can be obtained as

$$n_{low} = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{M}{2} \cos(\omega t) + \varepsilon \frac{M}{2.92} \left\{ -\frac{3}{2} \sin(\varphi) \cos(2\omega t) + \left(\frac{3}{2} - \frac{M^2}{2}\right) \cos(\varphi) \sin(2\omega t) \right\}$$
(5-39)

which should satisfy

$$0 \le n_{low} \le 1. \tag{5-40}$$

Based on (5-39), the maximum and minimum of the lower arm insertion index are obtained when  $\cos(\varphi)$  equals to its minimum value, that is

$$n_{low}(max) = 0.5 + (0.5 + 0.26\varepsilon)M \tag{5-41}$$

$$n_{low}(max) = 0.5 - (0.5 + 0.26\varepsilon)M \tag{5-42}$$

The limitation on the modulation index can be obtained as

$$M \le \frac{1}{1 + 0.52\varepsilon}.\tag{5-43}$$

It shows that the maximum modulation index is smaller than 1, and larger capacitor voltage ripple leads to more reduction.

## 5.3.2 With 3<sup>rd</sup> Harmonic Injection

A third-order harmonic is usually added to the modulation signal to increase the dc voltage utilization. In the two-level converter case, the maximum modulation index can be increased from 1 to 1.155. But the implementation of circulating current control in MMC would also impact the maximum modulation index. With the third-order harmonic injection, the differential mode component of the insertion indices is changed to

$$n_{dm} = \frac{M}{2} \left[ \cos(\omega t) - \frac{1}{6} \cos(3\omega t) \right]. \tag{5-44}$$

Similarly, (5-37) should be updated to

$$\varepsilon = 0.68 \cdot \frac{N}{v_{dc}} \frac{1}{C_{sub}} \frac{1}{4\omega} I_{ac}.$$
(5-45)

The common mode compensating component can then be calculated as

$$\Delta n_{cm} = \varepsilon \frac{M}{2.72} \left\{ \left( \frac{19}{12} - \frac{7M^2}{12} \right) \cos(\varphi) \sin(2\omega t) - \frac{17}{12} \sin(\varphi) \cos(2\omega t) \right\}.$$
 (5-46)

By calculating the maximum and minimum values of  $n_{low}$ , the limitation on the modulation index is obtained as

$$M \le \frac{1}{0.87 + 0.70\varepsilon}.$$
(5-47)

The limitations on modulation indices for the cases without and with third harmonic component injection are given in (5-43) and (5-47). Considering a practical capacitor voltage ripple requirement of 10%, the maximum modulation indices for both cases are

$$M(max) = 0.95$$
 (5-48)

$$M(max)_{3rd} = 1.06. (5-49)$$

Therefore, if the submodule capacitance is designed for 10% voltage ripple, the maximum modulation index is reduced by 5% (from 1 to 0.95) by implementing the circulating current control. And if considering the third harmonic component injection, the reduced percentage is even around 8% (from 1.155 to 1.06). These decreases are not negligible, and should be considered for the nominal modulation index selection for MMC at the design stage.

#### 5.4 Simulation Verification

A MMC simulation model is built in MATLAB to verify the above theoretical calculations and analysis. It operates at inverter mode, with the rated power at 250 MVA, rated dc and ac voltages at 300 kV and 161 kV, respectively. The submodule capacitance is designed to allow a maximum of 10% average voltage ripple. The submodule number is selected as 4 to reduce the simulation time, while this should not affect the validity of the verification.

The validity of the MMC model derived in (5-13)-(5-14) and (5-17)-(5-18) is first verified.

Figure 5-1 shows the steady state values for  $i_{ac}$ ,  $i_{cm}$ ,  $v_{cm_c}$  and  $v_{dm_c}$  at full load with power factor of  $\sqrt{3}/2$ . The simulation results match the calculation very well. Other operating conditions are also simulated, and all show a good match between the simulation and calculation. Figure 5-2 and Figure 5-3 show the comparison of  $n_{dm}$ ,  $\Delta n_{cm}$  and  $n_{low}$  for the cases without and with third harmonic injection. The accuracy of the derived expression of  $\Delta n_{cm}$  is verified. It also shows that the shape of  $n_{low}$  is slightly changed because of the compensating component.

To verify the maximum modulation index calculation, MMC operates at the worst case with  $\sqrt{3}/2$  power factor. Figure 5-4 and Figure 5-5 show the lower arm insertion index under different modulation indices. Without third harmonic injection, the modulation signal starts to hit the limit when M = 0.95; with third harmonic component injection, the maximum modulation index is 1.05. The results match the calculations in (5-48) and (5-49).



Figure 5-1. Steady state simulation results of the defined MMC system.



Figure 5-2. Lower arm modulation signal components.



Figure 5-3. Lower arm modulation signal components with 3<sup>rd</sup> harmonic injection.



Figure 5-4. Lower arm modulation signal under different modulation indices.



Figure 5-5. Lower arm modulation signal under different modulation indices with 3<sup>rd</sup> harmonic injection.

#### 5.5 Experimental Verification

The three-phase MMC prototype with 2 submodules per arm introduced in subsection 3.4 is used. The arm inductance is chosen as 0.26 mH. The prototype is connected to a constant dc voltage source operating at inverter mode and with three-phase balanced passive load of inductors and resistors. The resistance of each phase is 3.6  $\Omega$  and the inductance is 5.5 mH, as to emulate the worst case at power factor of  $\sqrt{3}/2$ . The load impedance of each phase is 4.16  $\Omega$ .

### 5.5.1 Without 3<sup>rd</sup> Harmonic Injection

In the test, the maximum insertion index for each arm is limited to 0.98 due to the dead time implementation. The ratio of capacitor voltage ripple to average capacitor voltage is 5% with selected system parameters. The maximum modulation index in (5-48) can be recalculated as

$$M(max) = \frac{0.96}{1 + 0.52 \times 5\%} = 0.936.$$
 (5-50)

The maximum ac current not causing overmodulation is obtained as

$$I_{ac\_max} = \frac{50 \cdot M(max)}{\sqrt{2} \cdot Z_{load}} = 7.95 \, A. \tag{5-51}$$

Fig. 7(a) and Fig. 7(b) show the experimental results at  $I_{ac} = 7.8$  A and  $I_{ac} = 8$  A respectively. The circulating current as well as the arm currents has some notches in the case when  $I_{ac} = 8$  A. This is the sign of overmodulation. It can be seen more clearly from Fig. 8, which shows the modulation signal components. For the case with  $I_{ac} = 8$  A,  $n_{low}$  becomes flat at its peak value and  $\Delta n_{cm}$  is distorted, which means the converter is overmodulated. Thus the experimental result matches theoretical analysis very well.



Figure 5-6. Experimental results without  $3^{rd}$  harmonic component injection when  $I_{ac} = 7.8 \text{ A}$ 



Figure 5-7. Experimental results without  $3^{rd}$  harmonic component injection when  $I_{ac} = 8$  A.



Figure 5-8. Lower arm modulation signal component comparison for cases when  $I_{ac} = 7.8$  A and  $I_{ac} = 8$  A.

## 5.5.2 With 3<sup>rd</sup> Harmonic Injection

Similarly, the maximum modulation index and maximum ac current not causing overmodulation for the case with 3<sup>rd</sup> harmonic injection can be recalculated, that is

$$M(max) = \frac{0.96}{0.87 + 0.70 \times 5\%} = 1.06.$$
(5-52)

$$I_{ac\_max} = \frac{50 \cdot M(max)}{\sqrt{2} \cdot Z_{load}} = 9 A.$$
(5-53)

Fig. 9(a) and Fig. 9(b) show the experimental results for cases  $I_{ac} = 7.8$  A and  $I_{ac} = 8$  A, respectively. Fig. 10 shows the modulation signal comparison for the two cases. The modulation signal hits the limit for the case with  $I_{ac} = 9$ , which matches the theoretical calculation.



Figure 5-9. Experimental results with  $3^{rd}$  harmonic component injection when  $I_{ac} = 8.8$  A



Figure 5-10. Experimental results with  $3^{rd}$  harmonic component injection when  $I_{ac} = 9$  A.



Figure 5-11. Lower arm modulation signal component comparison for cases when  $I_{ac} = 8.8$  A and  $I_{ac} = 9$  A.

#### 5.6 Conclusion

The circulating current control in MMC adds an extra double fundamental frequency component into the modulation signal. This additional component as a result decreases the converter maximum modulation index which affects the dc voltage utilization. The reduction of the maximum modulation index is related to the submodule capacitance; smaller capacitance leads to larger reduction. If the capacitance is designed based on a 10% voltage ripple requirement, the maximum modulation index could be reduced by 5%, or 8% for the case with third harmonic component injection. This reduction is not negligible and should be considered for the nominal modulation index selection in the converter design. The maximum modulation index reduction phenomenon has been seen in both the simulation and experiment results, and the theoretical analysis is verified.

### 6 Four-Terminal HVDC Testbed

This chapter presents the development of a scaled four-terminal HVDC testbed, including hardware structure, communication architecture and different control schemes. The developed testbed is capable of emulating some typical operation scenarios including system start-up, power variation, line contingency, and converter station failure. Some unique scenarios are also developed and demonstrated, such as online control mode transition and station re-commission. The testbed will serve for the control and protection development in the next few chapters.

#### 6.1 System Structure and Testbed Parameters

Figure 6-1 shows the circuit diagram of the proposed 4-terminal HVDC system with a dc ring topology. This system structure can be used for big city dc infeed with one large station receiving the power from three different power generations. Another potential application would be integrating two offshore wind farms to two onshore ac grids, which is considered in this thesis. In order to develop the testbed, a hypothetic MTDC system is first proposed, for transferring



Figure 6-1. Circuit diagram of the proposed 4-terminal HVDC system.



Figure 6-2. Proposed hypothetic system corresponding to Cape Wind Project in NPCC system.

Description	AC Grid I (Wind Farm I)	AC Grid II (Wind Farm II)	AC Grid III	AC Grid IV
DC voltage	±150 kV	±150 kV	±150 kV	±150 kV
AC voltage	33 kV	33 kV	345 kV	115 kV
Active power	250 MW	200 MW	250 MW	200 MW
Reactive power	_	_	150 Mvar	100 Mvar
Transformer ratio	33 kV/161 kV	33 kV/161 kV	345 kV/161 kV	115 kV/161 kV
	Cable 1	Cable 2	Cable 3	Cable 4
Type, Length	Land 100 km	Submarine 70 km	Submarine 60 km	Land 100 km

Table 5. Parameters of	the hypothetical	system
------------------------	------------------	--------

power from two wind farms in Cape Cod Bay area to two onshore load centers in Massachusetts (U.S.) and Connecticut (U.S.), as shown in Figure 6-2. The system contains 4 power converter stations and 4 transmission cables. The detailed parameters of the proposed system are shown in Table 5. The wind farm power ratings are roughly corresponding to the Cape Wind project [52]. From the geographical point of view, cables 1-3 cross both the land and sea. But for simplicity, cable 1 and cable 4 are assumed as land cables only and cable 2 and cable 3 are submarine cables.

The testbed is developed based on the proposed system with a power scaling factor of 1/50000, as shown in Figure 6-3. The scaling principle is by maintaining the per-unit values of all electrical parameters. Table 6 lists the main parameters of the testbed. 2-level VSC is used, and the detailed circuit diagram in each downscaled power station is shown in Figure 6-4. The converter ac terminal is connected to the grid through interfacing reactors, a pre-charge circuit and an  $Yn/\Delta$  line-frequency transformer.



Figure 6-3. Photograph of the testbed.

DC voltage	400 V	Power rating of VSC 1,3	5 kW
AC voltage (rms)	208 V	Power rating of VSC 2,4	4 kW
Transformer	208 Yn/208 Δ	AC reactor of VSC 1,3	3.2 mH
DC-link capacitance	1.35 mF	AC reactor of VSC 2,4	4 mH
Cable 1 resistance, inductance	0.2 Ω, 2.5 mH	Cable 2 resistance, inductance	0.15 Ω, 2.5 mH
Cable 3 resistance, inductance	0.5 Ω, 2.5 mH	Cable 4 resistance, inductance	1 Ω, 3.5 mH

Table 6. Parameters of the MTDC testbed



Figure 6-4. Circuit diagram and control schemes of the downscaled power station.

On the dc side, the converter connects to the joint of two cables and a discharge resistor is paralleled for dc capacitor energy dissipation after station shut down. The dc cable is emulated by discrete passive elements, according to the lumped  $\pi$  model [53]. The equivalent inductance, capacitance and resistance of each cable in the hypothetical system are obtained from the ABB land and submarine cable data [2], and then scaled for the testbed system. Only equivalent resistors and inductors are installed in the testbed, as the capacitors can be considered as combined into the dc link capacitor of each station.

#### 6.2 Control and Communication

#### Converter control

The converter is digitally controlled, using the Texas Instrument DSP TMS320F28335 as the controller. The converter control schemes are shown in Figure 6-4 as well, with inner current loop and outer dc voltage/active power and reactive power control loops. AC voltage and frequency control are not implemented as the converter is connected to a stiff ac grid. So each converter can either operate at dc voltage and reactive power control mode (Vdc/Q), or active power and reactive power control mode (P/Q).

#### • *Coordinated dc voltage control*

DC voltage control is a main objective and challenge in dc system, similar to controlling the frequency in ac system. An essential requirement is that at any time including during a contingency event, the system should have at least one station participating on the dc voltage control. For instance, if a station responsible for dc voltage control fails, another station in the system has to take over the dc voltage control responsibility automatically, without the communication need. Many coordinated dc voltage control schemes have been introduced in

literature. Voltage margin [54] and voltage droop [55] are two most popular ones and many other schemes are also based on them. These two methods are both implemented in the testbed. Figure 6-5 shows the Vdc-P characteristic curves of the two onshore converters (VSC 3 and 4) for voltage margin control. According to the curves, VSC 3 normally controls dc voltage and VSC 4 operates at P control mode. If for some reason such as a fault, VSC 3 loses the dc voltage control capability, the dc voltage will either increase or decrease until it reaches the voltage margin of VSC 4. After that, VSC 4 changes to dc voltage regulating mode. Therefore, the voltage margin control increases the system robustness in dealing with station outage.

Figure 6-6 shows the Vdc-P characteristic curves for voltage droop control. There is no longer a constant dc voltage or active power reference. Instead, the dc voltage reference is online calculated by a function of the real-time active power, which is the Vdc-P droop control; or otherwise the active power reference is calculated based on dc voltage, that is P-Vdc droop control. With the droop control, both VSC 3 and 4 are participating on the dc voltage control, and if one station fails, the other station can still maintain the dc voltage control.



Figure 6-5. *V<sub>dc</sub>-P* characteristic curve for voltage margin control.



Figure 6-6. *V<sub>dc</sub>-P* characteristic curve for voltage droop control.

Even though only two terminals are shown here as an example, both the voltage margin and droop control can be used for more than two terminals.

#### • Communication

In a real system, a system-level controller is usually needed beyond the station-level controller, responsible for command assignment (e.g. station start, stop, reset commands) and sending control references to each station (e.g. dc voltage, active power, reactive power reference). In the testbed, the system-level controller is fulfilled by another DSP and a human interface communicating to the system-level controller is built using NI LabVIEW.

Figure 6-7 shows the communication architecture in the testbed. The communication between computer (LabVIEW interface) and system-level controller is realized through RS232, and the system-level controller communicates with station-level controllers through CAN bus in DSP. The LabVIEW interface sends the commands and control references to system controller, and then the system controller dispatches the data to each station. At the same time, each station gathers the data like station status and some important measurements, and sends them to system controller. The system controller packages data and sends to Labview for real-time monitoring.



Figure 6-7. Communication architecture of the MTDC testbed.

#### 6.3 Operation Scenario Emulation

A main purpose of developing the testbed is to understand the operation and control of the MTDC system. Therefore, the developed testbed should be capable to emulate the typical MTDC operation scenarios and demonstrate the basic control schemes. Corresponding test results will be presented in this section. In addition, several unique operation scenarios are also emulated, which have not been presented in any other testbeds but could be necessary in the real system. The emulated scenarios include:

- a) system start-up
- b) station online re-commission
- c) station power variation
- d) station online mode transition
- e) station outage

The labeling of traces in the waveforms is declared here:  $V_{dc}$ ,  $I_{dc}$ ,  $I_{ac}$  represent the dc voltage, dc current and ac current, all at the converter terminals. The number in the subscript indicates which converter it belongs to, e.g.  $V_{dc1}$  represents the dc voltage of VSC 1. Also it should be noted that the positive active power is defined as power injecting from dc to ac.

#### A. System Start-up

The whole system may be shut down due to some severe faults. After the fault is cleared, MTDC system needs to restart quickly and safely. To emulate this scenario, the start-up procedure in the testbed is as follows: 1) Make sure all four cables are connected and close the dc side contactors C3 (in Figure 6-4) of all four stations. 2) Close the ac side contactor C1 of VSC 3, and the dc voltage is built up by diode rectifier through pre-charge resistor. 3) Bypass the pre-charge resistor by closing C2 and enable the dc voltage control of VSC 3. The dc voltage is then ramped to the rated value. 4) Close C2 and C3 in other stations and start the converters as P/Q mode.



Figure 6-8. Waveform of system start-up.

This start-up procedure charges the dc-link capacitors of all four stations and dc cables at the same time. It avoids the high inrush current for energizing dc cable separately. The waveform during start-up is shown in Figure 6-8.

#### B. System Online Re-commission

If a station is shut down due to fault or maintenance purpose, the remaining system should operate continuously. After repair or maintenance, the station should re-commission online and not require the shutdown of the whole system. In [56], the re-commission method (**method I**) is to first build up the station dc voltage, and then close the dc switch while blocking the converter. The difficulty of this method is that the high voltage dc switch usually takes a long time to close (~ 10 seconds), which may cause a certain dc voltage decrease due to the dc link capacitor discharge. Therefore, there is voltage difference between the two sides of the dc switch when it is actually closed, generating a surge current. In [56], the voltage decray during the switch actuation delay time is estimated and the station dc voltage is charged to the grid side dc voltage plus voltage decray.

However, it is not easy to estimate the voltage decay, as the delay time is not always the same and more importantly the dc voltage discharge rate is difficult to calculate. An alternative re-commission method (**method II**) is not to block the converter, and maintain dc voltage regulating while closing the dc switch. It avoids the need to estimate the voltage decay, but the converter devices become vulnerable during the re-commission. Even though the station dc voltage is controlled equal to the grid side dc voltage, surge current may still occur and flows through the converter devices due to possible measurement or control error.

Both methods have been tested, and the test results are shown in Figure 6-9 and Figure 6-10. As the installed low voltage dc contactor closes much faster than the high voltage counterpart, the voltage decay is thus small. To emulate the inaccuracy of the voltage decay estimation for method I, the station dc voltage is charged to 2% higher than the grid side dc voltage. As for comparison, this 2% error is also applied for method II to account for the measurement and control error. As shown in the figures, the grid side dc voltage has a voltage spike when the switch is closed for both methods. This is mainly caused by the mechanical switch contact bounce, which however should not occur in the high voltage situation due to the arcing.

As shown in Figure 6-9, there is no ac current during the re-commission process as the converter is blocked. But dc current has a spike, small here but can become larger depending on the voltage difference between the two sides of dc contactor. In Figure 6-10, both ac and dc currents have a nearly step change. This is because the system power flow is changed after station re-commission. The after re-commission ac and dc currents also depend on the voltage



Figure 6-9. Waveform of station re-commission with method I.



Figure 6-10. Waveform of station re-commission with method II.

difference between two sides of the dc switch, and larger voltage difference leads to higher current. But fortunately, the measurement and control error will not be that large (2% assumption is already very large), so method II should work well too.

The test results show that method I is a safer option, but more complicated. Method II on the contrary is simpler, and while the risk to converter power devices exists, it is relatively low.

#### C. Station Power Variation

Station power variation is one of the most typical scenarios of MTDC operation, especially for connecting offshore wind farm, where the generated power varies all the time. Both dc voltage margin and droop control are tested for this scenario. The waveforms are shown in Figure 6-11 and Figure 6-12, respectively.

*1)* Voltage margin control: the tested transients include: (I) VSC 1 active power ramps to - 0.8 p.u.; (II) VSC 1 active power ramps from -0.8 p.u. to 0.8 p.u.; (III) VSC 2 reactive power ramps to 0.4 p.u.; (IV) VSC 4 active power ramps to -0.8 p.u.. As shown in Figure 6-11, VSC 3



Figure 6-11. Waveform of station power variation with margin control.



Figure 6-12. Waveform of station power variation with droop control.
adjusts its active power to achieve the power balance in dc grid, and the dc voltages are maintained well during all transients.

2) Voltage droop control: VSC 1 and 2 operate at P/Q mode, and VSC 3 and 4 operate at  $V_{dc}$ -P droop mode. The tested transients are almost the same as above except for step IV. With droop control, VSC 4 is not able to change the active power generation directly. Compared to the above case with voltage margin control, VSC 3 and 4 both adjust their active power to balance the system as shown in Figure 6-12. The droop control lets the two converters share the responsibility for power balance.

The dc voltages are maintained well for both methods. Therefore, the preference of voltage margin or droop control mainly depends on the system power dispatch requirement.

#### D. System Online Mode Transition

More than one control mode is usually deployed in each station. In the testbed, four control modes are implemented, which are  $V_{dc}$  control, P control,  $V_{dc}$ -P droop, and P- $V_{dc}$  droop. There is the need, due to system requirements like power dispatch, to online change station control mode while not shutting them down. Therefore, converter online mode transition is required. Figure 6-13 shows the simplified block diagrams for  $V_{dc}$  and P control.



Figure 6-13. Control block diagrams of  $V_{dc}/Q$  and P/Q modes.

Transition from P control to  $V_{dc}$  control can be realized through the following steps: 1) overwrite the integrator in  $V_{dc}$  control by the current d-axis current reference ( $I_{dref}$ ), and the dc voltage reference ( $V_{dcref}$ ) uses the currently measured dc voltage as the initial value; 2) ramp the  $V_{dcref}$  to its target value. This ensures no abrupt  $I_{dref}$  transient during the mode transition. The transition from  $V_{dc}$  control to P control is similar, from  $V_{dc}$  control to P control is similar, and even simpler as P control is an open loop. It is fulfilled by overwriting the active power reference ( $P_{ref}$ ) by the currently measured P, and then ramp  $P_{ref}$  to the target value.

Figure 6-14 shows the test result including different mode transitions. Originally, VSC 3 operates at  $V_{dc}$  control mode and the rest of the converters are at P control mode. VSC 4 and VSC 3 change to  $V_{dc}$ -P droop mode at  $t_1$  and  $t_2$ , respectively. VSC 1 and VSC 2 then change to P- $V_{dc}$  droop mode at  $t_3$  and  $t_4$ , respectively. As shown in the waveform, the dc voltages are controlled well during all transitions, and dc currents change smoothly.



Figure 6-14. Waveform of station online mode transition.

#### E. Station Failure

Under some circumstances the station may lose its power transfer capability, like during ac side three-phase short circuit fault or some internal faults. The worst-case scenario is when this happens to a system voltage regulator. As mentioned in Section II, coordinated dc voltage control is needed to make sure at least one other station will automatically take over the voltage regulation responsibility, to avoid system collapse. This scenario has been tested for the MTDC system with voltage margin and droop control, respectively.

1) Voltage margin control: the test result is shown in Figure 6-15. The VSC 3, which is normally controlling the dc voltage, is blocked at  $t_1$ . The dc voltage increases quickly and reaches the voltage limit of VSC 1. Then VSC 1 changes to V<sub>dc</sub> control mode and starts to regulate the dc voltage. The active power of VSC 1 is immediately reduced for power balance. As shown in the waveform, the dc voltage can be controlled well. At  $t_2$ , VSC 3 is recommissioned. Similar to the mode transition, the initial dc voltage reference of VSC 3 is set equal to the measured dc voltage, and then slowly decreases to the target value. At  $t_3$ , VSC 1 goes back to P control mode and the dc voltage margin control.

2) Voltage droop control: to better demonstrate the effectiveness of droop control, the operating mode of each converter is set as follow: VSC 3 at  $V_{dc}$  control mode, VSC 4 at P control mode, and VSC 1 and 2 at P- $V_{dc}$  mode. The test process is the same as that in the voltage margin case. As shown in Figure 6-16, when VSC 3 is blocked, VSC 1 and 2 together take over the voltage control responsibility and share the active power reduction. The system performs well for this scenario.



Figure 6-15. Waveform of VSC 3 failure with voltage margin control.



Figure 6-16. Waveform of VSC 3 failure with voltage droop control.

### 6.4 Conclusion

A 4-terminal down-scaled HVDC testbed is developed, based on a hypothetic system proposed for transferring power from two offshore wind farms to two onshore load centers. The developed testbed is capable to emulate several most typical operation scenarios, including system startup, power variation and station outage. Two most popular coordinated dc voltage controls – voltage margin and voltage droop, have been implemented and tested. The test results verify their capability to regulate dc voltage well in different conditions, and also reveal that their main difference is on the system power dispatch. Two unique scenarios, station online recommission and mode transition, are also demonstrated. For station online re-commission, a new method is proposed and compared with an existing method. The proposed one has the benefit of easy implementation, but will cause inrush current which flows through the power devices in the converter. Fortunately, the inrush current is not large and should not damage the converter.

# 7 DC Line Current Control in MTDC

In this chapter, a dc line current control is proposed with the capability to regulate dc line current through station control. One benefit of this control is to allow the use of dc disconnects for online dc line trip. By controlling the line current to near zero, the dc disconnects with very low current breaking capability is able to trip a line without the need to de-energize the entire dc system, which is a much cheaper solution compared to utilizing a dc circuit breaker. Based on this control, a dc line current limiting function is further proposed. It helps to prevent dc line overloading, as the line current within the maximum allowable value. The validity of these two control schemes have been verified in the 4-terminal testbed in section 6.

# 7.1 DC Line Disconnection and Reconnection

If dc circuit breakers are installed in the MTDC system, dc lines can be online disconnected and reconnected for maintenance purpose or under situations like dc line short circuit fault. In the testbed, circuit breakers are installed at each terminal of the cable. Figure 7-1 shows the test results of disconnecting cable 2 at  $t_1$  and reconnecting it at  $t_2$ . The terminal dc voltages (excluding VSC 3) vary a little after cable 2 is removed, due to the dc system power flow change. No obvious current overshoot is observed during the disconnection and reconnection processes. However, it could occur depending on the system parameters, as this transient is a step change between two different dc grid configurations. The overshoot current should not be a concern for the cable due to the short time duration, but its impact on current protection design should be considered in order to avoid false tripping.



Figure 7-1. Waveform of dc line disconnection and reconnection.

### 7.2 **Proposed DC Line Current Control**

Since a cost-effective HVDC circuit breaker is still not available in the market, dc disconnects are more likely installed in the real system. Compared with the circuit breaker, HVDC disconnect has very limited current blocking capability, for example, 200 A for a commercial product in [57]. Even though the disconnect cannot replace the circuit breaker for interrupting large fault current, it is still desirable if the disconnect can be used to online disconnect the line for maintenance purpose, without de-energizing the entire system. Due to the small current blocking capability of the disconnect, only lines with very little current can be online disconnected. A dc line current control is therefore proposed. The line current will be first controlled to be small, and then get disconnected.

As line current depends on the line impedance and voltage difference between the two terminals, it can be controlled by terminal voltage of either connected station. Figure 7-2(a) shows a simplified block diagram of the proposed dc line current control in one station ( $i_l$  and  $i_{lref}$ )

represent the line current and its reference value). It is similar to dc voltage regulator, except that the dc line current loop becomes the outer loop. The inner loop  $(i_d/i_{dref})$  is the same, which is simplified as one block in the figure. For the controller design, the key is to find the transfer function  $(G_{il})$  between  $i_l$  and  $i_d$ . Figure 7-2(b) gives the converter average model for two-terminal case by considering the other converter as an ideal voltage regulator. The transfer function  $G_{il}$  is derived as

$$G_{il} = \frac{D_d}{Z_{load}/Z_c + 1}.$$
 (7-1)

where  $Z_{load}$  is the equivalent load impedance including line impedance and voltage regulator impedance.  $D_d$  and  $Z_c$  are the d-axis duty cycle and dc-link capacitor impedance, respectively. With the transfer function, the dc line current controller can be designed. For the multi-terminal case, the only difference is the equivalent load impedance. However, the modeling of the multiterminal system is complicated [58], and will not be covered in this dissertation.

Figure 7-3 shows the test result by implementing the line current control in line 1. At  $t_1$ , the line current control is enabled and the reference current is zero. The current of line 1 ramps to zero, while the currents of the rest lines remain almost the same. At  $t_2$ , the reference current is set to 5 A. The waveform shows the line current tracks the reference well. At  $t_3$ , the line current control is disabled and the line 1 current goes back to normal. As shown in Figure 7-3, the line 1 current is controlled well and has little impact on other lines. The dc voltage control will not be impacted either.



(a) Block diagram



(b) Average model of two-station setup

Figure 7-2. DC line current control principle.



Figure 7-3. Waveform of dc line current control.

### 7.3 Proposed DC Line Current Limiting Function

Utilizing the proposed dc line current control, another idea is proposed for current limiting if the line is overloaded. The concept is as follows: when the line current becomes larger than the allowed maximum value, the line current control is "enabled" and regulates the current at the maximum value. If the line current goes back to the normal region, the line current control is automatically "disabled". The implementation of this line current limiting scheme is shown in Figure 7-4, which is similar to the voltage margin control. Two line current regulators are applied with the reference currents equal to the positive and negative maximum allowed line current, respectively. Normally, if the line current is within the maximum value, both line current regulators are saturated, and  $I_{dref}$  is generated by the active power regulator. But if the line is overloaded, one of the line current regulators will be desaturated and limit the current at either positive or negative maximum value.

Figure 7-5 shows a test result by implementing the line current limiting function. The left side waveform is with line current limiting function at a maximum current of 15 A, and the right side waveform is without line current limiting function. At  $t_1$ , the active power of VSC 1 is



Figure 7-4. Implementation of dc line current limiting scheme.



Figure 7-5. Waveform of dc line current limiting function test.

increased, and the line 1 current starts increasing. For the case without the limiting function, the line 1 current goes as high as 17.5 A, while with the limiting function, the current only reaches 15 A, which means the line current control becomes active.

# 7.4 Conclusion

A dc line current control is proposed and verified in the 4-terminal HVDC testbed. This control mainly has two key benefits. First, it facilitates the use of "low-cost" HVDC disconnect to online trip a dc transmission line, instead of the "high-cost" HVDC circuit breaker. Second, an automatic dc line current limiting function is further developed based on this control, which will automatically switch to current control once the transmission line is overloaded.

# 8 MTDC DC Fault Protection

This chapter develops a systematic dc fault protection strategy, utilizing hybrid dc circuit breakers. First, HVDC converters are temporarily blocked if dc voltage drops too much, to protect from overcurrent. Then, hybrid circuit breakers are tripped to cut off the fault current and isolate the faulted line. Finally, the HVDC converters are de-blocked and recovered to normal operating conditions, as soon as dc voltage backs to a safe range. A novel fast and selective twostep fault detection method is proposed by accommodating the special operation mechanism of the hybrid dc circuit breaker. Criteria for blocking HVDC converters and the restart are established. Voltage margin control is found to be helpful for fast system recovery. It simplifies the restart sequence for different converters and reduces the dc voltage variation during the recovery process. The overall protection strategy is demonstrated in a 4-terminal HVDC simulation platform.

### 8.1 Hybrid DC Circuit Breaker

Figure 8-1 shows the configuration of the hybrid dc circuit breaker proposed by ABB [12]. It contains a full solid state dc breaker branch with an additional bypass, formed by an auxiliary semiconductor based dc breaker in series with a fast mechanical disconnect. An inductor is usually in series with the hybrid breaker for current limiting purpose. During normal operation, nearly all the current flows through the bypass and the current in the main breaker is small, which lead to largely reduced losses compared to that of the pure solid state breaker. When a dc fault occurs, the auxiliary dc breaker immediately commutates the fault current to the main dc breaker, and the disconnect starts to open when the commutation is finished. The main dc



Figure 8-1. Configuration of the ABB hybrid dc circuit breaker.

breaker will be tripped once the disconnect reaches enough voltage insulation, and then the fault current flows through the arrester banks, which provide a reverse voltage to decrease the fault current. After the current reaches zero, the disconnecting switch is used to cut off the residual current of the arrestors.

The main dc breaker and auxiliary dc breaker are both semiconductor based, IGBT or IGCT may be used, which can be opened within several  $\mu$ s. The opening time of the hybrid dc circuit breaker is mainly determined by the fast mechanical disconnect. ABB uses Thomson drives, which has fast opening time and compact disconnect design using SF6 as insulating media, achieving an opening time less than 2 ms [59].

#### 8.2 Fault Detection

In a dc system, the dc fault current rising rate is large, such as 3.5 kA/ms in [12]. In addition to shorten the dc circuit breaker opening time, fault detection time is also critical and should be as short as possible, to reduce the dc circuit breaker current rating. On the other hand, the detection method has to be reliable and selective, which means only the circuit breakers at each

end of the faulted line should be tripped. Buigues et al. [60] reviewed the detection methods proposed in the literature, and classifies them into two main categories: 1) travelling wave based method, and 2) current differential method. The basic theory of travelling wave method is that after a fault on the line, the wave of the fault will be travelling from the fault point to the system, along with subsequent reflections from the system to the fault points. The current derivative and voltage derivative are typically measured. Descloux et al. [61] uses the voltage of the limiting inductor for the hybrid breaker, which actually is measuring the fault current derivative. Sneath et al. [62] measures the derivative of the limiting inductor voltage. The advantage of travelling wave method is fast speed, but the drawback is hard to achieve full selectivity. The current differential method is also widely used in ac system protection. It has better selectivity, but needs longer detection time due to the communication between circuit breakers at both ends of the transmission line [63]. Optic fiber can be used, and the communication delay is around 1 ms for 200 km distance [65]. Since the HVDC transmission distance is usually several hundred kilometers, the communication delay could significantly impact the fault clearance time. In this thesis, a new detection method is proposed combining these two methods and achieves both fast speed and selectivity, by utilizing special operation mechanism of the hybrid dc circuit breaker.

As mentioned in subsection 8.1, the hybrid dc circuit breaker operates with two steps: first to open the bypass and then the main dc breaker. A two-step dc fault detection method is proposed to accommodate with the hybrid dc circuit breaker opening procedure. The proposed detection method includes two criteria. The first criterion is based on travelling wave method, and the bypass will open if this criterion is met. The second criterion is based on current differential method. The main dc breaker opens when the fast disconnect reaches enough voltage insulation as well as the fault is confirmed by the current differential criterion. The proposed two-step detection method keeps the selectivity of the current differential method. If the current differential method detects the fault before the fast dc disconnect reaches enough voltage insulation, its longer detection time then does not matter and the detection time of the proposed method is only determined by the fast travelling wave method. Even if the current differential method takes longer time, the detection time of the proposed method is equivalently reduced by 2 ms. Therefore, this two-step detection method provides a frame, to combine a fast detection method and a selective one. Choosing the travelling wave method, but not the overcurrent detection used in [12], is because the travelling wave method still has certain selectivity to ensure the reliable operation if communication fails. In this dissertation, the method in [61] utilizing the voltage of limiting inductor in hybrid circuit breaker is used as the first criterion. And the second criterion uses the current differential method in [63]. The detailed criteria are shown as follows:

Criterion 1: Limiting inductor voltage		Criteria 2: Differential current		
If	$V_L > V_{th+}$ ; Trip	If	$(I_{dc1}+I_{dc2}) > I_{th+};$ Trip	
Else if	$V_L < V_{th-}$ ; Block for 20 ms	Else i	If $(I_{dc1}+I_{dc2}) > I_{th-}$ ; Block for 20 ms	
Else	; Stand By	Else	; Stand By	

where  $V_L$  is the voltage of the circuit breaker limiting inductor,  $I_{dc1}$  and  $I_{dc2}$  are the line currents at the two ends as shown in Figure 8-2.  $V_{th+}$ ,  $V_{th-}$ ,  $I_{th+}$ , and  $I_{th-}$  are thresholds. The selection of these thresholds is explained in [61][63].

To verify the proposed fault detection method, a simulation platform is built in MATLAB based on the MTDC system in subsection 6.1. The hybrid dc circuit is added, with a 20 mH limiting inductor. The system structure is redrawn in Figure 8-3, with detailed system in Table 5.



Figure 8-2. Required measurement for the proposed detection method.



Figure 8-3. Structure of the 4-terminal HVDC system in simulation.

Tał	ole	7.	DC	cabl	e	paramete	rs
-----	-----	----	----	------	---	----------	----

Description	Cable 1	Cable 2	Cable 3	Cable 4
Capacitance	27 µF	14.7 μF	6.6 µF	14 µF
Inductance	32.4 mH	27.4 mH	28.5 mH	40.3 mH
Resistance	2.08 Ω	1.55 Ω	5.95 Ω	10 Ω

The dc cable is represented by a 2-section  $\pi$  model, as shown in Figure 8-4. The cable parameters are given in Table 7. In the simulation, both 2-level converter and MMC are tested. Due to the similarity, only the results with 2-level converter are presented.

Pole-to-pole short circuit fault at two different locations of cable 1 are tested, one at the middle point and the other at the cable end close to VSC 3. Figure 8-5 to Figure 8-8 show the measurements of the limiting inductor voltages and differential currents for these two scenarios.

As shown in the figures, both criteria are selective for these two particular scenarios. However, the threshold voltage for criteria 1 has to selected within a small region of [0.2, 0.3] p.u.. To provide full selectivity, the suitable region for the threshold voltage could be even smaller and may not exist considering different fault locations and short circuit impedances. On the contrary, the differential current criterion has much better selectivity. The inductor voltage threshold is selected as 0.3 p.u., and 5 p.u. for the differential current threshold in the simulation. The detection time is simulated for four different fault scenarios, including pole-to-pole fault and pole-to-ground fault at two different locations, middle point and cable 1 end close to VSC 3.



Figure 8-4. DC cable 2-section  $\pi$  model.



Figure 8-5. Limiting inductor voltage for pole-to-pole fault at the middle point of cable 1.



Figure 8-6. Differential current for pole-to-pole fault at the middle point of cable 1.



Figure 8-7. Limiting inductor voltage for pole-to-pole fault at cable 1 end close to VSC 3.



Figure 8-8. Differential current for pole-to-pole fault at cable 1 end close to VSC 3.

The resulting detection time is summarized in Table 8. For the current differential method, 0.5 ms communication delay is assumed for 100 km distance. The results show that the current differential method is slower, but the extra needed detection time is less than 2 ms. So the detection time of the proposed method is determined by the fast travelling wave method.

# 8.3 Recovery Strategy

# 8.3.1 Temporarily Blocking HVDC Converters

As mentioned in subsection 2.3, the protection methods utilizing ac circuit breaker or fault tolerant converter need to temporarily block the HVDC converters, in order to de-energize the dc system. For the system with hybrid dc circuit breaker, the need to block converters depends on many system conditions.

	Criterion 1: Limiting inductor voltage				
Circuit Breaker Position	Pole t	o Pole	Pole to Ground		
	Mid. point	Cable end	Mid. point	Cable end	
near VSC 1	0.53 ms	1.06 ms	0.53 ms	1.07 ms	
Near VSC 3	0.53 ms	0 ms	0.53 ms	0 ms	
	Criterion 2: Differential current				
Circuit Breaker Position	Pole t	o Pole	Pole to Ground		
	Mid. point	Cable end	Mid. point	Cable end	
near VSC 1	1.22 ms	1.12 ms	1.22 ms	1.09 ms	
Near VSC 3	1.22 ms	1.12 ms	1.22 ms	1.09 ms	

Table 8. Detection time of different dc fault scenarios on cable 1

Figure 8-9 shows the dc voltages for a pole-to-pole fault at the middle point of cable 1. The fault occurs at 1 s and the proposed detection method in the circuit breaker is implemented. There is a large dc voltage drop, which causes 2.6 p.u. ac overcurrent as shown in Figure 8-10. The converters thus need to be blocked for safety. The dc voltage drop varies under different conditions, such as converter is located far away from the fault location, high fault impedance, or larger dc-link capacitors. Figure 8-11 shows the results for a system with 5 times larger dc-link capacitor and a relatively large fault impedance of 10  $\Omega$  [64]. The dc voltage drop is small, and there is no ac overcurrent. For the pole-to-ground fault at the middle point of cable 1, both the ac overcurrent and dc voltage drop are much reduced compared to the previous pole-to-pole fault. The ac overcurrent is usually less than 2 p.u. which means no converter needs to shut down.

With hybrid circuit breaker, the HVDC converters may still need to be temporarily blocked under certain conditions for pole-to-pole fault. The ac overcurrent protection in each converter can be used as the converter blocking criterion. The dc fault detection in stations is also needed, to distinguish from other faults. The detection method in point-to-point HVDC system can be used [65], with the detailed criteria as:

- 1. Pole-to-pole fault detection criterion:  $V_{dc} < 0.8$  p.u. &  $I_{dc} > 1.5$  p.u.
- 2. Pole-to-ground fault detection criterion:  $(V_p + V_n) > 0.1$  p.u.

where  $V_{dc}$  and  $I_{dc}$  are the converter terminal dc voltage and current;  $V_p$  and  $V_n$  are the converter terminal positive pole and negative pole to ground voltage.

Figure 8-13 shows the dc voltages with the detection method in stations during the pole-topole fault. All four stations are blocked with the detection criteria. The maximum ac current in VSC 1 is still above 2 p.u.; however, it flows through the anti-parallel diode not the IGBT.



Figure 8-9. DC voltages of pole-to-pole fault at the middle point of cable 1.



Figure 8-10. AC currents of pole-to-pole fault at the middle point of cable 1.



Figure 8-11. DC voltages during fault for system with larger dc-link capacitor.



Figure 8-12. AC currents during fault for system with larger dc-link capacitor.



Figure 8-13. DC voltages during fault if the converters are blocked.



Figure 8-14. AC currents during fault if the converters are blocked.

#### 8.3.2 Restart HVDC Converters

If HVDC converters are temporarily blocked, they should restart as quickly as possible. As shown in Figure 8-13, the dc voltage drops first and quickly comes back due to the diode rectification. The dc voltage will then have a resonance. To ensure safe operation, the converter should restart only when the dc voltage resonance dies down. So the criterion for converter to restart is developed as:

• The dc voltage is within a predefined safe range longer than certain time (10 ms is considered in this thesis).

The sequence to restart different converters is important. The dc voltage regulating converter should restart first to re-establish the dc voltage, which can be realized by using a larger voltage range for the restart criterion. The active power regulating converters use smaller voltage ranges, and should restart later. However, there are still multiple active power regulating converters, and the restart sequence also matters. The converters with the same power flow direction should not restart at the same time or too close, otherwise the voltage regulating converter will hit its maximum power limit and cause large dc voltage variation. Relying on the communication is viable, but will slow down the recovery process and is inconvenient. Even if the restart sequence does not have problem, the dc voltage regulation is hard due to the step power change on those active power regulating converters. Figure 8-15 and Figure 8-16 show the dc voltages and ac currents with the developed restart criterion for a pole-to-pole fault on the middle point of cable 1. It can be seen there is an overshoot as high as 1.25 p.u. on the dc voltages during the restart process. Some other fault locations may have even larger dc voltage variation. Ramping the active power reference during restart may help to reduce the dc voltage overshoot; however, the total recovery time can be longer and it is hard to choose a reasonable ramping rate.



Figure 8-15. DC voltages during the restart process.



Figure 8-16. AC currents during the restart process.



Figure 8-17. DC voltages during the restart process with voltage margin control.



Figure 8-18. AC currents during the restart process with voltage margin control.

Therefore, a strategy without the need to emphasize the station restart sequence and with less stress on the dc voltage regulating converter is preferred. The voltage margin control is found to be helpful. The voltage margin control is a most common coordinated dc voltage control in MTDC system [54]. It provides an automatic shift between dc voltage control and active power control when the voltage or active power hits the predefined boundaries. For restarting the active power converters, voltage margin control will change the converter to regulating the dc voltage if needed, and slowly increase the active power instead of a step change. This is sort of automatically providing a most reasonable ramp rate for each station. Figure 8-17 and Figure 8-18 show the dc voltage and ac current with the assistance of voltage margin control as shown in Figure 8-15. It can also be seen that the active power regulating converters restart with an active power ramp, even though a step reference is given due to the voltage margin control.

# 8.4 Experimental Verification

To further verify the proposed dc fault protection strategy, experimental tests are conducted in the developed MTDC testbed. In order to test the dc fault, two dc circuit breakers are developed and installed. Also to better characterize the dc fault, parasitic capacitors are added into the dc cable in the MTDC testbed.

## 8.4.1 Solid State Circuit Breaker Development

Even though hybrid dc circuit breaker is considered in this Chapter, solid state circuit breaker is developed and used for the experimental verification. This is because the ultra-fast mechanical switch in the hybrid dc circuit breaker is more expensive than the solid state switch at low voltage. To emulate the opening time of the ultra-fast mechanical switch, a time delay is programmed after the fault detection in the solid state circuit breaker. So the solid state circuit breaker can be functionally like the hybrid dc circuit breaker, and it provides the flexibility to represent different ultra-fast mechanical switch opening time.

Figure 8-19 shows the circuit diagram of the developed solid state circuit breaker. In each pole, two MOSFETs are series connected but in reverse direction, and MOV is paralleled for energy absorbing. The contactor is used to isolate the fault after the current decreases to zero, whose function is similar to the disconnecting switch in hybrid dc circuit breaker. The fuse is for protection in case of breaker failure.

Two 200 V/100 A solid state circuit breakers have been developed and the main parameters are shown in Table 9. It should be mentioned that in this Chapter, the dc voltage of the MTDC testbed is reduced to 200 V. The voltage rating of the MOV is selected to generate an approximate 1.5 times of the rated dc voltage during the maximum fault current. For the selected



Figure 8-19. Circuit diagram of the solid state circuit breaker.

Description	Parameter	Function	Manufacture #
MOSFET Q1-Q4	V <sub>ds</sub> =500V, I <sub>d</sub> =110A@25°	Cut off fault current, Overcurrent protection	STY105NM50N
MOV	$V_{m(dc)} = 65V, V_c = 135V@20A,$ Need 2 parallel	Energy absorb circuit	Littelfuse V20E40P
Contactor	Opening time: 20~40 ms	Cut off the residual current	SIE 3RT1036- 1AP60
Fuse	Fuse 500 Vdc, 30A		Mcmaster 5054T19

Table 9. Components of the solid state circuit breaker

MOV as shown in Table 9, the continuous allowed dc voltage is 65 V. During a dc short circuit fault, each MOV may still hold up as high as half of the dc voltage (100 V) after the MOSFETs are turned off, which is higher than the continuous allowed dc voltage of the MOV. To prevent the MOVs absorbing too much energy to blow up, the contactor has to be opened after the fault current is reduced to almost zero. If the MOV is selected with a continuous dc voltage rating higher than 100 V, its voltage at maximum fault current is increased, as well as the maximum voltage applied on the MOSFETs. In the high voltage application, power device's voltage rating increase usually cost more than adding a disconnector.

Figure 8-20 shows the photo of the developed solid state circuit breaker. A TI TMS320F28335 DSP developer board is used as the digital controller. Figure 8-21 shows the experimental setup for the circuit breaker test. The dc fault detection criterion 1 in Section 0 of utilizing the limiting inductor voltage is used.



Figure 8-20. Photo of the developed solid state circuit breaker.



Figure 8-21. Experimental setup for solid state circuit breaker test.



Figure 8-22. Test result with zero time delay of mechanical switch emulation.



Figure 8-23. 100 A current breaking capability test.

The test procedure is as follows:

1) Close contactor 1, turn on the solid state circuit breaker (both MOSFETs and contactor 2) and open the contactor 3; 200 V dc voltage is applied, and the continuous current flowing through the circuit breaker is low due to the large resistance of  $R_1$ .

2) Close contactor 3 and open contactor 1 at the same time;  $R_2$  is chosen with small resistance to emulate the dc fault.

Figure 8-22 shows the test result with zero time delay of the mechanical switch emulation. At  $t_0$ , the fault is created and the circuit breaker current increases. There is a step change on the inductor voltage, which makes it suitable for fast fault detection. At  $t_1$ , the solid state circuit breaker is tripped. The circuit breaker immediately takes over the voltage drop on the inductor, and the current starts to decrease. Since there is no programmable time delay in this test, the time difference between  $t_0$  and  $t_1$  (~ 100 us) is the required detection time of this method. It is around 2 sampling period in DSP, which includes 1 sampling period for the DSP execution. And the other sampling period required is because the filter of the voltage measurement reduces the sharpness of the sampled inductor voltage in DSP.

Figure 8-23 shows the test result under the rated current. The time delay after fault detection is tuned to achieve the maximum fault current at 100 A. It shows that the circuit breaker works fine at this condition and the voltages applied on the positive and negative branches are almost the same.

## 8.4.2 DC Circuit Modification in MTDC Testbed for DC Fault Test

The two developed solid state circuit breakers are installed in the two ends of the cable 1 in the MTDC testbed as shown in Figure 8-24 for the dc fault test. Originally, the dc cable in the



Figure 8-24. System structure with circuit breakers installed.



Figure 8-25. DC circuit in the original testbed.



Figure 8-26. Required dc circuit for dc fault test in the testbed.

Fault type	Fault location	Fault resistance	Delay time
Pole-to-pole	Middle point of cable 1	$1 \Omega, 3 \Omega, 6 \Omega$	0 ~ 5 ms
Pole-to-pole	The two ports of cable 1	$1 \Omega, 3 \Omega, 6 \Omega$	0 ~ 5 ms
Pole-to-ground	Middle point of cable 1	$0.5 \Omega, 1.5 \Omega, 3 \Omega$	0 ~ 5 ms
Pole-to-ground	The two ports of cable 1	0.5 Ω, 1.5 Ω, 3 Ω	0 ~ 5 ms

Table 10. DC fault test capability of the updated MTDC testbed

MTDC testbed is represented by a lumped circuit only including an inductor and resistor. But since the parasitic capacitor is important for the dc fault test, they will be added into the testbed.

Figure 8-25 shows the original dc circuit in the MTDC testbed, and Figure 8-26 shows the updated dc circuit with dc circuit breakers. Current limiting inductors are needed for the dc circuit breaker. Through the simulation with different sections of  $\pi$ -model for the cable, it is found that there is little difference when there are two or more sections. If only one section is used, the dc grid resonance may be different as well as the fault current. However, since the experimental test in this testbed is mainly to verify the viability of the proposed strategy, these differences are not that important. One-section  $\pi$ -model is used in cable without fault test. For the cable to be tested (cable 1), two-section model is used to allow fault in the middle point.

Figure 8-24 shows the updated system structure for the dc fault test. The dc fault can be created in three different locations including middle point of cable 1, the port of cable 1 close to VSC 1, and the port of cable 1 close to VSC 3. The short circuit fault is created by a contactor in series with resistors with small resistance. This test setup is also capable to do the pole-to-ground fault. The middle points of dc capacitors in converters and parasitic capacitors in dc cables are then required to connect to the ground. Table 10 lists the different fault conditions that can be

tested in the updated MTDC testbed. And the three sets of fault resistances are corresponding to the typical high, normal and small fault impedances according to [64].

## 8.4.3 Fault Detection Test

Figure 8-27 shows the waveforms of a pole-to-ground fault at the middle point of cable 1 with 3  $\Omega$  fault resistance. In order to get the pure fault detection time, no time delay is programmed for the circuit breaker. The detection method measuring the dc limiting inductor voltage is used, and the threshold for circuit breaker trip is set as 40 V (0.2 p.u.). Since the fault occurs at the middle point, both the limiting inductor voltages and circuit breaker currents are similar in the two circuit breakers. The limiting inductor voltage does not have a step change as in Figure 8-22, because the capacitors in dc cables, which represents the traveling waves in the real system.



Figure 8-27. Pole-to-ground fault test at cable 1 middle point with 3  $\Omega$  fault resistance.


Figure 8-28. Zoomed-in waveform of Figure 8-27.

Figure 8-28 shows the zoomed-in waveforms of Figure 8-27. The limiting inductor voltage takes around 400  $\mu$ s to reach the protection threshold, which is less than the 530  $\mu$ s in the simulation as shown in Table 8. However, considering the threshold voltage in the simulation (0.3 p.u.) is higher than the experiment and cable parameters are not exactly the same as the scaled values from the simulation, these results are reasonable. The circuit breaker trips around 130  $\mu$ s after the limiting inductor voltage reaches the threshold voltage, which is also close to the standalone test result in Figure 8-22.

Figure 8-29 shows the waveforms for a pole-to-ground fault test at cable 1 port near VSC 3. Due to the distance differences of two circuit breakers, the detection times are also different, which is consistent with the analysis and simulation results.

Figure 8-30 and Figure 8-31 shows the test results with larger fault resistance. The fault can also be detected with this method.



Figure 8-29. Pole-to-ground fault test at cable 1 port near VSC 3 with 3  $\Omega$  fault resistance.



Figure 8-30. Pole-to-ground fault test at cable 1 middle point with 6  $\Omega$  fault resistance.



Figure 8-31. Pole-to-ground fault test at cable 1 port near VSC 3 with 6  $\Omega$  fault resistance.

#### 8.4.4 Fault Test without Blocking HVDC Converters

This section shows the test results with the fault detections in HVDC converters disabled on purpose, to better show the system performance after a fault and evaluate the impact of control and circuit breaker delay time.

Figure 8-32 shows the test results of a pole-to-pole fault at cable 1 port near VSC 3. The test conditions are: 1  $\Omega$  fault resistance, 4 ms circuit breaker delay time and zero converter normal current. At  $t_0$ , the fault occurs and the dc fault currents flowing through the circuit breakers increase immediately. As shown in the waveforms, the converter dc voltages drop immediately and the ac currents increase. At  $t_1$ , the circuit breakers at both ports of cable 1 trip, as can be seen from the circuit breaker voltage waveforms. The circuit breaker voltages step to around 100 V, which is related to the MOV curves and current flowing through the circuit breaker. At the same time, the dc voltages start to recover and the circuit breaker currents are decreasing. Since the converters are not shut down, the dc system voltage is still applied on the circuit breakers. So

there is current still flowing through circuit breakers even though they are tripped, as well as the ac current of VSC 3 which regulates the dc voltage. After the circuit breaker current is less than a threshold for around 40 ms, the contactor is opened at  $t_2$  to fully isolate the fault.

As shown in Figure 8-32, the maximum fault current flowing through the circuit breaker reaches around 60 A, which is below the circuit breaker current rating. The maximum ac current is 25 A, which is around 1.3 p.u. (base current is 19.6 A). The dc voltage of VSC 3 drops as low as half of the rated value. Figure 8-33 shows the test results with a smaller circuit breaker delay time (0.5 ms). The maximum circuit breaker fault current is much reduced, as well as the dc voltage drop. The maximum ac current, on the contrary, is only slightly reduced from 25 A to 20 A. The test results show that the shorter circuit breaker delay time, i.e. shorter opening time of



Figure 8-32. Pole-to-pole fault at cable 1 port near VSC 3 (1  $\Omega$  fault resistance, 4 ms circuit breaker delay time, zero converter normal current).



Figure 8-33. Pole-to-pole fault at cable 1 port near VSC 3 (1  $\Omega$  fault resistance, 0.5 ms delay time, zero converter normal current).

the ultra-fast mechanical switch in hybrid circuit breaker, leads to much reduced fault currents in the circuit breakers. This means that shorter circuit breaker delay time can reduce the current rating of the circuit breaker. Also with faster dc circuit breaker opening time, the disturbance caused by the dc fault can be reduced. Both the dc voltage drop and the ac fault current are smaller, and the system may be able to continuously operate without blocking the converters.

Figure 8-34 and Figure 8-35 show the test results of pole-to-ground fault under similar conditions. For fair comparison, the fault resistance is selected as half (0.5  $\Omega$ ) of that in the pole-to-pole fault tests. For the fault test with 4 ms circuit breaker delay time, the dc voltage drops are smaller than that in pole-to-pole fault, as well as the ac current. The circuit breaker fault current is also smaller than the pole-to-pole fault, which is because the pole-to-ground voltage at the converter terminal drops faster than the pole-to-pole voltage.



Figure 8-34. Pole-to-ground fault at cable 1 port near VSC 3 (0.5  $\Omega$  fault resistance, 4 ms delay

time, zero converter normal current).



Figure 8-35. Pole-to-ground fault at cable 1 port near VSC 3 (0.5  $\Omega$  fault resistance, 0.5 ms delay

time, zero converter normal current).

Faster circuit breaker opening time, similarly, leads to much reduced circuit breaker fault current and dc system voltage drop for pole-to-ground fault as shown in Figure 8-35. These test results verify that the pole-to-ground fault is less severe than the pole-to-pole fault, and the circuit breaker delay time makes a big difference on the system performance during fault.

Figure 8-36 to Figure 8-39 summarize the test results for different circuit breaker delay times under different test conditions. Some preliminary conclusions from these results are: 1) dc voltage drop becomes larger with longer circuit breaker delay time for pole-to-pole fault; for pole-to-ground fault, the dc voltage is almost constant when the delay time is large; 2) dc fault current in the circuit breaker increases with the circuit breaker delay time for both pole-to-pole and pole-to-ground faults; because the fault impedance is not zero, the fault currents are almost close to the theoretical maximum fault current which is related to the tested fault resistance, when the delay time is large; 3) the maximum ac currents are almost the same under different circuit breaker delay times for both pole-to-pole and pole to ground faults, and the values are pretty similar for these two fault types.

The maximum ac current during the dc fault is related to the ac current limitation in the control and the dc voltage drop. For the MTDC testbed, the converter is in overmodulation when the dc voltage drops to less than 0.75 p.u. And if considering the ac side inductor, the dc voltage can be even lower. In the testbed, the dc capacitor is around 2 times larger than the simulation in section 8.3, so the dc voltage drop is smaller. For the pole-to-ground fault, as shown in Figure 8-38 and Figure 8-39, the dc voltages are still higher than 0.75 p.u. So the maximum ac fault current is limited at around 1 p.u. (19.6 A). For the pole-to-pole fault, the dc voltage may drop to lower than 0.75 p.u. when the circuit breaker delay time is long, but since this time duration is short, the ac fault current may still be limited at 1 p.u. or just a little bit higher.



Figure 8-36. Test Results of different delay times for pole-to-pole fault at cable 1 port near VSC

3 (1  $\Omega$  fault resistance, zero converter normal current).



Figure 8-37. Test Results of different delay times for pole-to-pole fault at cable 1 middle point (1  $\Omega$  fault resistance, zero converter normal current).



Figure 8-38. Test Results of different delay times for pole-to-ground fault at cable 1 port near

VSC 3 (0.5  $\Omega$  fault resistance, zero converter normal current).



Figure 8-39. Test Results of different delay times for pole-to-ground fault at cable 1 middle point  $(0.5 \Omega \text{ fault resistance, zero converter normal current}).$ 

A simulation platform with the same system parameters as in experiment has been developed in Matlab/Simulink. Figure 8-40 shows the simulation results (ac current waveforms) of a pole-to-pole fault at cable 1 port near VSC 3 under the same condition of Figure 8-32. The ac fault current is much larger than the experimental result. By simulating different operating conditions and trying to match the maximum fault current in circuit breaker, maximum ac current and minimum dc voltage, it is found that 0.6  $\Omega$  ac resistance is needed to match the simulation and experimental results. Figure 8-41 shows the summarized results of different circuit breaker delay times for pole-to-pole fault at cable 1 port near VSC 3. They have a good match with the experimental results in Figure 8-36.



Figure 8-40. Simulation results of pole-to-pole fault at cable 1 port near VSC 3 (1  $\Omega$  fault resistance, 4 ms circuit breaker delay time, zero converter normal current).



Figure 8-41. Simulation results of different delay times for pole-to-pole fault at cable 1 port near

VSC 3 (1  $\Omega$  fault resistance, zero converter normal current).



Figure 8-42. Simulation results of different delay times for pole-to-pole fault at cable 1 port near VSC 3 (0  $\Omega$  fault resistance, zero converter normal current).

Utilizing the hardware and simulation platforms, we have conducted the dc fault at different conditions to evaluate the impact of different system parameters, including the dc fault impedance and dc-link capacitance.

## 1) DC fault impedance impact

In the hardware tests, three sets of dc fault resistance are tested corresponding to the high, normal and small fault impedances. In the simulation, the worst case with zero fault impedance is tested, and the test results are summarized in Figure 8-42. Compared to the results in Figure 8-41, the dc voltage drop is much larger, as well as the dc fault current in circuit breaker and ac fault current. The maximum ac fault current is larger than 2 p.u. when the dc circuit breaker opening time is longer than than 3.5 ms, which means the converters need to be shut down.

## 2) DC capacitance impact

In the MTDC testbed, the dc capacitance is designed to store 10 ms energy of rated power, which is 2 times of the typical design. Since it is not convenient to change the dc capacitor in the hardware, the impact of dc capacitance on dc fault is evaluated in simulation. Figure 8-43 summarized the simulation results with dc capacitance designed to store 5 ms energy of rated power, i.e. half of the capacitance as in Figure 8-42. Compared to the results in Figure 8-42, the dc voltage drop becomes larger due to the small dc capacitance. It brings the benefit of reduced fault current in circuit breaker, but it slightly increases the ac fault current (when the circuit breaker opening time is less than 3.5 ms). So with small dc capacitance, the dc circuit breaker needs to be faster to prevent converter shut down, but the current breaking capability can be reduced.



Figure 8-43. Simulation results of different delay times for pole-to-pole fault at cable 1 port near VSC 3 (0  $\Omega$  fault resistance, zero converter normal current, half the dc capacitance).



Figure 8-44. Simulation results of different delay times for pole-to-pole fault at cable 1 port near VSC 3 (0  $\Omega$  fault resistance, zero converter normal current, 0  $\Omega$  ac resistance).

#### 3) AC resistance impact

To match the simulation and experimental results, additional ac resistance is added in the simulation. However, in the real high voltage applications, the ac resistance has to be very small. Therefore, the case with zero ac resistance is simulated and the results are summarized in Figure 8-44. Compared to the results in Figure 8-43, the dc voltage drop and dc fault current in circuit breaker do not change much, but the maximum ac fault current is much larger. Based on the results, the circuit breaker opening time has to be less than 2 ms in order to limit the maximum fault current within 2 p.u..

#### 4) Current limitation impact

From the above experimental and simulation results, we notice that the maximum ac fault current is limited a certain value if the dc voltage is not dropped too low. This is related the ac current limitation in the control, and its impact is evaluated through experiments. Figure 8-45 to Figure 8-47 show the test results with different ac current limitations. With larger ac current limitation, the maximum ac current becomes larger, while the dc voltage drop and dc fault current flowing through circuit breaker are almost the same.

## 5) Power flow impact

The above tests are all conducted with zero converter normal current to better show the ac fault currents. Similar tests with converter current are conducted. VSC 3 typically has the largest ac fault current as it regulates the dc voltage, especially when the fault occurs at the cable 1 port near VSC 3.



Figure 8-45. Pole-to-pole fault at cable 1 port near VSC 3 with 0.4 p.u. current limitation (1  $\Omega$ 

fault resistance, 2 ms delay time, zero converter normal current).



Figure 8-46. Pole-to-pole fault at cable 1 port near VSC 3 with 0.8 p.u. current limitation (1  $\Omega$ 

fault resistance, 2 ms delay time, zero converter normal current).



Figure 8-47. Pole-to-pole fault at cable 1 port near VSC 3 with 1.2 p.u. current limitation (1  $\Omega$ 

fault resistance, 2 ms delay time, zero converter normal current).



Figure 8-48. Pole-to-pole fault at cable 1 port near VSC 3 (1  $\Omega$  fault resistance, 4.5 ms delay

time, VSC 3 power flow from dc to ac).



Figure 8-49. Pole-to-pole fault at cable 1 port near VSC 3 (1  $\Omega$  fault resistance, 4.5 ms delay time, VSC 3 power flow from ac to dc).

Two cases are tested: 1) VSC 3 has a power flow from dc to ac, and 2) VSC 3 has a power flow from ac to dc. The test results are shown in Figure 8-48 and Figure 8-49. The maximum ac currents are similar, which verify that they are mainly determined by the ac current limitation. If VSC 3 has the power flow from ac to dc, the dc fault current is larger and the dc voltage drop is larger. Therefore, for the dc fault current or the circuit breaker current rating, the worst case is when the VSC 3 has the largest power from ac to dc.

#### 8.4.5 Recovery Strategy Test

According to the test results in Figure 8-36 to Figure 8-39, the maximum ac fault currents are all limited within 2 p.u. if the dc circuit breaker opening time is less than 5 ms. In other words, for our MTDC testbed, it can maintain continuous operation even during dc short circuit fault, if hybrid dc circuit breakers with less than 5 ms opening time are implemented. Figure 8-50 and Figure 8-51 show the waveforms of all four converters dc voltages and ac currents for pole-



Figure 8-50. Pole-to-pole fault at cable 1 port near VSC 3 (1  $\Omega$  fault resistance, 4.5 ms delay

time, VSC 3 power flow from ac to dc).



Figure 8-51. Pole-to-pole fault at cable 1 middle point (1  $\Omega$  fault resistance, 4.5 ms delay time,

VSC 3 power flow from dc to ac).

to-pole fault at cable 1 port near VSC 3 with different power flow directions of VSC 3. For both conditions, the dc short circuit fault does not cause the dc system shutdown but more likely introduces a large disturbance to the system. And the system can quickly recover by isolating the faulted line.

As explained in Section 8.4.4, the dc fault performance is highly related to the dc fault impedance assumed in the tests and the ac resistance of the hardware setup. If considering the worst case using simulation, converters may need to shut down if the dc circuit breaker is not that fast (e.g. 2 ms in the evaluated system). Definitely, the requirement on circuit breaker opening speed to prevent converters shut down is also related to some other system parameters, such as dc capacitance, system power flow, ac current limitation and dc circuit breaker current limiting inductor.

In order to test the system recovery strategy proposed in Section 8.3.2, fast dc fault detection method is used, instead of the ac overcurrent protection. With more stricter detection criterion, some converters may need to shut down even though the ac current has not reached 2 p.u.. The detection criterion implemented is:  $V_{dc} < 0.8$  p.u. and  $I_{dc} > 1.5$  p.u., and the criterion to restart the converter is :  $V_{dc}$  is within [0.8 p.u., 1.2 p.u.] for more than 50 ms.

Figure 8-52 to Figure 8-54 show the test results with the above mentioned converter detection and recovery criteria, with different circuit breaker delay times. Figure 8-52 shows the case with 1 ms circuit breaker delay time, no converter is shut down. Figure 8-53 shows the case with 1.5 ms circuit breaker delay time, the VSC 3 is shut down due to the dc voltage drop. After VSC 3 is temporary blocked, there will be another converter regulating the dc voltage because of the voltage margin control. Therefore, the VSC 3 voltage comes back to the safe range and after



Figure 8-52. Pole-to-pole fault at cable 1 middle point (1  $\Omega$  fault resistance, 1 ms delay time,

VSC 3 power flow from ac to dc).



Figure 8-53. Pole-to-pole fault at cable 1 middle point (1  $\Omega$  fault resistance, 1.5 ms delay time,

VSC 3 power flow from ac to dc).



Figure 8-54. Pole-to-pole fault at cable 1 middle point (1  $\Omega$  fault resistance, 2 ms delay time, VSC 3 power flow from ac to dc).

another 50 ms delay time, VSC 3 can restart. Again, because of the large dc capacitors and fast dc voltage control, there is no large dc voltage overshoot and a very large ramping rate can be used for fast restart. Figure 8-54 shows the case with 2 ms circuit breaker delay time. VSC 3 and 4 are temporarily blocked, and similarly they can be restarted quickly without large dc overvoltage.

## 8.5 Conclusions

A dc fault protection strategy for MTDC system with hybrid dc circuit breaker is developed. Compared to the methods using ac circuit breaker or fault tolerant converter, the proposed method with hybrid dc circuit breaker does not need to de-energize the whole dc system, which can be faster. The proposed two-step dc fault detection method provides a framework to combine any fast detection method and selective method, while keeping the advantages of both methods. The HVDC converters may still need to be temporarily blocked, even with the hybrid circuit breaker and fast detection method. For the fast system recovery after clearing the fault, voltage margin control can be used to simplify the converter restart sequence.

Solid state circuit breakers are developed with the capability to emulate the hybrid dc circuit breaker using a programmable time delay after fault detection, and installed into the MTDC testbed for dc short circuit fault test. The fast detection method using limiting inductor voltage has been verified and the test results shows that it is possible that the dc system maintains operation with a relative fast dc circuit breaker (< 5 ms opening time) for both pole-to-pole and pole-to-ground faults. Even if the converter requires to shut down in some conditions, the system can be recovered quickly.

# **9** A New DC Fault Tolerant MMC Topology

This chapter proposes a new and potentially lower-cost VSC topology for HVDC transmission with fault current blocking capability. The proposed topology uses a hybrid interrupting circuit with parallel solid-state and mechanical switches in each submodule to allow fast interruption of DC fault current without causing additional conduction losses during normal operation. The operating principle, design methodology and potential benefits and issues of such a converter will be presented.

#### 9.1 Proposed Topology

Inspired by ABB's hybrid dc circuit breaker, a new MMC topology is proposed using a hybrid submodule which adds an ultra-fast mechanical switch on the basis of the clamp-double submodule in [66], as shown in Figure 9-1. The ultra-fast mechanical switch is paralleled with the middle connecting solid-state switch. During normal operation, both the mechanical switch and the paralleled solid-state switch are turned on, but nearly all the current flows through the mechanical switch because of its much lower on-state resistance. Therefore, power loss of the proposed converter is much reduced compared to the MMC based on clamp-double submodule. The power loss should be even comparable to the MMC based on half-bridge submodule, but with fault current blocking capability. When a dc short-circuit fault occurs, the mechanical switch will first commutate the current to the paralleled solid-state switch. With the mechanical switch in open position, the power switch turns off to break the fault current. The opening time of the mechanical switch is critical. A demonstration ultra-fast mechanical switch under a 4 kA/1.5 kV operating condition takes 300  $\mu$ s to commutate the current to a paralleled solid-state

device [73]. By consulting some industry companies, 2 ms might be a reasonable assumption for mechanical switch opening time, which is still fast enough to deal with a dc short circuit fault.

The proposed converter topology has several benefits compared to the above mentioned converter topologies with fault current blocking capability in subsection 2.4. The extra power loss of the proposed converter over the basic MMC is small (~1%), which is largely reduced compared with that of MMC based on clamp-double submodule and definitely other alternative submodule topologies. The proposed converter also has the advantage of no need for series connection of semiconductor devices compared with the hybrid converters, as well as a reduced power loss. Compared with the method of using a hybrid dc circuit breaker and the traditional MMC in section 8, the proposed converter does not need the bypass thyristors in submodules, and it takes advantage of the large submodule capacitors in MMC, avoiding the arrester banks and additional efforts on voltage sharing issue.



Figure 9-1. Proposed converter topology of MMC with hybrid submodule.

#### 9.2 Ultra-Fast Mechanical Switch

For the proposed topology, the mechanical switch in the submodule must be able to commutate the current very quickly to the paralleled interrupting IGBT to limit the maximum fault current. A survey was conducted of available mechanical switch designs, and the Thomsondrive (TD) actuated switch was chosen because of its ultra-fast switching capability. ABB demonstrated in a prototype hybrid breaker that this technology could commutate 4 kA to a parallel IGCT circuit in 300  $\mu$ s, with a voltage rating of 1.5 kV.

Meyer *et al.* [73] described the fault current commutation and interruption in four stages. The approximate durations of these stages are described in Table 11. Figure 9-2 shows the theoretical current characteristic during fault current commutation and interruption, and Figure 9-3 shows experimental results for IGCT current ( $i_{T1}$ ,  $i_{T2}$ ) and TD switch voltage ( $u_d$ ) in [73]. The switch voltage includes a two-step arc voltage, first arcing at 12 V then stepping to 24 V. The two sides of the switch contact disconnect independently, due to the orthogonal orientation of the actuator relative to the current direction, and each disconnection results in a momentary 12 V arc. The time between the first and second arc was approximately 10 µs for [73]'s experiment.

Description	Description	Duration
Reaction $(T_m)$	Mechanical time delay in switch	180 µs
Commutation $(T_{com})$	Arc and current commutation to IGBT	60 µs
IGBT Conduction ( <i>T<sub>cond</sub></i> )	Build up blocking potential in mechanical switch	70 µs
Falling current $(T_f)$	Turn off IGBT and interrupt fault current	2 µs

Table 11. Stages of fault current interruption for TD switch circuit



Figure 9-2. Theoretical switching behavior of TD current commutation.



Figure 9-3. Experimental results showing arc voltage and current during TD switch fault current commutation [6].

The most significant factor in the total switching time of the TD switch is the reaction time, which is a physical limitation independent of voltage and current rating. However, the commutation time is a product of the commutation loop inductance and the maximum fault current. In this case, the fault current is lower than the 4 kA rating used by [73], and the commutation loop inductance is primarily composed of the connection inductances between components in the IGBT loop. Polman *et al.* [74] proposed some innovative methods to reduce connection inductances between semiconductor switches, which could allow for further reduction of the total switching time.

The timing and experimental results above were used to develop a Simulink model for the TD mechanical switch, as shown in Figure 9-4. The switch is normally on with series inductance and resistance representing the conducting impedance, until a fault is detected and a signal to open is received. After a mechanical delay of 180  $\mu$ s, the two-step arc voltage is added in series with the switch impedance. Finally, after the mechanical switch has built up enough insulation potential, the mechanical switch model behaves as an open circuit. The simulation results using an initial commutation loop inductance of 800 nH are shown in Figure 9-5 and Figure 9-6. The results match the experimental results demonstrated in Figure 9-3.

The mechanical switch delay time is a main contribution to the overall opening time, and it is critical for the proposed converter. Even though it has been demonstrated in the prototype in [73], based on the feedback from ABB, 180  $\mu$ s would be too fast for a reasonable assumption of the state-of-the-art ultra-fast mechanical switch; and it is suggested that 2 ms might be a reasonable assumption for a minimum mechanical switch delay time. Considering other time periods in Table 11 is much smaller, the mechanical switch opening time is assumed to be 2 ms.



Figure 9-4. Simulink model developed for TD mechanical switch.



Figure 9-5. TD switch Simulink model current simulation results.



Figure 9-6. TD switch Simulink model voltage simulation results.

## 9.3 Interrupting Circuit Operation

Figure 9-7 shows the proposed hybrid submodule. Under normal condition, the mechanical switch is always "ON" or closed. The hybrid submodule thus operates the same as two series half-bridge submodule as shown in Figure 9-8.

Under fault conditions, the submodule capacitor voltages are inserted in the current path to limit the fault current by turning off all the IGBTs and the mechanical switch. Figure 9-9 (a) and (b) show the current path for two different cases, depending on current direction through the submodule. For case 1, one submodule capacitor voltage is inserted; for case 2, two submodule capacitor voltages are inserted. It can be seen clearly that the voltage stress of mechanical switch and interrupting IGBT is clamped to the capacitor voltage or diode on-state voltage, ensuring minimized overvoltage for them.



Figure 9-7. Proposed submodule circuit.



Figure 9-8. Proposed submodule during normal operation.



Figure 9-9. Proposed submodule current path during fault: (a) Case 1, (b) Case 2.



Figure 9-10. Proposed submodule during normal operation.

Figure 9-10 shows the protection sequence after the fault occurs at  $t_0$ . Once the fault is detected at  $t_1$ , a "turn off" signal will be sent to the mechanical switch and a "turn on" signal for the interrupting IGBT. After a mechanical switch delay, the mechanical switch starts to separate its contacts and the current flowing through the mechanical switch start to commutate to the interrupting IGBT at  $t_2$ . At  $t_4$ , the current commutation is completed, where  $t_3$  represents the two-step arcing of the mechanical switch. After the current commutation, the mechanical switch continues to separate its contacts in order to gain enough insulation strength. At  $t_5$ , the insulation strength of the mechanical switch is achieved and the interrupting IGBT is turned off. The current then commutate to the submodule capacitor branch, and the fault current starts to decrease. At  $t_6$ , the fault current is decreased to zero.

#### 9.4 Worst-Case Fault Current

For the design of the proposed converter, the current stresses on the interrupting IGBT and mechanical switch are required. In order to determine the current stresses, the worst case causing maximum fault current should first be identified. There are mainly two types of dc short circuit faults: pole-to-pole fault and pole-to-ground fault. Since the pole-to-pole fault is more severe than the pole-to-ground fault, only the dc pole-to-pole fault is investigated.

Fault analysis is conducted to identify the worst case condition when the maximum fault arm current occurs. Rectifier operation is considered as the fault current should be larger than that of inverter operation. The initial direction of the arm currents also influences the fault analysis. Normally, higher initial current would lead to higher fault current eventually; the maximum arm current (e.g. upper arm current) occurs when the lower arm current has an opposite direction. Thus only the case with arm currents for the upper and lower arms having opposite directions is considered. Figure 9-11 shows the equivalent circuits for each stage after the fault occurs and the converter is divided into dc and ac circuits. Figure 9-12 shows the theoretical fault current waveforms.

## *Stage 1:* (*t*<sub>0</sub>, *t*<sub>1</sub>)

This stage starts at the time  $t_0$  when the fault occurs and ends at the time  $t_1$  when the bridge IGBTs are turned off. The duration of this stage is mainly determined by the fault detection time, pulse delay time and IGBT turn off time, usually in the range of several tens of microseconds.

The arm voltages can be assumed unchanged for such a short time. Thus, the phase-leg voltage ( $\approx v_{dc}$ ) all applies on the arm inductors, and the circulating current  $i_{cir}$  including the dc component increases rapidly. The ac terminal voltages can be obtained as



Figure 9-11. Equivalent circuit after fault occurs.



Figure 9-12. Theoretical fault current waveforms.

$$v_{ac} = \frac{v_{dc}}{2} - v_{up} = -\frac{v_{dc}}{2} + v_{low}.$$
(9-1)

Since the time duration is short, compared to the fundamental period, the ac terminal voltages and ac currents can be regarded as constant during this stage. The arm currents can thus be approximated as

$$i_{up}(t) = i_{up}(t_0) + \frac{v_{dc}}{2L_{arm}}(t - t_0)$$
(9-2)

$$i_{low}(t) = i_{low}(t_0) + \frac{v_{dc}}{2L_{arm}}(t - t_0).$$
(9-3)

During this stage, the arm current rise is because the discharge of inserted submodule capacitors. Stage 2:  $(t_1, t_2)$ 

At  $t_1$ , IGBTs are blocked and fault currents flow through diodes. If both arm currents are positive, this phase is equivalently shorted and the circulating current is freewheeling. If one arm current is negative, the capacitor voltages are inserted in the circuit which decreases the current to zero, and the total capacitor voltages approximately equal to  $v_{dc}$ .  $i_{cir}$  keeps increasing until the arm current decreases to zero. Also, there is an equivalent voltage inserted into the ac circuit as shown in Figure 9-11.

As rectifier operation, it can be assumed that only one arm current is negative (lower arm of a phase is considered). For this arm, the capacitor voltages are inserted in the circuit which decreases the current to zero, and the total capacitor voltages approximately equal to  $v_{dc}$ .

Both the dc and ac currents change in this stage. For dc side, the current rising rate is the same as that in stage 1. For ac side, the current cannot be considered unchanged. It should be

noted that only one phase is considered to have the additional inserted voltage, which because usually there is only one phase has negative arm current as rectifier operation. The ac side current rising rate of this phase should be much smaller compared to the dc side current rising rate. So the arm currents can still be approximated by (9-2) and (9-3). The minor difference between the current rising rates for stages 1 and 2 in Figure 9-12 is to reflect the difference between these two stages.

During stage 2, the lower arm current is decreasing and the upper arm current is increasing. At  $t_2$  the lower arm current is decreased to zero. So the arm currents at  $t_2$  can be expressed as

$$i_{up}(t_2) = i_{up}(t_0) - i_{low}(t_0) = i_{ac}(t_0)$$
(9-4)

$$i_{low}(t_2) = 0.$$
 (9-5)

*Stage 3: (t*<sub>2</sub>, –)

At  $t_2$ , the lower arm current decreases to zero. Since then, only diodes in the upper arm are conducting. Its current should be equal to the ac side current. The fault current in this stage is limited by both the ac inductors and arm inductors. The fault current will keep increasing until the interrupting circuit acts and the submodule capacitors voltages are effectively inserted in the circuit. Thus the maximum fault current is directly related to the fault interrupting time. The upper arm current during this stage can be derived as:

$$i_{up}(t) = i_{ac}(t_0) + \frac{v_{ac}}{L_{arm} + L_{ac}}(t - t_2)$$
(9-6)

where  $v_{ac}$  represents the ac voltage (one of  $v_A$ ,  $v_B$  and  $v_C$ ). For a short time, it can be considered as a constant value. Supposing that the interrupting circuit acts at  $t_3$ , the maximum fault current is

$$i_{fault\_max} = i_{ac}(t_0) + \frac{\bar{v}_{ac}}{L_{arm} + L_{ac}} (T_{inte} - \Delta T_2).$$
(9-7)

where  $T_{inte}$  is the total converter interrupting time, defined as  $t_3 - t_0$ ,  $\Delta T_2$  is the total time of stage 1 and 2, defined as  $t_2 - t_0$  and  $\bar{v}_{ac}$  is the average ac voltage during stage 3.  $T_{inte}$  is determined by the mechanical switch, which should be considered fixed, while  $\Delta T_2$  is determined by the initial arm current, which can be expressed as

$$\Delta T_2 = -i_{low}(t_0) \frac{2L_{arm}}{v_{dc}}.$$
(9-8)

Inserting (9-8) into (9-7) gives

$$i_{fault\_max} = i_{up}(t_0) - \left(1 - \frac{L_{arm}}{L_{arm} + L_{ac}} \frac{2\bar{v}_{ac}}{v_{dc}}\right) i_{low}(t_0) + \frac{\bar{v}_{ac}}{L_{arm} + L_{ac}} T_{inte}.$$
 (9-9)

Usually, the modulation index is less than 1, which leads to

$$1 - \frac{L_{arm}}{L_{arm} + L_{ac}} \frac{2\bar{v}_{ac}}{v_{dc}} > 0.$$
(9-10)

Equation (9-9) shows that the maximum fault current is related to the initial arm currents and the ac voltage charging. The worst case occurs at 1) the peak ac current, i.e. largest  $i_{up}(t_0)$ and smallest  $i_{low}(t_0)$ ; and 2) the maximum ac voltage, i.e. largest  $\bar{v}_{ac}$ . Since  $\bar{v}_{ac}$  is the average voltage, the maximum  $\bar{v}_{ac}$  is related to the time period of stage 3  $(t_2, t_3)$ . This time period is mainly determined by the mechanical switch delay time. For a short delay time case, the maximum  $\bar{v}_{ac}$  simple occurs at the peak of AC side voltage; for a longer delay time (several milliseconds) case, the maximum  $\bar{v}_{ac}$  occurs when the peak of ac voltage is at the middle of this period.
Description	INELFE Project	Simulation Platform
Transmission Power (MW)	1000	10
DC Voltage (kV)	640	6.4
AC Voltage (kV)	333	3.33
Submodule Number per Arm	400	4
Submodule Capacitance (mF)	10	10
Arm Inductance (mH)	50	0.5
Equivalent Grid Transformer Inductance (mH)	60	0.6

Table 12. System parameters of the simulation platform and INELFE project

# 9.5 Simulation Verification

A simulation platform is built in MATLAB to verify the above analysis. It is a reduced system of Siemens INELFE project [75], with the scaling factor of 1/100. Table 12 shows the system parameters of the simulation platform and INELFE project. The impedances of the arm inductor and transformer leakage inductor are kept the same in per unit.

Figure 9-13 shows the current waveforms of the proposed converter during a dc pole-to-pole fault for a short mechanical switch delay time (180  $\mu$ s). The  $t_0$ - $t_6$  are corresponding to the time instants in Figure 9-10. It shows that the proposed converter has the capability to block fault current. Zoomed in waveforms of mechanical switch current and IGBT current are shown in Figure 9-14. It matches the description in subsection 9.3. Figure 9-15 shows the simulation result for a longer mechanical switch delay time (5 ms). Apparently, the fault current is larger than the case with shorter delay time.



Figure 9-13. Current waveforms of the proposed converter during a dc pole-to-pole fault.



Figure 9-14. Zoomed in Current waveforms of Figure 9-13.



Figure 9-15. Current waveforms of the proposed converter during a dc pole-to-pole fault for a longer mechanical switch delay time.

### 9.6 Topology Comparison with Clamp-Double Submodule

As it is mentioned previously, the proposed hybrid submodule is based on the clamp-double submodule. Figure 9-16 shows the circuit diagram of the clamp-double submodule. The difference between the clamp-double submodule and the proposed hybrid submodule is the mechanical switch. The MMC with clamp-double submodule also enables the fault current blocking capability, and even with a potential shorter fault current interrupting time. On the other hand, the proposed hybrid submodule has the advantage of lower conduction loss because of the mechanical switch. Thus it is meaningful to compare these two submodule topologies.

### 9.6.1 Fault Clearance Performance Comparison

For clamp-double submodule, the fault interrupting time is shorter than the proposed converter as it does not have the mechanical switch. Figure 9-17 shows the simulation results of a dc pole-to-pole fault for MMC with clamp-double submodule. It is shown that the ac current decreases immediately after the interrupting IGBT is turned off. Figure 9-18 shows the ac current waveforms for both topologies.



Figure 9-16. Circuit diagram of the clamp-double submodule.



Figure 9-17. Fault interruption waveform for MMC with clamp-double submodule.

Since the clamp-double topology can interrupt the fault faster than the proposed converter, the maximum fault current should also be smaller than the proposed converter. As shown in Figure 9-19, the maximum fault current for clamp-double submodule topology is 2.3 kA; it is much lower compared to the 5.8 kA in the proposed converter. However, this does not necessarily indicate that the proposed converter requires much larger interrupting IGBT. As the interrupting IGBT in the proposed converter is designed based on the saturation current limit, a 1.5 kA IGBT module can be used in the proposed converter. For the clamp-double topology, the arm current continuously flows through the interrupting IGBT. So the interrupting IGBT is designed based on the SOA.

#### 9.6.2 Loss Comparison

The converter loss mainly includes power semiconductor loss, inductor loss and mechanical switch loss. The mechanical switch loss is relatively small, which is neglected in this analysis. The half-bridge IGBT module should be first selected based on the normal operating condition. For the proposed converter, according to the simulation result, the RMS value of the arm current is 1 kA. The Infineon FZ1500R33HL3 IGBT module is selected considering a 50% current



Figure 9-18. AC current waveforms comparison during pole-to-pole fault.



Figure 9-19. Interrupting IGBT current waveforms comparison during pole-to-pole fault.

margin. The interrupting IGBT is also chosen as the Infineon FZ1500R33HL3 IGBT module. The maximum fault current capability of this IGBT is 5.8 kA. It should be noted that the fault current capability for the interrupting IGBT is limited by the device saturation current rather than the safe operation area (SOA) as is typical in voltage source converter applications [12]. The arm inductor is then designed to limit the fault current within 5.8 kA. Figure 9-19 is the waveform of the worst case. The maximum fault current is 5.78 kA, which is in the safe range. The clamp-double topology is similar to the proposed converter under normal operating condition. So the half-bridge IGBT module, interrupting IGBT and arm inductor are chosen the same.

The power loss is first calculated in the reduced system, and then scaled to the high voltage system. Table 13 and Figure 9-20 show the comparison of the overall power loss of the proposed converter and clamp-double topology. The proposed converter has an efficiency of 99.4% compared to the 99.18% for the clamp-double topology. It should be noted that the transformer loss is not considered. It can be found that the clamp-double topology has a 37% higher power loss due to the interrupting IGBT compared to the proposed converter. Other operating conditions are also evaluated, and similar results are obtained.

Table	13.	Converter	Loss	Com	parison
		0011.01001	-000		p •••• •• • • • •

Switch Frequency = 150 Hz	Conduction Loss (kW)	Switching Loss (kW)	Inductors Loss (kW)	Total Loss (kW)	Efficiency
Proposed Converter	4184.6	1615.0	263.8	6063.4	99.40%
Clamp-Double Topology	6632.8	1438.0	228.6	8299.4	99.18%



Figure 9-20. Power Loss Comparison.

## 9.6.3 Cost Comparison

A cost comparison of the converter main components is conducted and the results are listed in Table 14. Compared to the clamp-double topology, the proposed converter has the same power semiconductors and arm inductor. The submodule capacitor voltage ratings are a little different, while if considering some margin in the design the submodule capacitor could also be the same for these two converters.

The benefit of the proposed converter is the reduced power loss and as a result the reduced requirement on cooling system. The additional costs of the proposed converter include the dc inductor and mechanical switch. A detailed cost comparison is difficult without specific cost for all components, which is usually confidential from the manufacture. However, we can conclude that if the mechanical switching cost in the proposed converter plus the extra inductor cost, is lower than the cost saving from the reduced loss and cooling, the proposed converter will have a lower cost compared to the clamp-double topology. Otherwise, the proposed converter will have a higher cost.

Component	Proposed Topology	Clamp- Double	Component	Proposed Topology	Clamp-Double
Bridge IGBT	3300V,1500A	3300V,1500A	Arm Inductor	0.15 p.u.	0.15 p.u.
Clamp Diode	Same	Same	DC Inductor	0.24 p.u.	No
Interrupting IGBT	3300V,1500A	3300V,1500A	Submodule Capacitor	10mF, 2100V	10mF, 1800V
Mech- switch	One per SM	No	Cooling System	1 p.u.	1.37 p.u.

Table 14. Converter Main Component Comparison

### 9.7 Conclusions

The dc fault current blocking capability of the proposed converter with hybrid submodule was verified through theoretical analysis and simulation. The mechanical switch delay time was found to be critical for the fault clearance performance and converter current and voltage stresses. In order to find the maximum fault current, detailed fault analysis was conducted to determine the worst case fault condition. It was found the maximum fault current occurs at the time of peak ac voltage and highest arm current. Loss calculation verified that the proposed converter can reduce the power loss by 1/3 compared to the similar clamp-double topology. Further cost comparison with the clamp-double topology shows that the cost saving from higher efficiency should account for the mechanical switch and extra inductor cost in order to make the proposed converter lower cost than the clamp-double topology.

# **10** Conclusion and Future Work

This chapter summarizes the work has been done and proposes the work which will be done to complete the dissertation.

### **10.1 Conclusion**

The MMC based MTDC system has been evaluated in this thesis. Some key issues involving MMC design, MTDC control and protection have been explored. The conclusions can be drawn as follows.

- Switching frequency circulating current is the limit for arm inductance design of MMC, when the circulating current suppression control is implemented. The analytical relationship between the switching frequency circulating current and arm inductance is derived. The experimental results of a down-scaled prototype verify both the existence of the switching frequency circulating current and the analytical relationship.
- The unbalanced capacitor voltage, which is related to the voltage-balancing control or switching frequency, contributes a large portion to the total submodule capacitor voltage ripple in MMC. The relationship between the unbalanced capacitor voltage and converter switching frequency, for a selected voltage-balancing control method – modified sorting method, is established. This derived analytical expression can assist for the submodule capacitance design.
- Circulating current suppression control in MMC reduces the converter maximum modulation index. The reduction of the maximum modulation index is related to the submodule capacitance. If the capacitance is designed based on a 10% voltage ripple

requirement, the maximum modulation index could be reduced by 5%, or 8% for the case with third harmonic component injection. This reduction is not negligible and should be considered for the nominal modulation index selection in the converter design.

- A 4-terminal down-scaled HVDC testbed is developed, and is capable to emulate several most typical operation scenarios, including system startup, power variation and station outage. Two unique scenarios, station online re-commission and mode transition, are also demonstrated, with proposed methods.
- A dc line current control is proposed and verified in the 4-terminal HVDC testbed. This control mainly has two key benefits. First, it facilitates the use of a "low-cost" HVDC disconnect to online trip a dc transmission line, instead of the "high-cost" HVDC circuit breaker. Second, an automatic dc line current limiting function is further developed based on this control, which will automatically switch to current control once the transmission line is overloaded.
- A dc fault protection strategy for MTDC system with hybrid dc circuit breaker is developed. A two-step dc fault detection method is proposed, which provides a framework to combine any fast detection method and selective method, while keeping the advantages of both methods. The HVDC converters may still need to be temporarily blocked, even with the hybrid circuit breaker and fast detection method. For the fast system recovery after clearing the fault, voltage margin control is proposed to simplify the converter restart sequence.
- A novel MMC topology with dc fault current blocking capability is proposed. The proposed hybrid submodule parallels a mechanical switch to the interrupting IGBT in the clamp-double topology. By using the mechanical switch, the power loss of the

proposed converter can be close to the half-bridge MMC. A cost comparison with the clamp-double topology shows that the mechanical switch needs to account for less than 14.9% of the total converter (half-bridge MMC) cost in order to make the proposed converter lower cost than the clamp-double topology.

### **10.2 Recommended Future Work**

To further extend the work in this dissertation, the following future works are recommends:

(1) Submodule capacitance reduction method

Even though in this dissertation, the submodule capacitance design method considering the unbalanced voltage is proposed, which helps to optimize the capacitance selection with minimum overdesign margin. However, the submodule capacitor is still a large contribution to the overall MMC cost and size. It is also the main obstacle for MMC to be used in some medium voltage applications. Therefore, if the submodule capacitance requirement can be reduced, the MMC will become much more promising not limited to HVDC but also some medium voltage applications.

To reduce the submodule capacitance requirement, there could be two methods – reshape the current through the capacitor or change the submodule topology. Some methods by injecting circulating current has been discussed, but the capacitance reduction is limited and it causes higher power loss. For the new submodule topology, there can be many possibilities.

#### (2) MMC loss optimization and thermal design

This dissertation covers the design of the main passive components; however, thermal management is also a key issue in MMC. A known issue associated with the half-bridge MMC is the power loss imbalance between the two power devices in one

module. For industry application, the half-bridge power module is typically used which causes one device to always operate at a lower temperature than the other one. This means the heatsinks for the power devices are actually overdesigned. Furthermore, for the full-bridge MMC, the higher power loss is one of the main disadvantages.

To alleviate the power loss imbalance of the two power devices in the half-bridge submodule, a potential solution is to inject certain circulating current to reshape the current distribution on the two devices. This method may slightly increase the converter total power loss, but it has the possibility to balance the power loss on devices and reduce the heatsink. For the full-bridge MMC, it is possible to utilize the additional switching states of full-bridge submodule to better balance the power losses.

(3) DC power flow controller

Through the process of developing the MTDC testbed, it is found that a lack of the existing control system is the power flow control. Even though the proposed line current control in this dissertation can conditionally solve this problem, but dc power flow controller is still needed to fully control the power flow in different lines. Especially when the more complicated dc grid is developed or combining several point-to-point HVDC systems or small dc grids to form to large dc grid, the power flow controller will become important.

(4) DC fault protection with full-bridge MMC

For the dc fault protection, the hybrid dc circuit breaker solution is considered in this dissertation. But fault tolerant converter, especially full-bridge MMC is another promising solution and is seriously considered in industry. But it still lacks a detailed study on the overall protection strategy, including the detection, and system recovery. It also may be interest to evaluate the system with both full-bridge MMC and hybrid dc circuit breaker.

# References

- [1] N. Chaudhuri, B. Chaudhuri, R. Majumder and A. Yazdani, *Multi-terminal Direct-Current Grids: Modeling, Analysis, and Control*, Wiley-IEEE Press, 2014.
- [2] ABB. (2013). It's time to connect with offshore wind supplement [Online]. Available: http://www.abb.com/hvdc
- [3] J. Candelaria, and J.-D. Park, "VSC-HVDC system protection: a review of current methods," in *Proc. IEEE Power Systems Conference and Exhibition*, 2011.
- [4] N. Flourentzou, V. Agelidis, and G. Demetriades, "VSC-based HVDC power transmission systems: an overview," *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 24, no. 3, pp. 592-602, March 2009.
- [5] A. Abbas, and P. Lehn, "PWM based VSC-HVDC systems a review," in Proc. IEEE Power & Energy Society General Meeting, 2009.
- [6] M. Glinka, and R. Marquardt, "A new ac/ac multilevel converter family," *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, vol. 52, no. 3, pp. 662-669, June 2005.
- [7] R. Marquart, "Modular multilevel converter: an universal concept for HVDC-networks and extended dc-bus-applications," in *Proc. IEEE International Power Electronics Conference*, 2010.
- [8] R. Marquart, "Modular multilevel converter topologies with dc-short circuit current limitation," in Proc. IEEE 8<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Power Electronics – ECCE Asia, 2011.
- [9] S. Gordon, "Supergrid to the rescue," in *Power Engineer*, vol. 20, no. 5, pp. 30–33, 2006.
- [10] A. Blakers, J. Luther and A. Nadolny, "Asia Pacific super grid Solar electricity generation, storage and distribution," *De Gruyter*, vol. 2, no. 4, pp. 189–202, 2012.

- [11] Twenties project report. (2013). Comparison of different network solutions in the North Sea offshore system [Online]. Available: http://twenties-project.eu
- [12] J. Hafner and B. Jacobson, "Proactive hybrid HVDC breakers A key innovation for reliable HVDC grids," in *Proc. CIGRE, Bologna*, *Italy*, 2011, paper 264.
- [13] Twenties project report. (2014). Test results of DC breaker demonstrator addendum to deliverable [Online]. Available: <u>http://twenties-project.eu</u>
- [14] S. Rohner, S. Bernet, M. Hiller, and R. Sommer, "Modulation, losses, and semiconductor requirements of modular multilevel converters," *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, vol. 57, pp. 2633-2642, 2010.
- [15] S. Rohner, S. Bernet, M. Hiller, and R. Sommer, "Analysis and simulation of a 6 kV, 6 MVA modular multilevel converter," in *Proc. IEEE Annual Conference Industrial Electronics*, 2009, pp. 225-230.
- [16] Q. Tu, Z. Xu, H. Huang, and J. Zhang, "Parameter design principle of the arm inductor in modular multilevel converter based HVDC," in *Proc. International Conference on Power System Technology (POWERCON)*, 2010, pp. 1-6.
- [17] K. Ilves, A. Antonopoulos, S. Norrga, and H. P. Nee, "Steady-state analysis of interaction between harmonic components of arm and line quantities of modular multilevel converters," *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 27, pp. 57-68, 2012.
- [18] G. Zhang, Y. Chen, C. Yue, L. Qi, and J. Pan, "DC pole-to-pole short-circuit behavior analysis of modular multilevel converter," in *Proc. IEEE Energy Conversion Congress and Exposition (ECCE)*, 2014, pp. 5698-5702.
- [19] Y. Gao, M. Bazargan, L. Xu, and W. Liang, "DC fault analysis of MMC based HVDC system for large offshore wind farm integration," in *IET Renewable Power Generation Conference*, 2013, pp. 1-4.
- [20] A. Antonopoulos, L. Angquist, and H. P. Nee, "On dynamics and voltage control of the Modular Multilevel Converter," in *Proc. 13th European Conference on Power Electronics* and Applications, 2009, pp. 1-10.

- [21] Q. Tu, Z. Xu, and L. Xu, "Reduced switching-frequency modulation and circulating current suppression for modular multilevel converters," *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery*, vol. 26, pp. 2009-2017, 2011.
- [22] M. Hagiwara, R. Maeda, and H. Akagi, "Negative-sequence reactive-power control by a PWM STATCOM based on a modular multilevel cascade converter (MMCC-SDBC)," *IEEE Transactions on Industry Applications*, vol. 48, pp. 720-729, 2012.
- [23] S. Debnath, J. Qin, B. Bahrani, M. Saeedifard and P. Barbosa, "Operation, control, and applications of the modular multilevel converter: a review," *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 37-53, Jan. 2015.
- [24] Y. Li, E. A. Jones, and F. Wang, "Switching-frequency ripple on dc link voltage in a modular multilevel converter with circulating current suppressing control," in *Proc. IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (APEC)*, 2014, pp. 191-195.
- [25] Y. Tang, L. Ran, O. Alatise, and P. Mawby, "Capacitor selection for modular multilevel converter," in *Proc. IEEE Energy Conversion Congress and Exposition (ECCE)*, 2014, pp. 2080-2087.
- [26] L. M. Cunico, G. Lambert, R. P. Dacol, S. V. G. Oliveira, and Y. R. D. Novaes, "Parameters design for modular multilevel converter (MMC)," in *Proc. IEEE Power Electronics Conference (COBEP)*, 2013, pp. 264-270.
- [27] S. P. Engel and R. W. D. Doncker, "Control of the modular multi-level converter for minimized cell capacitance," in *Proc. 14th European Conference on Power Electronics and Applications (EPE 2011)*, 2011, pp. 1-10.
- [28] K. Ilves, S. Norrga, L. Harnefors, and H. P. Nee, "On energy storage requirements in modular multilevel converters," *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 29, no. 1, pp. 77-88, 2014.
- [29] M. M. C. Merlin and T. C. Green, "Cell capacitor sizing in multilevel converters: cases of the modular multilevel converter and alternate arm converter," *IET Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 350-360, 2015.
- [30] Y. Li, E. A. Jones, and F. Wang, "The impact of voltage-balancing control on switching

frequency of the modular multilevel converter," *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 31, no. 4, pp. 2829-2839, 2016.

- [31] A. Hassanpoor, S. Norrga, H. Nee, and L. Angquist, "Evaluation of different carrier-based PWM methods for modular multilevel converters for HVDC application," in *Proc. 38th Annual Conference on IEEE Industrial Electronics Society*, 2012, pp. 388-393.
- [32] M. Hagiwara, and H. Akagi, "Control and experiment of pulsewidth-modulated modular multilevel converters," *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 24, no. 7, pp. 1737-1746, Jul. 2009.
- [33] M. Hagiwara, R. Maeda, and H. Akagi, "Control and analysis of the modular multilevel cascade converter based on double-star chopper-cells (MMCC-DSCC)," *IEEE Transactions* on Power Electronics, vol. 26, no. 6, pp. 1649-1658, June 2011.
- [34] M. Dommaschk, "Drive for a phase module branch of a multilevel converter," Int. Patent WO2008/086760A1, Jul. 2008.
- [35] B. Jacobson, P. Karlsson, G. Asplund, L. Harnefors, and T. Jonsson, "VSC-HVDC transmission with cascaded two-level converters," in *Proc. CIGRE, Paris, France*, 2010, paper B4-110.
- [36] V. Collet-Billon, J.P. Taisne, and P. Charles, "The SACOI (Sardinai-Corsica-Italy) multiterminal link: commissioning tests of the Corsican station Lucciana", in *Proc. CIGRE*, *Paris, France*, 1988, paper 14-12.
- [37] D. McCallum, G. Moreau, J. Primeau, D. Soulier, M. Bahrman, and B. Ekehov, "Multiterminal integration of the Nicolet converter station into the Québec-New England Phase II HVDC transmission system", in *Proc. CIGRE, Paris, France*, 1994, paper 14-103.
- [38] H. Rao, "Architecture of Nan'ao multi-terminal VSC-HVDC system and its multi-functional control," *CSEE Journal of Power and Energy Systems*, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 9-18, Mar. 2015.

- [39] G. Tang, Z. He, H. Pang, X. Huang, and X. Zhang, "Basic topology and key devices of the five-terminal dc grid," *CSEE Journal of Power and Energy Systems*, vol. 1, no. 2, pp. 22-35, June 2015.
- [40] A. Egea-Alvarez, F. Bianchi, A. Ferre, G. Gross, and O. Bellmunt, "Voltage control of multiterminal VSC-HVDC transmission systems for offshore wind power plants: design and implementation in a scaled platform," *IEEE Transaction on Industry Electronics*, vol. 60, no. 6, pp. 2381-2391, June 2013.
- [41] Twenties project report. (2013). *Testing results from DC network mock-up and DC breaker prototype* [Online]. Available: http://twenties-project.eu
- [42] H. Stoylen, K. Uhlen, A. Ardal, and K. Sharifabadi, "Laboratory demonstration of an offshore grid in the North Sea with dc droop control," *in Proc. 9th International Conf. on Ecological Vehicles and Renewable Energies*, 2014.
- [43] S. Wang, C. D. Barker, R. S. Whitehouse, and J. Liang, "Experimental validation of autonomous converter control in a HVDC grid," *in Proc. European Conference on Power Electronics and Applications*, 2014.
- [44] L. Tang and B. Ooi, "Locating and isolating dc faults in multi-terminal dc systems," *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery*, vol. 22, no. 3, pp. 1877-1884, 2007.
- [45] L. Tang, "Control and protection of multi-terminal dc transmission systems based on voltage-source converters," Ph.D. thesis, McGill University, Canada, 2003.
- [46] C. Franck, "HVDC circuit breakers: A review identifying future research needs," *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery*, vol. 26, no. 2, pp. 998-1007, 2011.
- [47] M. Bucher and C. Franck, "Fault current interruption in multiterminal HVDC networks," *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery*, vol. 31, no. 1, pp. 87-95, 2016.

- [48] B. Chang, O. Cwikowski, M. Barnes, and R. Shuttleworth, "Multi-terminal VSC-HVDC pole-to-pole fault analysis and fault recovery study," in *Proc. 11<sup>th</sup> IET International Conference on AC and DC Power Transmission*, 2015
- [49] L. Tang and B. Ooi, "Protection of VSC-multi-terminal HVDC against dc faults," in Proc. IEEE 33<sup>rd</sup> Annual Power Electronics Specialists Conference., 2002.
- [50] L. Harnefors, A. Antonopoulos, S. Norrga, L. Angquist, and H.-P. Nee, "Dynamic analysis of modular multilevel converters," *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, vol. 60, no. 7, pp. 2526-2537, July 2013.
- [51] N. Cherix, M. Vasiladiotis and A. Rufer, "Functional modeling and energetic macroscopic representation of modular multilevel converters," in *Proc. 15th International Power Electronics and Motion Control Conference (EPE/PEMC)*, 2012.
- [52] http://www.capewind.org
- [53] H. Saadat, "Line model and performance," in *Power System Analysis*, 3rd ed. New York: McGraw-Hill, 2010.
- [54] T. Nakajima and S. Irokawa, "A control system for HVDC transmission by voltage source converters," *in Proc. IEEE Power Engineering Society Summer Meeting*, 1999.
- [55] L. Xu and L. Yao, "DC voltage control and power dispatch of a multi-terminal HVDC system for integrating large offshore wind farms," *IET Renewable Power Generation*, vol. 5, no. 4, pp. 223-233, 2011.
- [56] X. Li, Z. Yuan, J. Fu, Y. Wang, T. Liu, and Z. Zhu, "Nanao multi-terminal VSC-HVDC project for integrating large-scale wind generation," *in Proc. IEEE PES General Meeting*, 2014.
- [57] http://www.pinggao.com

- [58] G. O. Kalcon, G. P. Adam, O. Lara, S. Lo, and K. Uhlen, "Small-signal stability analysis of multi-terminal VSC-based dc transmission systems," *IEEE Trans. Power Systems*, vol. 27, no. 4, pp. 1818-1830, Nov. 2012.
- [59] J. M. Meyer and A. Rufer, "A DC hybrid circuit breaker with ultra-fast contact opening and integrated gate-commutated thyristors (IGCTs)," *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery*, vol. 21, no. 2, pp. 646-651, 2006.
- [60] G. Buigues, V. Valverde, I. Zamora, D.M. Larruskain, O. Abarrategui, and A. Iturregi, "DC fault detection in VSC-based HVDC grids used for the integration of renewable energies," in *Proc. International Conference on Clean Electrical Power (ICCEP)*, 2015.
- [61] J. Descloux, B. Raison, and J. B. Curis, "Protection algorithm based on differential voltage measurement for MTDC grids," in *Proc. IET International Conference on Developments in Power System Protection (DPSP)*, 2014, pp. 1-5.
- [62] J. Sneath and A. D. Rajapakse, "Fault detection and interruption in an earthed HVDC grid using ROCOV and hybrid dc breakers," *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery*, vol. PP, pp. 1-1, 2014.
- [63] J. Descloux, P. Rault, S. Nguefeu, J.-B. Curis, X. Guillaud, F. Colas, and B. Raison, "HVDC meshed grid: Control and protection of a multi-terminal HVDC system," in *Proc. CIGRE, Paris, France*, 2012, paper B4-308.
- [64] M. Bucher, "Transient fault currents in HVDC VSC networks during pole-to-ground faults," Ph.D. thesis, ETH, Switzerland, 2014.
- [65] E. Kontos, R.T. Pinto, and P. Bauer, "Providing dc fault ride-through capability to H-bridge MMC-based HVDC networks," in *Proc. IEEE International Conference on Power Electronics and ECCE Asia*, 2015.

- [66] R. Marquardt, "Modular multilevel converter topologies with dc-short circuit current limitation," in Proc. IEEE International Conference on Power Electronics and ECCE Asia, 2011, pp. 1425-1431.
- [67] E. C. Mathew, A. Shukla, and M. Ghat, "A cross connected submodule topology for hybrid multilevel converters," in *Proc. IEEE Energy Conversion Congress and Exposition (ECCE)*, 2014, pp. 5415-5421.
- [68] J. Qin, M. Saeedifard, A. Rockhill, and R. Zhou, "Hybrid design of modular multilevel converters for HVDC systems based on various submodule circuits," *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery*, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 385-394, 2015.
- [69] K. H. Ahmed and A. A. Aboushady, "Modified half-bridge modular multilevel converter for HVDC systems with DC fault ride-through capability," in *Proc. IEEE Industrial Electronics Society Annual Conference, IECON*, 2014, pp. 4676-4682.
- [70] I. Shigenori and K. Shuji, "Power conversion device," U.S. Patent US20130148392A1, Jun. 2013.
- [71] M. M. C. Merlin, T. C. Green, P. D. Mitcheson, D. R. Trainer, R. Critchley, W. Crookes, *et al.*, "The alternate arm converter: A new hybrid multilevel converter with dc-fault blocking capability," *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery*, vol. 29, no. 1, pp. 310-317, 2014.
- [72] G. P. Adam, K. H. Ahmed, S. J. Finney, K. Bell, and B. W. Williams, "New breed of network fault-tolerant voltage-source-converter HVDC transmission system," *IEEE Transactions on Power Systems*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 335-346, 2013.
- [73] J. Meyer and A. Rufer, "A dc hybrid circuit breaker with ultra-fast contact opening and integrated gate-commutated thyristors (IGCTs)," *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery*, vol. 21, no. 2, pp. 646-651, Apr. 2006.

- [74] H. Polman, J. Ferreira, M. Kaanders, B. Evenblij, and P. V. Gelder, "Design of a bidirectional 600 V/6 kA ZVS hybrid dc switch using IGBTs," in *Proc. IEEE Industry Applications Conference*, 2001, pp. 1052-1059 vol.2.
- [75] J. Peralta, H. Saad, S. Dennetiere, J. Mahseredjian and S. Nguefeu, "Detailed and Averaged Models for a 401-Level MMC–HVDC System," *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery*, vol. 27, no. 3, pp. 1501-1508, July 2012

# Vita

**Yalong Li** received the B.S. degree from Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Wuhan, China, in 2011. He received the M.Ss degree in 2013 and Ph.D. degree in 2016 at the Center for Ultra-wide-area Resilient Electric Energy Transmission Networks (CURENT), the University of Tennessee, Knoxville, TN, USA, both in electrical engineering.